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Foreword from the Acting Lay Chair 
and Accountable Officer 

 
Welcome to the NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
Annual Report 2018/19, which provides a comprehensive overview of our performance, 
progress, and challenges during the last twelve months. 

 

The year has been one of transformation and progress for our CCG with a strong focus 
on improvement, collaboration, and partnership working. 

 

We began the year in legal directions, with a challenging financial plan to achieve, and 
significant areas of patient care we needed to address. We also began the year as new 
leaders of the organisation, with a new leadership team, both managerially and 
clinically, and a clear focus on the improvements we could make to the way the CCG 
works and to the care we commission for our local population. 

 

During the year we focused on how we could address our challenges and get the 
best value from the funding we receive whilst not compromising quality and ensuring 
we made improvements in clinical areas that needed our attention. 

 

We have seen improvements in a number of areas: the number of people living with 
dementia who have received a formal diagnosis, the care for our most frail and 
vulnerable, and introducing social prescribing (Social prescribing is a way of linking 
patients in primary care with sources of support within the community. It provides 
GPs with a non-medical referral option that can operate alongside existing 
treatments to improve health and wellbeing) across the whole of Coastal West 
Sussex. We have also worked closely over the year with our partners across the 
health and care system to manage better the numbers of people who are attending 
A&E for treatment and to help patients who are in hospital to leave safely when it is 
appropriate for them to do so. This work was particularly important during the busy 
winter months, and although it was challenging as expected, we saw an 
improvement in how our patients were supported when they needed help most. 

 

In particular, we have focused heavily on supporting general practice across Coastal 
West Sussex to help primary care become more resilient and sustainable. The 
introduction of GP Improved Access in October showed the strengths of Innovation 
in Primary Care, the GP Federation in our area, and the solid foundation it gives to 
our practices as a central part of the local health and care system, as well as the 
improvements in terms of access it has given to patients with evening and weekend 
appointments. 

 

To make much of this happen, we have had to look at how we work as an 
organisation. During the year there has been a robust staff engagement programme, 
closer working with our partners, and a focus on our internal processes and 
governance to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of how we commission 
services for our population. 
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We undertook a full governance review to allow us to identify where we need to 
improve how we work. This identified areas of good practice and also a number of 
areas that we needed to focus upon. There has been good progress throughout the 
year and we have been able to address many long-standing issues to improve how 
we work. By the end of the year, our CCG was on track to implement all of the local 
actions identified in the review and is working closely with our partner CCGs in 
Sussex and East Surrey on areas that are being taken forward across all eight 
organisations. 

 

We have been able to further enhance partnership working across CCGs during the 
second half of the year after shared leadership was announced across the eight 
CCGs across Sussex and East Surrey. This enabled us to work more collaboratively 
with our commissioning partners at NHS Brighton and Hove CCG, NHS Crawley 
CCG, NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG, NHS East Surrey CCG, NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG, NHS High Weald Lewes and Havens CCG, and NHS 
Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG. This way of working is enabling more strategic 
oversight to be given to large and joint pieces of work and has helped us further 
establish more consistent approaches to commissioning. We will continue to focus 
on developing the way we work across the commissioning system in Sussex and 
East Surrey in the year ahead. 

 
The CCG started the year in a troubled position in terms of its finances, but over the 
course of the last twelve months there has been a considerable move in our financial 
position thanks to actions we took throughout the year both as an organisation and 
with our system partners. As a result, this year we have been able to deliver our 
agreed financial plan with our regulators, and with the contribution of Commissioner 
Sustainability Fund we have delivered a break even position. It has involved a lot of 
hard work to enable us to achieve this and we would like to recognise and thank our 
staff for their commitment in making it happen. 

 

The work we have done over the last twelve months has allowed us to go into the 
year ahead with a good foundation to build upon. As the NHS continues to change, 
we are in a strong position to continue the transformation process to make real 
improvements for our population. 

 
 

 

Gill Galliano Adam Doyle 
Acting Lay Chair Chief Executive Officer 
NHS Coastal West Sussex Sussex and East Surrey 
Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Groups 
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Who we are and what we do 

 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is responsible for planning and buying 
(“commissioning”) healthcare services for a population of more than 515,000 people. 

 
The CCG is a membership organisation made up of 47 GP practices, working across 
six geographical areas, or localities. 

 

We have a leadership team of local doctors, hospital consultants, and nurses who 
are working alongside an experienced Local Management Team to make sure that 
local services are providing the best possible care for local people. Each year we are 
allocated government money to spend on behalf of our population and our purpose 
is to improve the health of the people living in Coastal West Sussex. 

 

We have a statutory duty to reduce health inequalities across our local communities, 
and we work closely with our partners in order to achieve this. 

 

As well as planning and buying services we also monitor the quality of many local 
NHS services. This includes the care and treatment you may need in hospital and in 
the community such as prescribing, mental health services, and services for people 
living with learning disabilities. 

 

We are committed to ensuring that our public, patients, and carers are at the heart of 
what we do. We aim to be an organisation that takes account of their views and 
experiences and use what we have heard to inform our plans and influence our 
commissioning of local health services. 



Our partnership working 

Since November 2018 the CCG has been working much more closely with the other 
CCGs in the Sussex and East Surrey STP: NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG, NHS Hastings and Rother CCG, and the 
five CCGs of the Central Sussex and East Surrey Commissioning Alliance (NHS 
Brighton and Hove, NHS Crawley, NHS East Surrey, NHS High Weald Lewes 
Havens and NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex). This reflects the fact that all eight 
CCGs have had the same Accountable Officer since September 2018, and the same 
executive management team since November 2018. In addition our CCG works 
collaboratively with the wider health and care system, especially across both the 
Coastal West Sussex area. 

 
A single substantive Chief Executive was appointed in January 2019 and the CCGs 
are now collectively looking at how they can work much more closely together during 
2019/20 and reform the commissioning system to support the direction of travel set 
out in the NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019. By working at a larger 
scale, it is recognised that we will be able to streamline processes, avoid duplication 
and have consistency of quality in services across a larger area for our patients. 

 

The CCG’s main provider organisations are: 
 

 Integrated Care 24 

 Our member GP practices (Coastal West Sussex GPs and primary healthcare 
professionals) and the GP Federation, Innovations in Primary Care 

 Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) 

 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SCAS) 

 South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SECAmb) 

 Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust 

 Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

 Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT), and 

 West Sussex County Council (WSCC). 
 

The CCG is a key member of the West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board, which 
leads on improving co-ordination of commissioning across the NHS, social care and 
public health services. The Board brings together elected members, council 
directors, Healthwatch and the voluntary sector to work together and support one 
another to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population and reduce 
health inequalities. 

 

The Board is also responsible for the development of the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
plan to support the transformation of the health and social care system in West 
Sussex. 
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Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership 

Our CCG is part of the Sussex and East Surrey STP and our local plans support the 
wider aims to improve health and social care services for our local populations. 

 
The STP is made up of 24 organisations including CCGs, local authorities, hospitals, 
and mental health and community trusts. By working together we have the 
opportunity to ensure services remain sustainable and can cope with future 
challenges. Adam Doyle has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer for the STP 
to support this collaborative working approach. 

 

The STP is a partnership within which there are different ‘place-based’ plans that 
focus on places and populations. The aim of these plans is to create new ways of 
working that will bring hospital, community, mental health, social care, and GP 
services closer together and bring care closer to people’s homes. There are also a 
number of work streams that focus on priority areas for improvement across the 
STP. These include workforce, IT, unwarranted variation in care, and urgent and 
emergency care. We believe that by working together as a partnership we can make 
real positive differences to how we deliver care for our patients. 
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£2.7bn 
Healthcare 

spend 

1.8m 
People 

 
CCGs 



The publication by NHS England of the NHS Long Term Plan in January 2019 
represents an opportunity to build on the integrated and collaborative work that the 
STP has achieved so far. The NHS Long Term Plan sets the target of having 
Integrated Care Systems (ICS) across the country by 2021 and our STP will be 
working towards achieving this aim. Becoming an ICS will allow health and care 
organisations to work more closely as a ‘system’ and to look at commissioning and 
providing services for populations more effectively. 

 

The CCGs across the STP will play an integral part in shaping how our health and 
care system will work in the future and the progress we have already made over the 
last year in working closer with our partner CCGs has laid strong foundations for us 
to build upon. 

 
Following the publication of the NHS Long Term Plan all STPs across the country 
have been asked to set out how the national plan will work 
across local systems. To help develop this local plan doctors, 
specialists, and clinicians came together from across Sussex 
and East Surrey during the year to develop a Population 
Health Check. They looked at clinical evidence, patient 
experience, and local knowledge and have provided a 
diagnosis of what needs to change from their expert point of 
view. 

 
The Population Health Check was published in January 
2019. A period of engagement has taken place with the 
public, patients, staff, carers, volunteers, and other 
stakeholders to get their views and experiences. This 
engagement exercise was called ‘Our Health and 
Care Our Future’ and it will inform and influence the 
local STP plan. 
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Looking forward to the year ahead 

The NHS Long Term Plan, published in 
January 2019, outlined how the NHS will 
change in the future. Most notably, it sets the 
target of having ICSs covering the whole 
country by April 2021 which will involve a 
fundamental shift in how CCGs will work and 
how future commissioning will be done. 

 

The formation of ICSs aims to build on the work 
that has already been established across the 
country through STPs. They will involve NHS 
organisations, in partnership with local councils, 
taking a collective responsibility for managing resources, delivering NHS standards, 
and improving the health of the populations they serve. 

 
Along with the formation of ICSs, the NHS Long Term Plan also sets out the future 
formation of Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP) and Primary Care Networks 
(PCN). Both represent a transformation of how health and care services will be 
provided and will also involve some commissioning requirements at a more local 
level. 

 

ICPs will be alliances of NHS providers that work together alongside local authorities 
and the third sector to provide care for populations of around 250,000 to 500,000 
people. To support the formation of an ICP a new contract will be made available 
from this year that will allow the contractual integration of primary medical services 
with other services. 

 

PCNs will involve GP practices and community teams working together to serve 
communities of around 30,000 to 50,000. They will involve multidisciplinary teams 
with a range of staff such as GPs, pharmacists, district nurses, dementia workers, 
physiotherapists, social care and voluntary sector workers. 

 

It is recognised that the future of commissioning needs to focus on ‘Population 
Health’. This is a term used to describe the health outcomes and needs of a defined 
group of people and involves having a focus on reducing variation and inequality of 
care for people living across an area. 

 

To be able to commission for population health, it is recognised that there needs to 
be a joined-up approach between NHS organisations and partners, particularly local 
authorities. We will, therefore, be looking at how we can best commission in this way 
for our populations over the coming year. 

 

The development of ICPs and PCNs, and the shift towards population health, will 
require the CCG to work in a very different way and we are actively exploring with 
our partner CCGs within the STP how we will further develop our joint work together 
and adapt to support delivery of the NHS Long Term Plan. 
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Our local population 



Performance Overview: 
A year in the life of the CCG 

 

 

Performance summary 

CCGs are measured against national and local health priorities to ensure patients 
are receiving a high standard of care within key services. We are continuously 
assessed by the Department of Health and Social Care and NHS England on a 
number of financial and performance measures within various national standards 
and frameworks. 

 
These include the NHS Constitution and the NHS England Improvement and 
Assessment Framework (IAF) which rates CCGs on key areas. For 2017/18 the 
CCG received a rating of ‘inadequate’ against the IAF which was due to the 
performance of key services and the finances of the organisation. The assessment 
for 2018/19 will be published in summer 2019. 

 

Accident and Emergency Department 
One area that has been particularly challenging this year has been urgent care and 
specifically the performance of the Emergency Department (A&E) at Western 
Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT), our local acute hospital. An 
increase in the number of people using the department has meant patients have had 
to wait longer than we would have liked to be seen, treated, and either admitted or 
discharged. This was particularly challenging during the winter months when the 
whole NHS experienced an extremely busy period. We worked very hard with all 
local health and social care organisations to ensure that the safety and quality of 
services was maintained and we worked together to help patients get the most 
appropriate care in the most appropriate setting in a timely way. 

 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) 
Another area we need to improve is performance against the waiting times from GP 
referral to when the patient starts treatment. The national target is 18 weeks and this 
has not been achieved locally, mainly due to how busy our local hospital has been. 
As a result waiting lists have developed and we are working very hard with WSHFT 
and our neighbouring CCGs to reduce these. We have paid for patients to be treated 
at other hospitals and providers to speed up their treatment but we recognise there is 
still more work to do in this area. 
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This section of the Annual Report provides our Chief Executive Officer’s 
perspective on the performance of the CCG over the last twelve months. It 
includes information about the CCG, our main objectives and strategies, the 
principal risks that we face, and how we have performed during the year. 



Cancer 
We also need to focus on improving our performance in some areas for our local 
cancer patients. There have been circumstances where patients have had to wait 
longer than they should for treatment particularly those being referred urgently for 
their first treatment. This is something we are working with providers to improve and 
we have seen progress throughout the year. 

 

Diagnostics 
We have performed well in relation to patients waiting for diagnostic tests and have 
consistently met the national targets. We have also achieved improvements against 
the target for people requiring psychological therapies services experiencing 
improvements to their condition. 

 

We will be focusing on improving our performance within all of the national and local 
priorities during 2019/20 and have action plans in place to help us achieve this. 

 

More information on the CCG’s performance can be found on MyNHS at 
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search. 

 

Key issues and risks 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is committed to the active management of risk, 
recognising that risks need to be considered in terms of both opportunities and 
threats. No organisation operates without risk and the effective management of risk 
is a key function of the Local Management Team. 

 

Scrutiny of the risk register is essential to ensure that appropriate controls and 
mitigating actions are in place, and to monitor progress made on reducing the 
likelihood of the risk occurring. The CCG has a centralised electronic risk register to 
record all risks to the achievement of the CCG’s strategic objectives. All risks on the 
register are updated by risk leads and reviewed by the Local Management Team on 
a monthly basis. 

 
Committees of the CCG review all of the risks in their remit at each meeting. For 
example, the Primary Care Commissioning Committee review all risks related to 
primary care and the Quality Committee review all risks relating to quality, patient 
safety and safeguarding.  The Corporate Risk Register (all risks on the register with 
a current score of 12 or higher) are reviewed by the Audit and Assurance Committee 
on a quarterly basis, and the Governing Body reviews the Board Assurance 
Framework (BAF) at each meeting. The BAF, which was reviewed by the Governing 
Body and Local Management Team in June 2018 and fully refreshed, provides 
assurance to the Governing Body of the effective control of risks to the CCG’s 
strategic objectives and contains those strategic and operational risks on the risk 
register with a current or post mitigation score of 15 or above. 
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NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is now working closely with the other seven Sussex 
and East Surrey CCGs to develop a single risk management and reporting system to 
be implemented early in the next financial year, at which point risks will be aligned 
under a new single set of strategic objectives agreed across the eight CCGs.  This 
will allow Sussex and East Surrey wide risks to be identified and managed 
consistently across the patch. A Sussex and East Surrey CCGs wide risk- 
management policy was developed and agreed at the Audit and Assurance 
Committee and Governing Body in March 2019. 

 

The key areas of risk identified during 2018/19 are summarised as follows: 
 
Strategic Objective One: Recover and stabilise the CCG’s position 
Key risks include: 

 

 The Aligned Incentive Contract (AIC) forecast system benefits not being 
realised as planned, which could cause financial failure in one or more 
organisations 

 Inability to deliver the 2019/20 Control Total surplus due to not delivering the 
2018/19 control total and underlying Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Prevention (QIPP) assumptions 

 Providers failing to repatriate specialist out of area placement mental health 
clients, leading to additional financial pressure on the CCG 

 The referral to treatment performance not improving in line with the agreed 
trajectory, leading to growing waiting lists and breach of constitutional 
standards and increased financial pressure on the CCG 

 The potential of a Cyber Attack on CCG systems and the vulnerability of out 
of date software in GP practices, and 

 The health and safety and morale of staff due to the conditions of the CCG’s 
premises. 

 
The CCG also identified additional risks to the achievement of Strategic Objective 
One which generally related to finance, medicines management, emergency 
preparedness or estates. 

 

Strategic Objective Two: Be the best in the country at caring for older people 
with chronic diseases, multiple conditions and frailty 
Key risks include: 

 

 The system-wide impact of the potential closure of specialist nursing homes 
across the local health economy 

 The provision of stroke services not meeting national service specifications 
and quality standards, resulting in poorer patient outcomes, and 

 Non-compliance of provider aggregate cancer metrics resulting in the CCG 
not being able to achieve targets for patients requiring treatment at tertiary 
centres. 

 

The CCG also identified additional local risks to the achievement of Strategic 
Objective Two which generally related to dementia diagnosis and commissioned 
services. 
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Strategic Objective Three: Demonstrate outstanding capability to manage 
demand 
Key risks include: 

 

 The emergence of a pandemic disease such as influenza and the resulting 
staff shortages caused by illness, carer responsibilities and demands to fill 
staffing shortfalls in clinical settings 

 The agreement of a primary care estates plan in order to access funding to 
maintain and develop primary care premises 

 The potential for recruitment and retention issues in the Primary Care 
workforce to result in restricted patient access to services 

 Not being able to reduce the number of patients in Sussex Transforming Care 
Partnership (TCP) Programme beds which could impact on the quality of care 
provided to patients 

 The fragility of the care home and domiciliary care market and the impact on 
transfers of care and acute admissions, and 

 Risk to delivery of key services and patient flow due to seasonal pressure and 
poor system resilience including provider capacity. 

 
The CCG also identified additional local risks to the achievement of Strategic 
Objective Three which generally related to primary care, Clinically Effective 
Commissioning (CEC), and delivery of key projects such as the Frail and Ageing 
Population Programme and the Cancer Service Improvement Programme. 

 

Strategic Objective Four: Integrate care 
Key risks include: 

 

 The delivery of a digital technology solution for the Integrated Urgent Care 
model that allows the new service to access patient’s medical records and 
make direct bookings into primary care urgent treatment centres, via multiple 
interfaces 

 Being able to employ appropriate staff to fulfil the requirements of the 
Integrated Urgent Care model 

 Agreeing appropriate service specifications for Looked After Children service 
delivery to ensure compliance with statutory legislation, and 

 The delay to the NHS111/Clinical Assessment Service procurement and 
subsequent contract extensions. 

 

The CCG also identified additional local risks to the achievement of Strategic 
Objective Four which generally related to the delivery of the Local Community 
Networks model and the Local Maternity Services programme. 

 

Strategic Objective Five: Develop the Coastal West Sussex health system 
Key risks include: 

 

 The delivery of the Better Births and the Local Maternity System programme 
which, if they are not achieved, may limit improvement in outcomes for 
women and babies within Sussex and East Surrey, and 
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 The delivery of the four Ambulance Recovery Programme Standards for 
2018-2021 by the South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust or SECAmb 999 and subsequent effects to patient outcomes and on 
providers. 

 

The CCG also identified additional local risks to the achievement of Strategic 
Objective Five which generally related to the finalisation of the General Practice 
Transformation Agreement or GPTA documentation, completion of key projects, 
mental health assessments, and public engagement. 

 

European Union exit risks 
The CCG have also identified a number of risks associated with the UK leaving the 
European Union (EU) without a transition agreement in place.  These risks include: 

 

 The potential for transport disruption surrounding the ports to the East and 
West of Sussex which may prevent patients from attending appointments or 
staff from attending their place of work 

 The potential disruption to the supply of medicines and clinical consumables 
meaning that the local NHS will not be able to provide the medicines required 
by our patients nor be able to provide some of the services that we have 
commissioned within Sussex, and 

 The potential for staff in critical services not being able to access places of 
work due to transport disruption. 

 

These risks are regularly reviewed by the CCG’s management teams and any 
potential impacts are mitigated by local, regional, and national plans. 

 

The CCG took a wide range of actions to minimise and manage the above risks 
during 2018/19, including: 

 

 Working at scale across the STP footprint in the Quality and Safeguarding 
teams, using the STP Digital Programme Board to bring multiple digital 
systems together in the NHS111 Integrated Urgent Care programme 

 Beginning to work cohesively across the eight Sussex and East Surrey CCGs 
in the Communications and Engagement and Corporate Governance teams; 

 Working closely with providers, Local Authority, regulators (such as the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC)) and other key stakeholders 

 Strengthening the QIPP and AIC management processes to monitor progress 
and delivery 

 Regular review of potentially vulnerable GP practices and a focus on 
workforce, and 

 Ensuring robust plans are in place to support system resilience. 
 

There is more detail about how we manage the risks facing us in the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
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Going concern 

The annual accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. 
 
During the year a report was issued by our auditors to the Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 due to the deficit position in 2017/18. However, the CCG has delivered a break 
even position for 2018/19 and therefore a Section 30 report will not be issued for the 
financial year 2018/19. 

 

This represents a significant improvement in the CCG’s position and its adherence to 
its statutory responsibilities, and supports the conclusion that the CCG is now 
beginning to live within its means and moving into a system wide sustainable 
financial position and is a going concern. 

 

Public sector bodies generally are assumed to be going concerns where the 
continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by 
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. There is no 
evidence that services provided by the CCG will cease in the future. The CCG has 
been given notification of a five-year allocation, which is fixed from 2019/20 to 
2023/24 and in addition has an Operating Plan agreed by NHS England, which 
provides evidence that ‘going concern’ is an appropriate basis for the preparation of 
financial statements. 

 

The CCG is currently reviewing the implications of the NHS Long Term Plan to 
ensure that it has the most appropriate organisational form from 2020/21. 

 

In addition, the CCG has identified no threats to operational stability from finance or 
income that has not yet been approved and services will continue to be provided. 

 

These factors support the preparing of the financial statements on a going concern 
basis. The Audit and Assurance Committee for NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
formally considered the going concern status of the CCG at its meeting in March 
2019 and noted the conclusion that the CCG was a going concern. 

 

Financial Summary 

The detail of the CCG’s financial 
performance for 2018/19 is set out in 
the annual accounts. In summary, the 
CCG with the approval of NHS 
England, set an expenditure plan at 
the beginning of the year that 
exceeded its notified resource 
allocation by £12m and would have 
led to a deficit position. However, the 
CCG was given the opportunity to earn 
an additional £12m of resource 
allocation by delivering its in-year 
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financial plan. This additional allocation is part of the national Commissioner 
Sustainability Fund (CSF). The CCG has delivered its financial plan consistently 
through the year and has earned the total £12m of CSF available. This has offset the 
original £12m deficit plan and the CCG has delivered a £6k surplus for the year 
2018/19. 

 

Because of the deficit position of the CCG in 2016/17 and 2017/18 NHS England 
placed the CCG under legal directions in March 2017. As a consequence the CCG’s 
financial position is subject to greater scrutiny and approvals are required for 
significant contract awards and financial commitments. 

 
The CCG was required to submit a Financial Recovery Plan (FRP) to NHS England 
to state the actions it would take to recover the financial position. The latest 
refreshed version of this FRP was approved by NHS England in August 2018. The 
CCG has now delivered the 2018/19 position as described in that document. 

 

A number of factors contributed to the break-even position in 2018/19. During 
2018/19 the CCG has continued to implement the actions agreed in its FRP and 
implement the recommendations of the externally commissioned governance review. 
The CCG has also continued with a much closer working relationship with its main 
local acute provider, WSHFT, under the auspices of an AIC. This has resulted in a 
common approach to savings and management of the system financial risk. The 
Governing Body has noted that the underlying position indicates on-going risk 
because NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG will start the 2019/20 financial year with an 
underlying deficit arising from 2018/19 and a cumulative debt from prior years of 
£41m. 
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The chart below shows how the £806.797m expenditure was shared across the 
services that the CCG commissioned in 2018/19. 

 

CCG’s Net Expenditure 2018/19 (£m) 
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Ensuring financial recovery 
The FRP started in 2016/17 will continue into 2019/20 and beyond. The CCG will be 
required to deliver against challenging and significant savings targets and to make 
investments to deliver the transformational changes as set out in the NHS Long 
Term Plan. We first submitted a FRP to NHS England in 2016/17, which has 
subsequently been refreshed. The refreshed FRP, approved in August 2018, 
demonstrated how NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG planned to stabilise its financial 
position in 2018/19, eliminate the in-year deficit (including CSF) and reduce the 
cumulative deficit over the next five years. 

 

The CCG’s financial plan for 2018/19 recognised that it would not be able to meet its 
financial duties. The CCG had been notified of its NHS England control total in 
2018/19 which was a deficit of £12m before CSF. The provision of CSF has now 
enabled the CCG to meet its financial duties in full. 
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The planned deficit before CSF represents an improvement of nearly £10m 
compared with 2017/18 and £22m after receipt of CSF. The plan required savings of 
£34.6m to be achieved in 2018/19 to deliver the control total. This represented an 
overall savings target of 4%. 

 
The CCG has been notified of its 2019/20 control total which is a surplus of £240k. 
This would represent an improvement of nearly £12m (1.5%) in the underlying 
position compared with 2018/19. This would require savings of £32.4m (3.9%) to be 
delivered in 2019/20 to deliver the control total. 

 

Our savings plan 
Our savings plan is currently being developed. Savings have been identified in 
Medicines Management, Continuing Health Care, and High Cost Drugs and there 
are planned reductions in corporate costs to deliver the national 20% target 
reduction by 2020/21. We are working with our provider partners in the local system 
to agree system efficiency savings which will manage demand and deliver services 
to patients in the most efficient way. We have included opportunities identified in 
tackling unwarranted variation which are identified from national benchmarking data 
and these schemes have the support of the STP. 

 
There is currently a gap between the total savings requirement and the identified 
savings. Work is taking place to close this gap and further mitigations are being 
identified to ensure the planned 2019/20 surplus of £240k will be delivered. 

 
We will focus on identifying and delivering savings by commissioning only proven 
and cost-effective services. We will also put in place new ways of commissioning 
and paying for services that will incentivise improved outcomes for patients at an 
affordable cost. The plans are consistent with national planning guidance and 
contain broad assumptions about activity growth. 

 
In developing our savings plans we aim to eliminate waste and duplication, ensure 
delivery of quality and encourage plans that are innovative and address increasing 
demand and limited supply. We will ensure our contracting process is robust and, 
only when these routes have been exhausted, will we explore CEC and making 
difficult choices. 

 
Our Financial Report in section three carries more information. 
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Performance Analysis: 
A year in Performance 

 

 

How the CCG measures performance 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG monitors performance through a monthly Integrated 
Performance Report. This comprehensive report has been developed in line with the 
CCG’s ambition to create a health intelligence system to ensure that timely, accurate 
and appropriate information is available to all relevant staff that will: 

 

 Provide an appropriate assurance framework to serve internal and external 
performance management regimes, and 

 Inform how the CCG commissions’ services by understanding the health and 
social care needs and wants of patients and their experience of the services 
they use. 

 

The report acts as the intelligent tool that drives the way we commission, contract 
manage, improve, and sustain performance. The tool also supports the CCG to 
deliver value for money and work within its defined financial envelope. The report 
summarises performance against the key areas outlined below and forms the basis 
of the assurance we provide to NHS England that we are fulfilling our duties: 

 

 NHS Constitution 

 CCG Operating Plan 

 IAF 

 NHS Outcomes Framework 

 Digital Targets 

 Continuing Healthcare, and 

 Quality and Patient Safety. 
 

The Integrated Performance Report also publishes local contractual key 
performance indicators for our main providers and also includes exceptional risks or 
issues at other providers. 
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This section of the Annual Report provides a more detailed performance analysis 
and reports on key performance measures and how the CCG checks itself against 
them.  The section is structured to cover our key activities into: 

 A year in performance 

 A year in quality and safety 

 A year in commissioning: our programmes 

 Engaging people and communities 

 Reducing health inequalities 

 Health and wellbeing strategy. 



The bringing together of information, actions, and risks allows the CCG to utilise this 
report at an operational level through the NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG Local 
Management Team meetings and executive management meetings across the 
Sussex and East Surrey CCGs, and as an assurance tool through the monthly 
Finance and Performance Committee and the Governing Body meetings. 

 

Additionally it provides a source of data and narrative that is agreed and consistent 
across all eight CCGs which commissioners can readily access and use, including 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG. 

 

CCG performance rating 

The IAF was introduced by NHS England in 2014. It provides a framework of 
measures against which CCGs are assessed. 

 

Six areas were identified by NHS England and Public Health England as clinical 
priorities. They are listed in the table below along with the current rating for NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG. This rating is based on published data (a number of 
measures are issued annually and a number of them are three year rolling averages 
such as the infant mortality figures). 

 

IAF Ratings 2017/18 

 
 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 

Cancer 2017/18 Requires Improvement 

Mental health 2017/18 Requires Improvement 

Dementia 2017/18 Inadequate 

Diabetes 2017/18 Requires Improvement 

Learning disabilities 2017/18 Requires Improvement 

Maternity 2017/18 Requires Improvement 

Each of the clinical priority areas are included in the Integrated Performance Report 
and scrutinised as part of the performance governance process described above. 

 

NHS Constitution 
The NHS Constitution establishes the principles and values of the NHS in England; it 
sets out the legal rights of patients, the public, and staff and further pledges that the 
NHS is committed to achieving these. It also sets out the responsibilities of public, 
patients and staff. There are a number of core standards against which we are 
measured which are included in the next table. 
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Current Performance against NHS Constitution Standards 
 

 
Measure 

Target / 
Threshold 

NHS CWS 

CCG 

Period of 
performance 

reported 

RTT and Diagnosis 

RTT 18 weeks incomplete >= 92.0% 84.8% Mar-19 

RTT 52+ week waiters 0 3 Mar-19 

Diagnostic 6 weeks <= 1.0% 1.6% Mar-19 

Cancer Access 

Cancer - 2 Week Wait >= 93.0% 96.3% Mar-19 

Cancer - 2 Week Wait (Breast) >= 93.0% 90.3% Mar-19 

Cancer - 31 Day First Treatment >= 96.0% 97.9% Mar-19 

Cancer - 31 Day Surgery >= 94.0% 97.9% Mar-19 

Cancer - 31 Day Drugs >= 98.0% 97.7% Mar-19 

Cancer - 31 Day Radiotherapy >= 94.0% 99.0% Mar-19 

Cancer - 62 Day GP Referral >= 85.0% 75.7% Mar-19 

Cancer - 62 Day Screening >= 90.0% 85.4% Mar-19 

Cancer - 62 Day Upgrade >= 86.0% 72.4% Mar-19 

Mental Health and Dementia 

CPA 7 day follow-up >= 95.0% 95.9% Q4 18/19 

Dementia Estimated Diagnosis Rate >= 66.7% 66.1% Mar-19 

IAPT roll-out >= 4.2% 4.5% 
Rolling 3m 
(to Feb19) 

IAPT Recovery >= 50% 60.1% 
Rolling 3m 
(to Feb19) 

IAPT Waiting Times - 6 Weeks >= 75% 98.8% Feb-19 

IAPT Waiting Times - 18 Weeks >= 95% 100.0% Feb-19 

Psychosis treated within two weeks 
of referral 

>= 53% 66.7% Mar-19 

Improve access rate to CYPMH >= 32% 30.6% 
18/19 YTD 
(to Feb19) 

Routine Referrals to CYP EDS (4 
Weeks) 

95% by 
2020 

n/a Q4 18/19 
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Measure 

Target / 
Threshold 

NHS CWS 

CCG 

Period of 
performance 

reported 

Urgent Referrals to CYP EDS (1 
Week) 

95% by 
2020 

100.0% Q4 18/19 

Urgent Care (provider WSHFT) 

A&E 4hrs excluding mapped >= 95.0% 94.9% Mar-19 

A&E 4hrs including mapped >= 95.0% 95.1% Mar-19 

A&E 12hrs waiters 0 0 Mar-19 

DToC bed days as a % of occupied 
beds 

<=3.5% 3.8% Feb-19 

 

There are a number of NHS Constitutional targets where NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG has not achieved the required standards. These are described in the sections 
below. 

 

Four-hour Accident & Emergency (A&E) Standard 
The NHS Constitution standard states that 95% of patients should be seen and 
either treated and discharged or admitted within a maximum four hours of arrival in 
A&E. 

 

Whilst this measure focuses on time spent in A&E it is an excellent indicator of 
performance across a hospital. This is because where it is achieved it indicates good 
patient flow, bed management, and timely discharge. This target is the primary 
indicator used to assess and report the performance of a trust in the national 
performance tables. 

 

Demand for non-elective care continued to rise throughout 2018/19. Urgent care 
transformation remains a key element of the CCG’s strategic direction around 
integrated partnership working. During 2018/19 the Urgent Care team has worked 
across Coastal and pan-Sussex to develop transformation programmes to meet 
national and local requirements to improve urgent care services for our population. 

 

This year the team has progressed work on the discharge improvement programme 
including the step up / step down programme. 

 

The team has also worked closely with system partners across Sussex and East 
Surrey (SES) to develop a new model of Integrated Urgent Care to meet local needs 
in line with national requirements. By October 2019 this model will integrate provision 
of: 

 

 Urgent treatment centres 

 Out of hours visiting service, and 

 Improved access hubs across primary care. 
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98% 

 

96% 
 

94% 
 

92% 
 

90% 
 

88% 
 

86% 

WSHFT percentage in 4 hours or less 
(trust total - before mapping) 

 

 

 

National Standard Percentage in 4 hours or less 
 

These improved access hubs were mobilised across Coastal West Sussex from 
October 2018. The service has provided an additional 15,109 primary care 
appointments during October, November, and December 2018. 

 

During 2018/19 the multi-agency Discharge Improvement Programme continued to 
develop. This programme includes the nationally recommended High Impact 
Changes and the local priorities included: 

 

 The roll out of the discharge to assess pathways. This included continuing the 
use of healthcare discharge to assess beds and the development of the 
‘better at home’ model. West Sussex County Council (WSCC) also has 
discharge to assess beds in place reducing the time people spend awaiting 
social care assessment whilst being medically fit for discharge from the acute 
trust 

 Trusted Assessment is in place between the acute trust and the providers of 
community beds. It is also used for WSCC’s discharge to assess beds. This 
streamlines the discharge process by ensuring relevant information is shared 
in a timely manner to expedite discharge, and 

 The ‘Let’s Get You Home’ campaign is fully embedded in the acute and 
community beds. This aims to support patients to find onward care when they 
no longer need an acute bed to reduce delays. 

 
The priority is the development of our discharge to assess model called ‘better at 
home’. This will ensure people can go back to their own home when they are 
medically fit with the right care in place for them. This will be developed further at a 
local level including WSCC’s own programme for step up / step down capacity. 
There is work already underway locally regarding this at Midhurst community 
hospital. 
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Referral to Treatment (RTT) 
The NHS Constitution states that 92% of patients should wait no longer than 18 
weeks from a GP referral to starting treatment. This is known as the 18 week RTT 
standard and it has not been met locally during 2018/19. 

 
 
 

100% 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
percentage incomplete within 18 weeks 

 

 

95% 
 

 

90% 
 

 

85% 
 

 

80% 

National Standard Percentage incomplete within 18 weeks 
 

 

In order to deliver against the 92% standard WSHFT and the CCG jointly submitted 
a recovery plan to NHS England which was approved in the summer. This recovery 
plan set out the ambition to deliver performance of 85%, with a waiting list dating 
back no further than March 2018 and no 52 week waiters. The end of year position 
showed WSHFT were able to deliver waiting list size for the CCG; however the 
volume of patients waiting 18 weeks or more was higher than planned resulting in a 
small shortfall to delivery of the recovery target. Whilst performance at WSHFT was 
generally very good, there were a couple of areas that led to lower than expected 
performance at a CCG level. This included some mid-year changes to recording and 
administrative processes as well as a reduction of activity levels. Recovery plans 
were developed and the CCG is working closely with partner organisations to 
monitor in order to swiftly improve the position in the coming year.  Actions include: 

 

 Utilisation of capacity at Sussex Orthopaedic Treatment Centre, BMI Goring 
Hall and Chichester Nuffield for Trauma and Orthopaedics (T&O) and 
Ophthalmology activity 

 Ongoing work with Planned Care projects to identify and address system wide 
efficiencies 

 System wide monitoring of demand and capacity through the Strategic 
Deployment Review Dashboard 

 Single Referral Pathway project, including introduction of Capacity Alerts 
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 Partnership Transformation Group reviewing system wide performance 
highlighting expected performance from all relevant organisations through the 
delivery of priority projects 

 Recovery plan from Sussex Community Foundation Trust with regards to how 
they will tackle the T&O waiting list which has grown since the end of last year 

 Continue to work with providers to reduce long waiters, thereby reducing the 
number of patients waiting over 18 weeks, and 

 With regards to patients waiting longer than 52 weeks, recovery plans are in 
place to ensure these are resolved across local providers. 

 

Diagnostic waiting times 
The diagnostic waiting time standard states that no more than 1% of patients should 
wait longer than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test. 

 
 

 
 

 
2.5% 

 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
percentage diagnostics waits  >6 weeks 

 

2.0% 

 

1.5% 

 

1.0% 

 

0.5% 

 

0.0 % 

National Standard Percentage of diagnostics >6 weeks 
 
 

 

Demand has increased by just over 20% compared to last year in part due to a 
higher volume of referrals for suspected cancer as a result of a lower threshold 
specified in NICE guidance. The CCG narrowly failed to achieve the target of 99% 
patients seen within six weeks. WSHFT achieved compliance in 11 of the 12 months 
however activity levels at other providers resulted in the CCG’s shortfall. BSUH 
remains challenged by demand for diagnostics and in particular non-obstetric 
ultrasound which remains the largest pressure both in terms of demand and capacity 
(workforce) constraints. The Central Clinical Services Division and Imaging 
Department are continuing to work closely with NHS Brighton and Hove CCG to 
manage the direct access demand given the constraints on workforce both locally 
and nationally. 
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Cancer access 

The NHS Constitution standards for cancer treatment are: 
 

 Patients should be seen by a specialist doctor within two weeks of a referral 
by their GP for suspected cancer 

 Patients should be seen within 31 days from when a decision is made to treat, 
and 

 Patients should be seen within 62 days from an urgent referral to the first 
definitive treatment for all cancers. 

 

 

 
 

 
100% 

95% 

90% 

85% 

80% 

75% 

70% 

65% 

60% 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
percentage first definitive treatment 

within 62 days of GP referral 
 

 

 

National Standard % within 62 Days of GP Referral 
 

Historically the CCG has performed well on cancer access targets for the two week 
wait and the 31 days wait from the date a decision to treat is made. However during 
2018/19, we have consistently not met the standard for 62 days referral to treatment 
for cancer patients. We have been working with WSHFT to ensure escalation plans 
are robustly in place, to enable patients who are referred urgently by a doctor (two 
week wait) are seen within 12 days of that referral, and that diagnostic tests are done 
and reported in a timely way. Our work has recognised the challenges of an 
increasing level of demand, and work is ongoing to streamline pathways and 
optimise efficiency and resources going forward. 

 

We are also going to be shadow monitoring the new national standard which is 28 
days from referral to either a definitive diagnosis or cancer being ruled out. 

 

The CCG has worked jointly with WSHFT to progress the agreed joint Cancer Action 
Plan and has delivered a number of developments aimed at improving patient 
outcomes and patient experience, such as: 
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 Implemented improvements to the pathway for suspected pancreatic and 
brain cancers, by piloting GP urgent direct access CT pathway (in line with 
NICE Guidance 12) resulting in a number of earlier cancer diagnoses 

 Working with the Cancer Team at WSHFT to undertake process mapping to 
identify improvements in cancer services, particularly in the lung, prostate, 
colorectal cancer pathways, and 

 Led a multi-agency stakeholder engagement group to optimise partnership 
working around cancer prevention as well as supporting the implementation of 
the cancer recovery package. 

 

Mental Health Access Targets 
 
 

 
 

 
65% 

 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
IAPT Rolling 3 Month Recovery Rate 

 

60% 

 

55% 

 

50% 

 

45% 

 

40% 

National Standard Rolling Recovery Rate 
 
 
 

The Time to Talk (TTT) service is recognised nationally as a high performing service 
and amongst the highest performers for national KPIs. At the end of Quarter 3 the 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG TTT service was 11 out of 200 Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies services for reliable improvement. 

 

Patient choice has increased over the last two years as several members of staff 
have undertaken further NICE recommended training which provides a choice of 
therapies. This remains a priority for the Coastal TTT which offers all but one of the 
recommended NICE treatments for people presenting with anxiety and depression. 

 

The access target of 15% has been achieved and the recovery rate at the end of 
Quarter 3 was 59.4% which is above the national target of 50%. 
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67.0% 

66.5% 

66.0% 

65.5% 

65.0% 

64.5% 

64.0% 

63.5% 

63.0% 

62.5% 

62.0% 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
Dementia Diagnosis Rate 

 
 
 
 

% Diagnosed National Standard 

 

Since the implementation of the Dementia Diagnosis Rate (DDR) Compliance Action 
Plan in July 2018 the DDR has increased from 63.8% in April 2018 to 66.1% in 
March 2019.  Low performing areas have been targeted and general 
communications are being sent out on regular basis to all GP practices to encourage 
referrals to be made to the Memory Assessment Service and for the Diagnosing 
Advanced Dementia Mandate (DiADEM) tool to be used in care homes for people 
with advanced dementia. 

 

The West Sussex Dementia Framework Review has been completed and has been 
received favourably by the Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee (HASC) 
at WSCC. They have recommended that a new West Sussex Dementia Strategy is 
co-produced with involvement from all stakeholders involved in dementia 
services. This will be led by WSCC and the Mental Health Commissioning Team 
and will be presented to HASC in autumn 2019. 

 

Children’s wheelchair access 
NHS England is working together with a range of people and organisations to 
improve wheelchair services and to ensure that all wheelchair users receive the best 
possible support for their needs. 

 
The target for 2018/19 is for no children to have waited over 18 weeks by Quarter 4 
of this financial year. The latest published data available for NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG for Quarter 4 shows a slight improvement in our achievement of this 
target albeit that we have missed the requirement for the year overall. 

 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG and Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust are 
working on a plan to deliver the necessary improvement in overall performance into 
2019/20. 

 
 

 

30 ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19   |   NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group 

A
p
r-

1
8
 

M
a
y
-1

8
 

J
u

n
-1

8
 

J
u
l-

1
8
 

A
u
g
-1

8
 

S
e
p
-1

8
 

O
c
t-

1
8
 

N
o
v
-1

8
 

D
e
c
-1

8
 

J
a

n
-1

9
 

F
e

b
-1

9
 

M
a
r-

1
9

 



Regular contract meetings continue to be held with the service provider to review 
performance with a specific focus on waiting times. Actions include addressing the 
gaps in performance, additional staff recruitment and review of the mechanism for 
ordering adaptations and accessories for complex wheelchairs to identify if this 
process can be more efficient for families. It is expected that delivery of the required 
standard will be achieved in the first quarter of 2019/20. 

 

MRSA bloodstream infections 
A total of four Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) bloodstream 
infections were assigned to NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG during 2018/19. Three 
community onset and one Trust onset infection associated with Portsmouth 
Hospitals NHS Trust. Post infection reviews have been completed in all cases with 
resultant learning recommendations. 
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A year in quality and safety 

 
The delivery of high quality care is at the centre of the CCG’s Vision and Values. We 
are dedicated to ensuring all of the services that we commission on behalf of the 
resident populations are of the highest quality, delivered with respect and 
compassion, and provide a positive experience for the patient and their family. 

 
Our overarching aim is to ensure the services we commission deliver excellent care 
whilst driving forward quality and workforce improvements for the benefit of our local 
population. 

 

Improving quality and safeguarding vulnerable people is at the heart of what we do. 
We play a key leadership role in commissioning for quality. All existing and new 
services are assessed for their impact on the local population. In 2018/19 we 
implemented a revised Quality Impact Assessment Policy across Sussex and East 
Surrey. 

 

The eight Sussex and East Surrey STP CCG Commissioning Quality Teams have 
been aligned as one team led by the Chief Nurse for Sussex and East Surrey. 
During the year a review of the existing Quality Committees was undertaken 
resulting in an aligned approach with strong leadership and public and Lay Member 
representation. The committees’ terms of reference were reviewed to ensure 
services were subject to robust scrutiny and challenge in order to provide assurance 
of the care delivered to our local population. 

 
These developments have enabled our staff to use their extensive clinical knowledge 
and skills collectively in order to influence service provision, to inform the 
commissioning cycle with evidence-based best practice, and to assure stakeholders 
of the quality of care. 

 

Quality improvement 

In line with our statutory duty, our vision for the CCG has always been to reach out to 
the communities for which we care to understand how we could help them to 
improve their health. During 2018/19 a number of engagement events were held with 
local people to share our commissioning intentions and find out what we could do to 
improve local services. In the coming year we will build on these using our revised 
approach to quality improvement. 

 

2018/19 saw the development of the Sussex and East Surrey Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Framework. This framework provides a structured approach to 
improving quality and escalating quality concerns using a risk-based methodology. 
This will enable the Commissioning Quality Team to safeguard people proactively 
using a consistent evidence-based approach. Interventions to improve care delivery 
will be co-ordinated and delivered collaboratively with system partners. 
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Our focus on quality has played an essential role in helping us to ensure that we 
commission safe and effective services which provide our patients with the best 
possible experience of the NHS. We continue to work with our provider 
organisations to ensure that patients, their families, and carers are treated with 
compassion, respect, and dignity in safe environments and they are protected from 
harm. 

 

As system leaders we take an active role in a range of formal and informal reviews. 
These include ongoing dialogue with service providers, quality impact assessments, 
quality assurance visits, the use of contractual levers, and the implementation of 
agreed quality improvement plans. 

 
Additionally we work alongside our commissioning teams to: 

 

 Obtain assurance of commissioned service quality 

 Monitor quality performance against agreed standards and outcomes 

 Carry out surveillance in line with the CQC domains of safety, effectiveness, 
patient experience, leadership, culture, and responsiveness, and 

 Use of the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment 
framework to support local improvement. 

 

During 2018/19 we refined our management of CQUIN and adopted an aligned 
approach throughout Sussex and East Surrey. Through these commissioned 
schemes the CCG is seeking to deliver improvements, which include for example: 

 

 Reducing the impact of serious infections (Antimicrobial Resistance and 
Sepsis), and 

 Improving services for people with mental health needs who present to A&E. 
 

Over the last four years the Coastal West Sussex (CWS) Quality Team have worked 
with our local NHS Providers undertaking a project to reduce the number of in- 
patient falls. This project was completed in 2018/19 and as a result there was a 
decrease in falls by 37% and the level of harm has been reduced when a fall does 
occur. This project has been recognised and celebrated by NHS England and NHS 
Improvement as a piece of outstanding system working to improve patient safety. 

 
In 2018/19, the CWS Quality Team have worked alongside Primary Care and 
Medicines Management Teams to implement a proactive and supportive approach to 
prepare for CQC inspections within GP Practices. The team have also supported 
quality improvement following CQC Inspections and provided assurance of the 
quality of care delivered across West Sussex.  This approach has been recognised 
by Primary Care as having a significant impact on improving their approach in 
preparing for inspections and ensuring a positive outcome. 

 

Learning from Serious Incidents (SIs) 
The CCG has a statutory responsibility for the management of serious incidents 
reported by the services we commission. This process is hosted by a Patient Safety 
Team based at NHS Brighton and Hove CCG who provide oversight and effective 
management of serious incidents for all providers across Sussex and East Surrey, 
including NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG. This includes a fortnightly Serious 
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Incident Scrutiny Panel. In 2018/19 the service was awarded an opinion of 
‘significant assurance’ by Internal Audit. 

 

In addition, the CCG received positive feedback from its external partners (including 
NHS England) on the robustness of the scrutiny process. 

 
During 2018/19 in partnership with providers the Commissioning Quality Team 
strengthened its assurance that valuable lessons learned from serious incidents 
have been widely shared and embedded in individual, team, organisation, and 
system practice. This will continue to be a priority for 2019/20. 

 

The CWS Quality Team have worked with NHS providers to understand themes and 
trends from Serious Incidents and support system learning. In 2018/19 following an 
identified theme in serious incident reports, a targeted piece of work was undertaken 
to reduce the number of bed, ward and hospital site moves for people who suffer 
with dementia that then may become a greater risk of harm. By working with and 
across provider organisations, the number of moves for those with dementia has 
decreased and there is a recognisable improvement to patient safety. 

 

Infection prevention and control 
The CCG, working with its provider organisations, 
continues to drive improvements that reduce the 
incidence of healthcare-associated infections. The 
Commissioning Quality Team has taken a proactive 
approach to achieving its reduction targets including 
the development of a two year clinical strategy. 

 

For Clostridium difficile infections in 2018/19 the CCG 
can report a reduction in the number of cases year on 
year. WSHFT has implemented ‘lessons learned’ to 
improve patient care. This has seen improved 
outcomes for our patients. 

 

In line with the national vision there remains a zero tolerance approach locally for 
MRSA blood stream infections. As set out in the performance section of this report, 
the number of infectious outbreaks have affected local services especially during the 
winter period resulting in ward or bay closures in acute and community inpatient 
areas and nursing homes. To manage this effectively the CCG has agreed with 
health providers throughout Sussex and East Surrey a system-wide approach to 
managing infectious outbreaks during periods of escalation. This includes the 
management of influenza in and out of season. 

 
During an influenza outbreak, when appropriate, antivirals are given as prophylaxis 
treatment to high risk patients, residents, and staff. In 2018/19 the uptake of staff and 
the public receiving the ‘flu vaccination improved from last year’s results. 

 

Workforce Development 
Whilst 2018/19 has seen an overall increase in the number of nursing, midwifery, 
health visitors (registered and support workers), and clinical staff in post the NHS 
workforce continues to be under real pressure. Causal factors include the increasing 
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number of people accessing the service coupled with the complexity of their 
conditions. 

 

Some geographies and types of roles have proven to be hard to recruit into and this 
has been exacerbated further by ongoing uncertainties around pay and international 
recruitment. Despite these well understood pressures frontline NHS staff say their 
experience at work continues to improve with overall employee engagement scores 
now at a five-year high. 

 
The Commissioning Quality Team continues to work with providers to ensure they 
have effective staff retention plans in place that focus on engaging and empowering 
the workforce, understanding insights such as the reasons why people leave, and 
are taking sustainable actions to retain staff. 

 

The Contract Quality Review meetings regularly receive progress updates on a 
number of initiatives. For example: 

 

 Apprenticeships: Assistant Practitioners, Nurse Associates 

 Retention: ‘Best Place to Work’ initiatives (supported by Health Education 
England), and 

 International recruitment programme. 
 

The commissioning quality team continues to work closely with Trusts to ensure 
safer staffing levels are maintained through robust clinical risk assessment. 

 

Primary and Community Care Workforce Development 

The beginning of the year saw developments in Primary and Community Care 
workforce, the first is an agreement to establish the Sussex and East Surrey Primary 
and Community Care Workforce Group. 

 
The purpose of the group will be to 
develop a Sussex and East Surrey 
primary and community care workforce 
plan by the autumn of 2019, agree an 
implementation plan that will be 
delivered locally and at scale by 
Community Education Provider 
Networks (CEPN) and monitor 
progress and drive delivery. 

 
The second was a workshop which 
brought the CEPNs together to 

increase their awareness and understanding of how they can align with STP 
priorities, agree workforce areas to be delivered at a local level and at scale. 

 
At the workshop, the existing projects were mapped under the following headings: 

 

 Workforce Planning and Development (e.g. new roles development schemes) 

 Recruitment, Retention and Talent Management (e.g. areas of work that 
support people in the first five years and last five years of career), and 
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 Learning and training (e.g. leadership development work, training initiatives, 
training work to date across four areas). 

 

Patient Experience 
Patient complaints are taken very seriously by the CCG and are managed within an 
established process. Soft intelligence is triangulated with other data and shared 
across providers, commissioners, and external stakeholders. The Commissioning 
Quality Team ensures any learning is widely shared and informs our commissioning 
intentions. 

 

We work closely with the Patient Advice and Liaison Service to understand patients’ 
feedback on the services we commission. Each person’s view is taken into account 
so we can do everything possible to ensure every patient’s experience is positive 
and their expectations are met. 

 

Safeguarding Adults, Children, and Looked After Children 
The STP-wide Safeguarding Team holds statutory responsibilities in relation to 
safeguarding adults, children, and looked after children within our local populations. 
The CCG is committed to fulfilling its statutory responsibilities by seeking assurance 
with respect to the safety and effectiveness of the services it commissions. The work 
undertaken by the Safeguarding Team includes taking into account national 
changes, influencing local activity and developments, and maintaining oversight of 
any actions being taken to mitigate any significant safeguarding risks. 

 

 

The safeguarding team has continued to develop processes to work as one aligned 
team across the STP area during 2018/19 and significant progress has been made 
with the identified team objectives and the NHS England priorities. 
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Key actions taken in 2018/19 

 An external review of the safeguarding processes and structure across 
Sussex has been undertaken; an action plan is in place to address the 
identified recommendations which will help inform the future improvements 
and transformation of the safeguarding systems for adults, children, and 
looked after children 

 An audit was undertaken by NHS England of CCG compliance with statutory 
safeguarding duties. NHS England were fully assured that all statutory duties 
were being met and all the key lines of enquiry were rated ‘green’ 

 Increased provision of supervision for designated professionals has been put 
in place 

 Safeguarding stocktake feedback identified priorities for the Safeguarding 
Team including embedding safeguarding within the commissioning cycle, 
engaging primary care in safeguarding assurance and training, and 
developing a recovery plan to enable initial health assessments for looked 
after children to be completed within 20 days, and 

 Work continued to support the multi-agency large scale safeguarding enquiry 
with an independent provider (Sussex Healthcare). The West Sussex team 
continues to work with WSCC around safeguarding enquiries and supports 
the services to mitigate known safeguarding risks. 

 

Key team priorities for 2018/19 

 Development of a Safeguarding dashboard to include data capture for adult 
and child safeguarding across the STP: a working group made up of 
designated professionals is updating the standards and agreeing a data-set. 
The new safeguarding dashboard will form part of the assurance and data 
gathering from Quarter 1 2019/20 

 Aligning the governance, processes, and paperwork for safeguarding across 
the STP: a programme of work is currently being carried out to align business 
support processes, policies, and paperwork 

 Development and implementation of Safeguarding Standards across the care 
home sector: the standards have been agreed by CCGs across Kent, Sussex, 
and Surrey and wider stakeholder engagement is due to take place; events 
will be arranged in each of the areas to roll out the standards, and 

 Standardising training across the STP in terms of content, length, audience, 
and levels (as per intercollegiate documents): standardised training will be 
rolled out across the STP from April 2019. 

 
NHS England priorities for 2018/19 
The NHS England priority in 2018/19 was mandatory staff safeguarding training. 
NHS Coastal West Sussex, NHS Crawley, and NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex 
CCGs have all made significant improvement with the training completion rates for 
both safeguarding adults and safeguarding children training over the last year. In the 
first quarter the CCGs were reporting an average of 77% of staff completing the 
training rising to 86% in the third quarter. 

 
Summary of Planned Actions in the coming year 

 Domestic abuse learning events for primary care clinicians will be delivered by 
the end of May 2019 (NHS England funding) 
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 Looked after children professionals away day and networking event planned 
to take place in Quarter 1 to progress the looked after children agenda 

 Continue to address actions from external safeguarding reviews within the 
identified timescales 

 Continue to progress the team priorities, and 

 Since the publication of the Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 
guidance in May 2018 the CCGs have increased statutory responsibilities to 
make arrangements to work together with relevant agencies to safeguard and 
protect the welfare of children; work will continue to implement these reforms. 

 

Improving Care for people with learning disabilities 
The Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) Board has developed key work streams 
and working collaboratively. The national Learning Disabilities Mortality Review or 
LeDeR Programme has been established across Sussex CCG’s and a programme 
director has been employed to oversee the whole programme. Further work is 
required in 2019/20 and which will build on work undertaken in 2018/19 to align the 
TCP work streams to meet NHS England trajectories. Extra resource has been 
made available and will support the success of the project. 

 

We can confirm that in 2019/20 our financial plan reflects the appropriate level of 
investment in line with the requirements of the TCP, the NHS Long Term Plan and 
our STP/Integrated Care System growth assumptions. 

 

We are committed to continuing the TCP until NHS England set trajectories are 
achieved and the model of care in the community can be demonstrated as robust in 
admission prevention via community interventions. Our 2019/20 system-wide 
aspirations are aligned to the NHS goals of transforming the treatment, care and 
support available to people of all ages with a learning disability, autism or both so 
that they can lead longer, happier and healthier lives at home. 

 

Improving Diabetes Services 
While good diabetes care today will avoid the development of the related long term 
complications in the future, many people are already living with the micro-vascular 
and macro-vascular complications of diabetes, such as blindness, kidney failure or 
heart disease. People with diabetes may also have one or a number of other long- 
term conditions, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), anxiety or 
depression. The challenge is to deliver high quality holistic care to all such 
individuals. 

 
Self-management, based on personalised care planning and the effective delivery of 
structured education, and person empowerment, are central to the way in which 
outcomes can be optimized for people with diabetes and other long-term conditions. 
The individual must be the starting point for any decisions about their care. 

 

One area that NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG are focusing on is rolling out a pilot 
with ‘Diabetes Complete’, which is a fully assured NHS Digital application available 
for all CCGs and GP Practices across England through centralised NHS Digital 
funding. It is an online interface allowing effortless management of our diabetes 
patients through seamless integration with all practice clinical systems.  It has been 
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specifically designed to reduce GP workload whilst improving the delivery of the key 
care processes, target attainment and reduced patient complications. 

 

A small number of specialised services are commissioned by NHS England directly 
as part of NHS England’s specialised commissioning role. These services include 
islet cell transplantation services, pancreas transplantation services, insulin-resistant 
diabetes services, congenital hyperinsulinism services, Alstrom Syndrome services, 
Bardet-Biedl Syndromes services and Wolfram Syndrome services, and have been 
delivered by tertiary centres that specialise in these specific conditions. Service 
specifications for these specialised services will not be covered in this report, but are 
included in the work streams of the Diabetes Specialised Commissioning Clinical 
Reference Group at NHS England. 

 
The CCG has a Diabetes Locally 
Commissioned Service (LCS) in 
place to support the CCG ambition 
to provide a wider range of 
community based services 
supported by service integration 
and GP practices working at scale. 
Our ultimate vision for future 
diabetes services remains for a fully 
integrated and seamless service 
which will be delivered through 
Locally Commissioned Networks 
(LCNs). 

 

One of the main challenges facing our current health service is the increasing 
prevalence of diabetes and the complications of diabetes. The Diabetes LCS seeks 
to help practices deliver high quality evidence based care and promotes best 
practice in the following key areas: 

 

 Developing leadership through education 

 Supporting high quality processes and demonstrating good performance; 

 Focusing on patient empowerment to self-manage 

 Demonstrating achievement of the National Institute of Clinical Excellence 
(NICE) Quality Standards for diabetes in adults 

 Working towards an integrated diabetes service across the Community and 
Specialist interface 

 Supporting patient intervention in ‘pre-diabetes’, and 

 Encouragement for practices to work at scale and support each other. 
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A year in commissioning 

 
Our programmes 

Transforming primary and community care 
Strengthening, improving and developing the integration of primary and community 
care will be critical to ensure that our population receive enhanced access, improved 
continuity and better co-ordinated care. We are already progressing towards the 
development of a local approach to reshape and build resilience within primary care 
in order to meet future demand. This will be an important cross-cutting strategic goal 
to enable and facilitate all of the CCG’s plans. 

 

We believe that strong, resilient and sustainable primary care is vital to successfully 
managing population health. Our ambition is to ensure that every GP practice 
remains at the heart of care delivery in our system. We will build on our existing work 
and close working relationship with our practices as we adapt to reflect the new 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs). During 2019/20 we will be working with the newly 
established PCNs and existing Local Community Networks (LCNs) to develop 
community and primary care services that are integrated and reduce barriers that 
can often lead to duplication of effort or patients falling between services. 

 
 

 

Local Community Networks (LCN) 

The CCG has built a 
comprehensive system- 
wide stakeholder group 
that has contributed to the 
development of the Frail 
and Ageing Population 
Programme for our 
population. The ambition of 
this programme is to  
design and deliver an 
integrated model of care for 
the frail elderly population 
of Coastal West Sussex 
that improves performance, 
increases quality and 
achieves value for money. 

LCNs are the building blocks of the integrated care model in Coastal West Sussex. 
They have been a focus of collective innovation and improvement across our health 
care system. There are seven LCNs in NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG with each 
LCN based around communities, district and borough councils, and groups of GP 
practices. LCNs bring together health and care professionals, volunteers, and 
patients. They break down professional and organisational silos and create the 
environment for effective integrated working to deliver the right care and support to 
their local communities. 

 

 

40 ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19   |   NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group 



In 2018/19 our priority was to build up core leadership, capacity, and capability for 
each LCN. We appointed four LCN Delivery Managers, secured additional senior 
oversight from the LCN Delivery Lead, and ensured appropriate clinical leadership 
from Practice Group Leads. 

 

Last year’s delivery plans for each LCN focused on three key priorities: 
 

 Developing the LCN team, its governance, and its delivery plans 

 Prevention, and 

 Frail and Ageing Population. 
 

Locally identified priorities have driven partnership working in LCN’s over 2018/19 in 
a number of initiatives which include: 

 

 LCN engagement with the Frailty Programme supporting the development 
and implementation of the FACE or Find, Act, Care, Evaluate model with early 
system metrics indicating improved management of the target patient cohort 
and resultant system savings 

 LCN engagement with the Midhurst Hospital Task and Finish Group has 
ensured local clinical and community contributions to discussions; 

 Provision of social prescribing in three LCN’s with one further scheme in 
planning 

 Development of LCN Community Boards to ensure the patient and community 
voice is integral to LCN working with several well attended public events held 
and more in the pipeline 

 LCNs focusing on the wellbeing of children and young people (CYP) resulting 
in improved communication and links between schools and primary care, and 

 Testing out ways of supporting those who are socially isolated and bereaved. 
 

Prevention 
The NHS Long-Term Plan sets out a strong ambition for a new “comprehensive 
approach to preventing ill-health...to tackle wider threats to health, and ensure health 
is hardwired into social and economic policy”. 

 

We have developed a prevention approach across our Coastal communities in our 
LCNs which is framed around key principles and systemic themes across the local 
population focusing on a life course approach: Start Well, Live Well, and Age Well. 

 

The work takes a strengths-based approach to wellbeing that works with people, 
communities, and places to bring about positive change. 

 

This recognises prevention as being central to integration between health and 
partners. It understands that effective prevention needs to be organised locally, in 
the context of LCNs, where relationships and trust can form between health, 
councils, the voluntary sector, and people in order to build new ways of improving 
health and wellbeing. 

 

Each LCN has worked to develop and deliver core elements of this prevention 
programme along with choosing specific pieces of work relevant to their locality. 
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The principles of our prevention approach have been focused around: 
 

 Creating a set of shared ambitions about local prevention issues and making 
the best use of local resources between partners 

 Working towards a Make Every Contact Count approach across all health 
providers to build prevention into our daily interactions with people 

 Supporting a thriving and sustainable range of voluntary, community, and 
social enterprise provision working alongside people, families, communities, 
and the health and care system 

 Working across the social determinants of health and wellbeing with a focus 
on disadvantaged and rural communities, and 

 Developing a life course approach to prevention that builds the needs of 
families into the way we commission. 

 
The following sections describe some of the progress that has been made. 

 

Cancer prevention 
The CCG has a priority for improving cancer services recognising that achieving 
earlier diagnosis and timely treatment of cancer is essential to improving outcomes 
for patients. It is also acknowledged that with an ageing population the long-term 
trend is of increasing cancer incidence however, with improvements in early 
detection and advancements in treatment, cancer survival is also increasing and it is 
equally important that as a system we are able to focus on supporting patients who 
are ‘living with and beyond cancer’. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

42 ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19   |   NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group 



The CCG’s ambition is to achieve transformational change in local cancer services in 
order to meet the challenges in our cancer performance as illustrated by our 
performance under the IAF. During 2018 we embarked upon an integrated 
programme of work with our main acute hospital with the emphasis firmly upon 
improving patient experience and outcomes. 

 

Improving the early diagnosis of cancer is a multifaceted challenge and requires 
action across the whole pathway from public awareness and understanding of the 
signs and symptoms of cancer, encouraging people to consult their GP when signs 
and symptoms present, to supporting GPs and other services so that all patients 
have timely access to tests and specialist advice and treatment. 

 
Our local cancer improvement programme entails working under the leadership of 
the Surrey and Sussex Cancer Alliance to develop initiatives within the following key 
areas: 

 

 Prevention: improving health and wellbeing, addressing risk factors, and 
improving uptake of cancer screening programmes (breast, bowel, and 
cervical) 

 Early Diagnosis: streamlining patient pathways and promoting rapid access to 
diagnostic tests 

 Treatment and care: enabling patients to receive their first definitive cancer 
treatment within 62 days of referral, and 

 Survivorship: working with partners to enable an appropriate shift away from 
the medical model of care to one that sees the patient and the public being 
empowered to take ownership of their care and helping them to access the 
support that they (and their carers) need. 

 

Young people, prevention and mental health 
We have worked to develop community-based approaches to mental health in young 
people. The key parts of this have been: 

 

 Building great system connections between health and education 

 Skill building in parents and young people, and 

 Influencing what services are commissioned for young people. 
 

This has led to LCNs building new relationships between GPs and schools to help 
ensure young people experiencing mental health are better supported. The Deputy 
Principle of Shoreham Academy presented this work at the Emma Freud Event, and 
has generated National level interest at the Department of Education. 

 

Social prescribing 
Social prescribing can be defined as ‘enabling healthcare professionals to refer 
patients to a link worker to co-design a non-clinical social prescription to improve 
their health and wellbeing.’ 
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LCN’s have been developing social prescribing across the Coastal system with a 
very positive response from users of the new service and great feedback from GPs 
and partners. Work is underway to develop the future sustainability of this initiative 
and to ensure it reaches all of our communities and links to the strategies identified 
as part of the NHS Long Term Plan. 

 

A multi-agency workshop was held in March 2019 to further develop the joined up 
strategy and system wide outcome measures, which will evidence the impact this 
has for our local population and builds on the knowledge about social prescribing 
and its future role in our communities. 

 

Social isolation and loneliness 
LCNs have also been focusing on addressing loneliness and isolation by developing 
new ways of addressing this issue in LCNs through intergenerational approaches. A 
research project in the Adur and Worthing areas has commenced with the plan of 
continuing in 2019. 

 

Frail and ageing programme 
Improving the coordination of care for the patients with the most complex needs 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has one of the oldest populations in England and 
this is projected to grow considerably. 

 

Our previous model of care for the frail elderly population was not sustainable or 
affordable in light of the predicted changes to the demographic. Over 2018/19 we 
have been working on the following programmes to address these concerns: 

 

 Collaborative redesign of the care model FACE or Find, Act, Care, Evaluate 

 Develop and implement the falls and fractures prevention strategy 

 Support delivery of the WSCC dementia strategy, and 

 Improve End of Life identification, planning, and management. 
 

Improving care for people who live in residential and nursing homes 
We consider quality to be central to our function as effective commissioning bodies, 
under Section 14R of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 we have a duty to 
improve the quality of services that we commission. We work in close partnership 
with each other, our commissioning partners in Public Health, WSCC and our 
providers to ensure that all quality issues in residential and nursing homes across 
the health economy in West Sussex have appropriate oversight and scrutiny. The 
use of patient narrative and experience continues to support commissioners to 
consider the impact of commissioning decisions. This ensures that we are consistent 
with our statutory duties and clearly communicate outcomes against our 
commissioning objectives. 

 

Key achievements in 2018/19 include: 
 

 Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework to provide structure in 
approach to the assurance in improvement of quality, and management of 
escalating quality concerns in NHS and independent services commissioned/ 
jointly Commissioned by CCGs in the Sussex and East Surrey STP area 
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 Established a programme of quality assurance visits to homes where there
are concerns, utilising the Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework
and Quality Assurance Visits Guidance

 Implementation of the Provider Concerns Network; bringing together CCG’s,
WSCC and providers to enable a collective system understanding and
ownership of risk, improvement actions and potential remedies

 Monthly Quality review meetings where quality concerns have been
highlighted, supported by monthly monitoring and assessment of quality
improvement action plans, and

 Working with colleagues to put systems in place to minimise outbreaks of flu
in care homes, enabling the timely access to anti-viral medication.

Improving care at the end of life 
In 2018/19 an innovative End of Life Care service for the population of Coastal West 
Sussex was evaluated following a two year pilot. 

This centralised coordination service; the ‘Echo Hub’ – is a service available 24 
hours a day, 365 days of the year where a team of nurses and coordinators provide 
advice, support, and coordinate services to respond to changing/unmet needs. A 
wider set of additional services provided by the Echo collaborative, hospice and 
community and hospital based colleagues, are linked to the Hub. 

 How it helps patients:
– 24/7 support via a single phone number as the ‘front door’ to services

provides reassurance
– Coordination of care by Echo removes the burden of navigating complex

and fragmented system of services – can help match needs to available
resources, and

– Improves the sharing of patient information and care plans enabling
clinicians that do not know the patient to be aware of their wishes and
preferences – removing repetition.

 How it helps professionals:
– Simplicity of access to services to support patients
– 24/7 access to clinical advice from specialist nurses and consultants, and
– Access to information and care plans.

In the evaluation, the benefits of improved identification, sharing of care plans, 

planning ahead and a more responsive and personalised offer of care were 

identified.  Further benefits identified were: 

 Better coordinated and high quality care for patients

 Greater integration of services

 Better use of resources, more targeted at patient need and preference

 Reducing duplication for local clinicians, and

 Reduced unplanned admissions to hospital and shorter hospital stays.

As a result the service has been re-commissioned and the learning is to be shared 
across the other Sussex and East Surrey CCGs. 
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Improving care for people with long term conditions 
Alongside ongoing initiatives in primary care for those living with long term 
conditions, scoping of the pathways for example, in diabetes and respiratory 
conditions has commenced with the aim of further work with the wider system in 
2019/20. 

 
Following on from the success of the Minor Injuries and Minor Ailments (MIAMI) 
services in the Worthing area, the GP Improved access service has been extended 
to cover 100% of CCG population. The MIAMI service is being delivered from 20 
hubs across the area. 

 

This improved access 
service includes an 
additional 1.5 hours every 
weekday evening 
(Monday - Friday), from 
18.30-20.00, and 
weekend provision of 
access on both Saturday 
and Sunday. 

 
The MIAMI service 
delivers over 480 extra 
appointments per week, and is in addition the existing GP extended hours directed 
enhanced service. The clinic times can be flexible at time of peak demand, and 
includes coverage over Christmas, New Year, Easter and other bank holidays. 

 
The GP Improved Access service works with the currently out-of-hours provision and 
in 2019/20 we will continue to develop work to enable out-of-hours to directly book 
into this service. 

 
Improving Continuing Health Care 
The West Sussex Continuing Health Care (CHC) Team is hosted by NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG and has delegated responsibilities from the three West Sussex 
CCGs to deliver NHS Continuing Healthcare (NHS CHC) and Children’s Continuing 
Care (CCC). During 2018/19 the team managed a £68M budget of which NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG contributed 54% (£36.5M). 

 

The team broadly manage two statutory functions, to undertake eligibility 
assessments for NHS funding and when necessary to commission appropriate care 
and support. 

 

The West Sussex CHC Team has had another positive year with many significant 
achievements made to continually improve the service it provides to individuals, 
families and their representatives. These include, but are not limited to: 

 

 Overall customer satisfaction remains high, based on the feedback 
questionnaires sent to individuals and their families 

 More assessments now take place in the right time and location when the 
individual’s on-going needs are known. The impact of this quicker discharge 
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from hospital and fewer CHC assessments taking place in an acute hospital 
setting 

 The team have improved internal processes to provide more timely 
assessments and appeals 

 Over 85% of individuals eligible for fully-funded CHC had a case review (or 
quality review) or an eligibility review with a CHC Practitioner. The team have 
also commenced a work stream to review patients in receipt of NHS Funded 
Nursing Care (FNC) 

 Most individual’s cared for at home now have a personal health budget 

 The CCGs have invested additional resources to provide effective 
commissioning support, care planning, contract management and financial 
control, and 

 As the CHC team continues to evolve and grow a programme of work has 
been established to improve CHC staff experience. The team is supported 
through the promotion of shared values, inclusivity, innovation and continual 
personal and professional development. 

 

In 2019/20, we look forward to number of new developments that will further improve 
service user experience, health outcomes and better use of resources: 

 

 Work with our IT system provider to support e-referrals and consider full 
digitisation of the end-to-end service including workflow management and 
reporting 

 Improve internal processes to audit the quality of decision making; 

 Work with our CCG partners and support the Community Bed Review to 
ensure no CHC screening or assessments take place in acute hospital setting 

 Better align initial assessments (timely standard referrals and retrospective 
applications) 

 Work with our neighbouring CHC teams and local authorities to explore pan- 
Sussex commissioning benefits and develop joint policies and a strategic 
commissioning plan 

 Ensure contracts to cover FNC funding are in place and align FNC quality of 
care reviews with other review processes (e.g. continence product reviews), 
and 

 Further invest in staff development to maintain effective levels of retention. 
 

Improving mental health 
Time to Talk (TTT) 
The TTT service is recognised nationally as a high performing service and amongst 
the highest performers for national key performance indicators. At the end of Quarter 
3 the NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG TTT service was 11th out of 200 for the 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services for reliable 
improvement. 

 

Patient choice has increased over the last two years as several members of staff 
have undertaken further NICE recommended training which provides a choice of 
therapies. This remains a priority for the NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG TTT which 
offers all but one of the recommended NICE treatments for people presenting with 
anxiety and depression. 
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The access target of 15% has been achieved and the recovery rate at the end of 
Quarter 3 was 59.4% which is above the national target of 50%. 

Time to Talk Health (TTTH) 
TTTH was introduced in 2018 following a pilot scheme in 2017/18. The initial focus 
was on patients with the following long-term conditions: diabetes, COPD, and 
chronic heart disease. The service has now been expanded to cover three further 
conditions which are irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), asthma, and musculoskeletal 
(MSK) problems resulting in chronic pain. The service is working to integrate and 
co-locate (where possible) with the physical healthcare teams thereby providing a 
whole-person approach to health and wellbeing. 

The recovery rate for this service is currently above the national target. The team is 
also meeting the target for both the 6 and 18 week waiting times from referral to 
treatment. 

TTTH has now secured a place on the LCN Board for Coastal West Sussex which 
will increase closer working with physical healthcare teams. In addition the TTTH 
team has recently made links with the Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
Network to support their learning to achieve greater success. 

The results for those people entering treatment aged 65 years and above remains 
below target and further work is occurring with the LCNs and pharmacists to explore 
further access. The team has found that the introduction of MSK, asthma, and IBS 
has brought a younger demographic into the service which is impacting on this 
target. 

A review of the service has shown that for the patients using TTTH there has been a: 

 38% reduction in doctor appointments

 69% reduction in nurse appointments, and

 Reductions in A&E visits, hospital bed days, and ambulance callouts.

Dementia 
Since the implementation of the Dementia Diagnosis Rate (DDR) Compliance Action 
Plan in July 2018 the DDR has increased from 63.8% in April 2018 to achievement 
of the national target of 66.7% by December 2018. Low performing areas have been 
targeted and general communications are being sent out on regular basis to all GP 
practices to encourage referrals to be made to the Memory Assessment Service and 
for the Diagnosing Advanced Dementia Mandate or DiADEM tool to be used in care 
homes for people with advanced dementia. 

A networking event was held in 2018 to help develop a coherent approach to how 
LCNs can work with Dementia colleagues, service users and Dementia Friendly 
Alliances to promote work on dementia friendly communities – focusing on ways in 
which people and environments can think about and be more supportive for those 
living with dementia. 

The West Sussex Dementia Framework Review has been completed and has been 
received favourably by the Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee 
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(HASCSC) at WSCC. They have recommended that a new West Sussex Dementia 
Strategy is co-produced with involvement from all stakeholders involved in dementia 
services.  This will be led by WSCC and the Mental Health Commissioning Team 
and will be presented to HASCSC in autumn 2019. 

 

Pathfinder 
Pathfinder West Sussex comprises an alliance of third sector and statutory sector 
providers and offers targeted mental health support services to patients and carers 
across Coastal West Sussex via a number of support hubs (covering Adur, Bognor, 
Chichester, Littlehampton, Midhurst, and Worthing). These support hubs provide a 
range of services including peer or group-based activities as well as advice, 
information, and signposting to other sources of support. 

 

Co-production is central to the ethos of Pathfinder ensuring that all governance 
structures, work streams, and forward plans reflect the user voice and include 
representation from often marginalised community networks or groups. 

 

2019/20 will see the further expansion of Pathfinder to include the development of a 
specific support hub in the Chanctonbury area. 

 

Other five year forward view for mental health deliverables 
Early Intervention in Psychosis 
The CCG continues to meet and exceed the national access and waiting time 
standards for Early Intervention in Psychosis or EIP thus ensuring that patients with 
a suspected first episode of psychosis are assessed and begin treatment within two 
weeks of first contact. 

 
A range of NICE concordant interventions are available to service users including 
tailored Cognitive Behavioural Therapy or CBT for people with psychosis, 
comprehensive physical health checks (including help to stop smoking), and family- 
based interventions. Services are not as well developed for service users over the 
age of 35 and this is reflected across the whole of Sussex and East Surrey. Plans 
are therefore in place at STP level to make the necessary service improvements. 

 

Physical Health Checks for Patients with Severe Mental Illness 
The CCG has developed a LCS which will support its constituent GP practices to 
deliver comprehensive physical health checks to active patients on Severe Mental 
Illness (SMI) registers. This will be launched in April 2019. 

 

Other STP commitments 
A number of programmes have been prioritised at STP level to be delivered during 
2019/20. These include 24/7 Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Teams and 
enhanced access to specialist perinatal mental health services. 

 

Improving maternity services 
Maternity services are facing an increasing challenge of improving outcomes in the 
context of increasing prevalence of risk factors while meeting the needs of women 
and their families. 

 
 
 
 

 
NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   I   ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 49 



The most recent IAF maternity indicators for NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG have 
identified that improvements are required for stillbirth and neonatal mortality rates 
and for the rate of smoking at the time of delivery (as maternal smoking increases 
the risk of stillbirth by 47% and is the greatest risk factor for perinatal mortality). 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is working to align maternity services locally to 
deliver the nationally mandated Better Births requirements. Four core target 
improvements we are aiming to meet for women and their children are: 

 

 Safety and perinatal mortality: reducing stillbirth and neonatal mortality rates 
by 20% by 2020 

 Reducing health inequalities and unwarranted variation: ensuring all women 
are offered high quality care regardless of geography, circumstance, or 
background 

 Improving access to perinatal mental health services: identifying early and 
supporting the mental health and wellbeing of women and families throughout 
the perinatal period, and 

 Improving maternal experience: working with women and their families to co- 
design services to provide a kind, caring, and personalised maternity journey. 

 
The CCG aims to reduce health inequalities and unwarranted variation in population 
demographics as these are known to be linked to poor access and worse pregnancy 
outcomes. Coastal West Sussex has a higher than national average rural population 
and higher percentage of older mothers (over 40 years of age). We know that rural 
populations have a higher risk of maternal morbidity, poor access to care including 
antenatal care, reduced choice in terms of birthplace, and increased risk of mental 
illness. Older mothers have an increased risk of complications including gestational 
diabetes, eclampsia, miscarriage, and growth restrictions. We have been working 
with system partners to ensure the needs of women accessing maternity services 
are met with the same offer for all women to reduce inequality and unwarranted 
variation. 

 

Acknowledging the critical role of patient involvement in supporting improvements to 
services we have been strengthening our links with women and putting them and 
their families at the heart of maternity services. Bringing together service users, 
providers, and commissioners across the STP through the Local Maternity System is 
critical to developing maternity services and will enable ongoing involvement and co- 
design of services through the Maternity Voice Partnerships (MVPs). MVPs are the 
long-term forum for service user engagement to play a continued role in the 
development of maternity services guided by the needs of local families. 

 

Working as part of the Local Maternity System will deliver the future vision for 
maternity services will have both short and long-term benefits: 

 

 Better staff and user satisfaction 

 Better value maternity services 

 Increased service sustainability 

 Improved population health, and 

 Improved safety and outcomes 
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The overall objective is to empower and enable all women to make real choices 
about their care supported by collaborative relationships with healthcare staff, 
access to care in the community, and ultimately services which are co-designed to 
meet their needs. 

 

Medicines management 
During 2018/19 the Medicines Management Team has been working on a number of 
areas to support patients getting the most from their medicines. This has included 
work streams focused on safe and effective prescribing. These include prescribing 
reviews for patients who are at higher risk of adverse effects due to the 
anticholinergic burden or at higher risk of developing acute kidney injury due to their 
current prescribing regimen; both have resulted in fewer patient being in these at risk 
groups. 

 
We have also been focusing on high dose opioid prescribing for patients with chronic 
pain ensuring that they are appropriately reviewed and that their prescriptions are 
optimised to get the best outcomes for the patient. 

 

Alongside the prescribing safety work streams we have also been focused on 
ensuring patients are getting the best value from their medicines from the right place 
at the right time. This has involved local implementation of the NHS England 
guidance on ‘Items which should not be routinely prescribed in primary care’ as well 
as the ‘Guidance on conditions for which over the counter items should not routinely 
be prescribed in primary care’. This has been incorporated into the self-care 
programme where we are encouraging our residents through promotional material 
and media campaigns to use health professionals such as community pharmacists 
for minor conditions which will free up GP time for more complex consultations. 
We have also successfully secured funding from NHS England for a Medicines 
Optimisation in Care Homes Service which will be delivered through our community 
provider from Quarter 4. 

 
We have also been working with our local acute trust and community provider to 
ensure we are getting the best value when prescribing high cost drugs with a 
particular focus on using the best value biological agents this year. 

 

Technology to empower patients 
Patient online 
The CCG is supporting GP practices in reaching the target of having 30% of patients 
registered for patient online services by providing training and support. Online 
services are being offered in addition to the traditional telephone and face-to-face 
means of interacting with a GP practice. Patients can choose the route they prefer. 

 
These services include: 

 

 Booking and cancelling appointments 

 Ordering repeat prescriptions, and 

 Viewing their GP record (which includes information about allergies, 
immunisations, diagnoses, medication, and test results). 
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Public Wi-Fi 
We are working on providing free, secure and consistent Wi-Fi services at practices. 
This will allow patients to be connected to the internet to access health and care 
information in order to: 

 Access Health Apps such as the new NHS App

 Access personal health records

 Interact with patient support networks

 Manage appointments and medication

 Manage conditions online, and

 Use health-based information services.

The project is being completed jointly as a single approach across neighbouring 
CCGs with a selected IT provider. 

As the range of digital services available increases this will enable patients to take 
control of their own health and care online. 

Clinical portal 
When attending hospital we want patients to avoid repeating tests or receiving 
additional prescribing that they do not benefit from.  We want to improve patient 
safety with less need for patients to remember and recite their medical history and 
medications. Particularly for older people with two or more conditions, or perhaps 
struggling with dementia, we wanted sufficient clinical system interoperability to allow 
hospital services to be informed or the care the patient was already receiving in 
primary care. 

ROCI (Read Only Care Information) is a clinical portal developed by NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG for use in unscheduled care settings. It allows secondary care 
clinicians to see something of the primary care record, as well as mental health crisis 
plans and community care referrals. 
We have worked with colleagues at WSHFT to allow, subject to patient consent, to 
make the ROCI information available from within hospital systems. 

Urgent care 
Our local urgent and emergency care services are facing ever increasing demand 
and changing patterns of disease. Local evidence shows that significant numbers of 
patients are still receiving care in hospitals that could be delivered in the community 
setting. These findings are in line with national trends. 

Demand for non-elective care continued to rise throughout 2018/19. Urgent care 
transformation remains a key element of the CCG’s strategic direction around 
integrated partnership working. During 2018/19 the Urgent Care Team has worked 
across Coastal and pan-Sussex to develop transformation programmes to meet 
national and local requirements to improve urgent care services for our population. 
This year the team has progressed work on the discharge improvement programme 
including the step up/step down programme. 
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The team has worked closely with system partners across Sussex and East Surrey 
to develop a new model of Integrated Urgent Care to meet local needs in line with 
national requirements. By October 2019 this model will integrate provision of: 

 Urgent treatment centres

 Out of hours visiting service, and

 Improved access hubs across primary care.

These Improved Access Hubs were mobilised across Coastal West Sussex from 
October 2018. The service has provided an additional 15,109 primary care 
appointments during October, November, and December 2018. 

During 2018/19 the multi-agency Discharge Improvement Programme continued to 
develop. This programme includes the nationally recommended High Impact 
Changes and the local priorities included: 

 The roll out of the discharge to assess pathways. This included continuing the
use of healthcare discharge to assess beds and the development of the
‘better at home’ model. WSCC also has discharge to assess beds in place
reducing the time people spend awaiting social care assessment whilst being
medically fit for discharge from the acute trust

 Trusted Assessment is in place between the acute trust and the providers of
community beds. It is also used for WSCC’s discharge to assess beds. This
streamlines the discharge process by ensuring relevant information is shared
in a timely manner to expedite discharge, and

 The ‘Let’s Get You Home’ campaign is fully embedded in the acute and
community beds. This aims to support patients to find onward care when they
no longer need an acute bed to reduce delays.

The priority is the development of our discharge to assess model called ‘better at 
home’. This will ensure people can go back to their own home when they are 
medically fit with the right care in place for them. This will be developed further at a 
local level including WSCC’s own programme for step up / step down capacity. Work 
already underway locally regarding this at Midhurst community hospital. 

Stroke 
Stroke is both a local and national priority with the overall aim of removing or 
reducing unwarranted variation in outcomes for stroke patients through the full 
delivery of the National Stroke Service specification. 

A specification and business case have been developed for a LCS aiming to improve 
the identification, diagnosis, risk stratification, and optimal management of people 
with atrial fibrillation (AF) in order to reduce the risk of AF-related stroke events and 
known complications (such as heart failure, premature mortality, reduced quality of 
life, and vascular dementia). 
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A Stroke Case for Change Engagement event held in March 2019 brought together 
key stakeholders to improve engagement and ensure a shared understanding of the 
drivers for service improvement. The outputs will inform the Stroke Case for Change 
that will be taken forward in 2019/20. 

Specific delivery ambitions for 2019/20 incorporated into the CCG Business Plan and 
also the emerging ICP agreement for next year: 

 Prevention measures including detection, management and recording of AF
and optimal use of anti-coagulations therapies

 Commissioning and implementation of stroke Early Supported Discharge
(ESD)

 Commissioning and implementation of 6-monthly review for stroke survivors,
and

 An ESD Clinical Engagement workshop held in March 2019 to start mapping
ESD pathways and to understand any gaps in service provision and
resources and to inform the future service model. A weekly project group is
now in place.

The thrombolysis service at St Richard’s Hospital was expanded in 2018/19 to 
provide cover 24/7 so that patients no longer need to be taken to Queen Alexandra 
Hospital at Portsmouth. The ongoing work to deliver the national service 
specification will ensure seven day working across the inpatient stroke pathway. The 
CCG is working with system partners to develop and implement an early supported 
discharge pathway as a priority. 

System resilience 
This is a key piece of work to manage demand in urgent care to ensure safe, 
sustainable services. The winter plan for 2018/19 was developed with all health and 
care system partners including agreeing the best use of resilience funding. 
The team worked closely across the system to prepare for surges in demand 
particularly during winter in line with NHS England requirements. We have a real- 
time data system, SHREWD, fully embedded locally and this is used to report the 
system status on a daily basis to NHS England. The team coordinates the sharing of 
good practice, lessons learnt, and key system risks and their associated mitigations 
to improve system resilience. 

Planned care 
The priorities for the Planned Care Team for 2018/19 were to manage demand for 
planned care services and to ensure that pathways were clinically effective and 
delivered in a timely and affordable way thereby reducing waiting times for patients. 

Clinically Effective Commissioning programme (CEC) 

We have been working with our commissioning colleagues across the STP on the 
CEC programme. This programme aims to improve the effectiveness and value for 
money of healthcare services by ensuring that commissioning decisions are 
consistent, are in line with the latest clinical evidence, and represent the most 
sensible use of limited resources. 
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It is anticipated CEC will bring the following: 
 

Expected outcomes and benefits of the CEC Programme 

 

Benefits Outcomes 

 Reduced variation in clinical 
practice 

 Improving outcomes (reducing rate of 
complications, readmissions; 
improvement in benchmarked position in 
terms of Right Care outcomes) 

 Maximise use of resource and 
focus interventions which have 
the highest health benefits 

 Reducing resource utilisation (overall 
reduction in the number of interventions 
not routinely commissioned) 

 Improved joint working across 
STP/Sussex CCGs 

 Improved adherence to clinical policies 
where we have thresholds in place - 
measurable by clinical audit or other tools 

 
A review of current CCG clinical policies was concluded in July 2018 and some 
changes have already been implemented this year. Our current commissioning 
policies are available on the CCG’s website at 
https://www.coastalwestsussexccg.nhs.uk/clinically-effective-commissioning . 

 

South East Coast Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust 
In October 2018 the CCGs across 
Kent, Surrey and Sussex came 
together with South East Coast 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust (SECAmb) to announce plans 
for a major programme of work that 
will improve care for patients across 
Kent, Surrey and Sussex, and North 
East Hampshire. 

 

The commissioners committed to 
additional investment in ambulance 
services, starting with £10million in 
2018/19, with similar levels of 
investment over the next two years. The additional investment will see an 
improvement plan in place that will: 

 

 Ensure the service has the right number of staff, with the right skills, to meet 
the changing needs of its patients 

 Improve the service’s fleet of vehicles, to ensure we have the right number 
and type of vehicles available to respond to all categories of call, and 
significantly increase the number of front-line ambulance staff on the road and 
in its Emergency Operations Centres. 
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Part of these improvement will also see SECAmb working to improve response times 
including in rural areas. 

We are also working closely with SECAmb to deliver a number of other 
improvements. These include: 

 Continued focus on reducing hospital handover delays; these increased over
the winter period due to additional pressures but performance in this area has
now improved

 Continued improvement in performance relating to how emergency calls are
answered and handled, with 80% of calls now being answered within just five
seconds and plans to achieve 95% by June 2019

 Further work with the trust to support recruitment

 Updating the 2019/20 service specification to ensure the same level of service
is provided across the whole geography of the contract, ensuring a fair and
equitable service for the whole population.

Patient transport service 
The Patient Transport Service is a non-emergency service provided for medically- 
eligible residents of Sussex who require support in getting to their appointments. 

A contract for patient transport with a former provider was terminated early in 
2016/17 due to failure to perform the service adequately. Additional costs were 
incurred over and above the contract price of circa £7m funding the continuation of 
the service until a replacement provider was in place. NHS High Weald Lewes 
Havens CCG, on behalf of the STP CCGs, is currently seeking to recover these 
additional costs by calling upon the former provider’s parent company under a 
guarantee to remedy performance and / or to reimburse the costs. The matter is in 
the hands of the CCG’s solicitors who have confirmed that all costs fall within the 
remit of the Parent Company Guarantee. 

The current contract with South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS) is now in its 
second year and responsibility for its management transferred from NHS High Weald 
Lewes Havens CCG to NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG on behalf of all of the STP 
CCGs on 1 November 2018. The process is integrated through a Sussex-wide 
Programme Board and a contract review process involving all of the CCGs. 

The operational and quality performance on the contract has been maintained and in 
some areas improved in 2018/19 compared with 2017/18. The levels of complaints 
and incidents remain relatively low for a contract of this size. There are still 
challenging areas within the contract on which the CCGs are working with SCAS to 
improve further particularly around call answering, discharges, and transfers. 
Discussions are also underway regarding potential service improvement for the last 
year of the contract and the longer term procurement options. 
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Engaging people and communities 

 
We have a duty to ensure the services we 
commission meet the needs of our local 
population; we engage with and involve 
patients, carers and the public in our work in 
order to make sure the services we commission 
are responsive to need and deliver the best 
possible standards of care. We also build local 
networks and partnerships in order to extend 
reach, and work collaboratively with 
communities and partners to ensure we seek 
as many views as possible. 

 
Over the past year, our CCG has also been working closely with the other seven 
CCGs in Sussex and East Surrey to align strategic engagement activities. Working 
together with NHS Brighton and Hove, NHS Crawley, NHS East Surrey, NHS 
Hastings and Rother, NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG, NHS Horsham and Mid 
Sussex and NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCGs we have been able to 
share good practice, resources, and lead consistent engagement with our 
communities. 

 

NHS England assessment of our Patient and 
Community Engagement 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has completed the self-assessment process for its 
review of patient and community engagement in 2018/19. We have built on last 
year’s rating of good and have submitted a ‘green star’ (excellent) rating for the last 
twelve months. The assessment looks at assurance of public and patient 
engagement, engagement in our governance processes, and how we promote and 
publicise engagement in our commissioning plans. In particular, we have highlighted 
the development of the LCNs and the progress that has been made in terms of local 
engagement plans, and the work that the CCG is doing with its partners and 
providers to share engagement plans and cooperate on engagement with the local 
population. The assessment process results are due in July 2019. 

 

Public Engagement Committee 

Our Public Engagement Committee was in place at the start of 2018/19 as a formal 
committee of the Governing Body. It provided oversight and assurance on public and 
patient engagement within the commissioning process, ensuring that we successfully 
engaged and communicated with patients and the public around key service 
changes and issues facing the organisation. It also held the NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG to account in ensuring it complied with the Equality Act 2010. 
In 2018/19 the Public Engagement Committee scrutinised plans including the CCG’s 
Business Plan, the development of LCNs, integrated urgent care, medicines 
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management, and CEC. It has provided valuable insight and comment on cancer 
campaigns, over the counter medicines engagement, and GP Improved Access. 

 

Following a review of the CCG’s governance processes, it was agreed to change the 
way that engagement is assured at the CCG, with responsibility formally sitting with 
the Quality Committee and then reporting to the Governing Body to align processes 
across Sussex and East Surrey. Members attended the final meeting in December 
2018, and were all formally thanked for the invaluable contribution that they had 
made. A partnership forum is also being developed to provide a conduit for feedback 
from community groups, public members and the voluntary sector to the CCG, and 
to provide insight into public engagement plans. This is due to go live in 2019/20. 

 

Recruitment of public and patient members 

The CCG actively recruits public members by open competition to sit on key 
meetings to ensure that the voices of patients and the public are heard; these 
include locality boards, steering groups and some procurement meetings. Public 
member roles currently include support for the NHS 111 programme and discharge 
improvement. 

 

Public members provide a vital role in these groups to ensure that the patient’s voice 
is at the centre, challenge from a public perspective and help to share 
communication and engagement plans. Further to this, a key focus this year has 
been the recruitment of public members to sit on, and be part of, the LCN boards 
across the LCNs. This ensures patient’s voice is at the centre of these emerging 
discussions. Each LCN has also been developing its own patient and public board 
and the public member is at the centre of these patient and public boards. 

 

Big Health and Care Conversation 

In 2018/19, we continued our Big Health and Care Conversation within our 
communities in Coastal West Sussex. The engagement programme aimed to 
engage with local people about the challenges facing health and social care, and 
how these can be addressed. Importantly the Big Conversation also brought together 
partners to lead the discussions and engagement, and was co-owned with WSCC 
and Public Health. We held large scale events where attendees had the opportunity 
to express views and ideas in relation to the challenges, our key commissioning 
areas, and where improvements can be made.  We also took the Big Conversation 
out to the local communities to gather further feedback. We produced a summary 
report, showing where we have taken, or plan to take, action as a result. 
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Health and Care, Our Future 

In January 2019 the NHS Long Term Plan was published and from that NHS 
England has asked CCGs to develop local plans that will deliver the aims of the long 
term plan for our local population. In addition, the “Population Health Check” was 
published in Sussex and East Surrey, providing a diagnostic on the health needs of 
our populations. We have been engaging with local people and organisations across 
Sussex and East Surrey in a coordinated and aligned way about what this means for 
them, and which areas they think should be prioritised, linking in with the 10 areas of 
focus highlighted within the NHS Long Term Plan. This builds on the feedback from 
the Big Health and Care Conversation, and provides the foundation for further 
engagement to develop local plans later in 2019/20. 

Engagement in commissioning 

We have continued to ensure that we put the views of patients, carers and the public 
at the centre of our commissioning; we systematically engage with patients, carers 
and the public to inform our planning and commissioning work. We record all our 
engagement activities and listening events, and proactively manage feedback to 
ensure it informs commissioning decisions and activity. 

Over the past year, we have sought feedback on services including: 

 Community services in Midhurst and the surrounding area

 GP access in Littlehampton

 Improved GP Access

 Maternity services

 Mental health in patient services for dementia and older people, and

 Services when you need help urgently (urgent treatment centres)

Supporting our staff to understand the need for engagement is important; and we 
have carried out engagement training within the commissioning teams across NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG, who support the embedding of high quality and 
appropriate engagement in our work. 

Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) 
Our CCG continues to work closely with Patient Participation Groups (PPG) across 
Coastal West Sussex. More than 85% of our GP practices have a PPG. We provide 
bi-annual networking and information gathering events for PPG representatives, 
which are well attended and allow members to come together share best practice, 
receive updates from the CCG and co-design new areas of improvement, such as 
lessons learnt for practice closures which was developed this year. 

Communities, neighbourhoods and partnerships 
We have continued to build on existing work in communities across the area. We 
have expanded our network of contacts and have used this to seek feedback about 
health and wellbeing information and to extend invitations to be involved in our work. 
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We have built on our existing links with WSCC, Healthwatch West Sussex , local 
parish and district councils and key local voluntary community groups, in order to 
maximise opportunities for a collaborative approach to engagement and to extend 
our reach across the wide geography of the area. 

 

Engaging with diverse groups 
We know there are groups and communities in Coastal West Sussex who do not 
engage with us through our regular methods; it is particularly important that we do 
take steps to seek these views, as these groups often comprise people who have 
existing health inequalities, or inequity of access to health and care services. 

 

We work closely with groups and forums that can help us reach and hear from those 
who do not engage through our usual methods, building on our principle that we 
should “go to” our communities to seek their views and feedback, or work with 
trusted intermediaries to do so. 

 

As part of the NHS Equality Delivery System we engaged with over 14 different 
voluntary organisations representing different groups of people, including those with 
disabilities, the LGBTQ community, the Eastern European Community, parents of 
disabled children, people with sensory impairment, young people and adults affected 
by mental health issues, people with learning disabilities, carers and the homeless. 

 

Keeping patients, carers and the public informed 
We continue to develop and grow our ePanel, a virtual group of 
local people who have expressed interest in working with us 
through sharing views and becoming more closely involved. This 
not only informs commissioners about the views of those using 
local health and care services, but provides active engagement 
in our ongoing work. We regularly send a monthly newsletter to 
keep people informed about our work and provide information on 
engagement opportunities and wider community initiatives that 
support health and wellbeing. 

 

We use a variety of other tools to keep patients and the public informed of our work 
and to promote involvement opportunities, including our public website, newsletters, 
Facebook, Twitter and YouTube. 

 
Over the past year, we have posted approximately 100 tweets on the CCG’s Twitter 
account, promoting a range of campaigns including #HelpMyNHS and 
#StopOctober. We shared approximately 100 items on the CCGs’ Facebook 
accounts, raising awareness of Evening and Weekend GP Appointments, NHS 111, 
and Change4Life. 
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Reducing health inequalities 

 
The CCG has a duty to reduce health inequalities and our health needs analysis of 
the CCG’s population seeks to understand the causes of health inequalities and to 
find ways of addressing these. These have been reflected in our JSNA and in our 
business plans for 2018/19 and will be further built on in 2019/20. 

 
Inclusion has been a significant focus of work across all of the eight CCGs cross 
Sussex and East Surrey during 2018/19, including NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
with a high level of system development, staff engagement, and training regarding 
equalities and health inequalities taking place during the reporting period. The 
highlights of this are: 

 

 Mandated staff engagement events to review organisational performance 
relating to equalities and culture

 Leadership development via the hosting of a Compassionate and Inclusive 
Leadership Conference for all managers at Band 8a and above

 Participation in Inclusion Week 2018: The CCGs developed a range of 
corporate communications to promote inclusion throughout the CCGs during 
Inclusion Week 2018, and

 A corporate drive to encourage all employees to update their personal details 
on the Electronic Staff Record so that the organisation is more aware of the 
diversity of the workforce which will inform strategic planning.

 

Building on this good work, an Inclusion Strategy will be developed over the summer 
months which outlines the CCGs’ collective strategic intent and outlines key priority 
areas for the period 2019-2023. In addition to the focus on developing an inclusive 
and diverse workforce, the strategy will also address how we optimise 
commissioning levers to address the inclusion agenda and health inequalities across 
our wider population. 

 

Population 

Understanding the sociodemographic profile of an area is important when planning 
services. Different population groups may have different health and social care 
needs and are likely to interact with services in different ways. 

 
Coastal West Sussex has fewer young people aged 0-19 years compared to the 
whole of West Sussex and England. It also has above average number of people 
aged 65 and over, and 75 and over when compared to the county of West Sussex 
and England overall. 

 

Current population projections for NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG are estimating an 
overall population increase of 8.3% over the next ten years and a 16.2% increase 
over the next two decades. 
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The most up to date data and our best estimates show: 
 

 8% are from a BAME including White Other, White Irish and Gypsy and Irish 
Traveller background 

 25.5% report a disability that limits day to day activity 

 54% provide weekly unpaid care 

 6% students in full time education 

 56 rough sleepers, and 

 Higher percentage than England for both over 65’s and under whom live 
alone. 

 

Age profile of population 
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Reducing health inequalities with our partners 
Our CCG had equality objectives in place for 2018/19: 

 Better health outcomes for all - developing a better understanding of the
CCG’s local population, their healthcare needs and addressing any barriers
that may be preventing some communities from accessing services

 Improved patient access and experience - making tangible improvement to
access and patient experience

 A representative and supported workforce - working towards developing a
representative workforce, understand their needs and providing support
appropriate to their needs, and

 Inclusive leadership at all levels - working towards ownership of equalities
agenda, exercise compassionate leadership and holding individuals to
account at all levels within Coastal West Sussex and beyond.

The latest Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) highlights the challenges we 
face, and has been central to our CCG’s business planning for 2018/19. Some of the 
areas of work we have focused on in 2018/19 are: 

Prevention 
Our CCG recognises that the challenges we face in terms of health inequalities 
require a focus on prevention and early intervention. Health inequalities are 
inextricably linked to health and wellbeing, particularly around health behaviours 
(such as smoking, alcohol, and physical activity levels). What makes us healthy also 
often lies outside the remit of healthcare and formal public health programmes, such 
as the availability of housing, green spaces, environment, families and peer 
networks, and work and skills. 

The latest JSNA highlights the challenges we face; for example whilst life 
expectancy overall has increased there are considerable differences in life 
expectancy between our poorest and most affluent areas. In addition some of the 
areas in Coastal experience significant levels of children living in poverty. Our work 
on prevention is therefore heavily influenced by and focused upon working with 
those individuals, families, and communities that experience disadvantage the most. 

Through our LCNs there has been a focus on social isolation, mental health and 
wellbeing in CYP, and support for homeless people across Coastal West Sussex. All 
programmes have made positive progress and will continue into 2019/20. 

Access to urgent care services 
There are large inequalities in the rate of unplanned hospital admissions for chronic 
ambulatory care sensitive and urgent care sensitive conditions when comparing the 
most and least deprived areas nationally. This is a national indicator that is included 
in NHS England’s IAF 2018/19. This indicator reflects variations in the quality of 
management of long-term conditions in primary, community and outpatient care as 
well as urgent care. 

In relation to these identified inequalities the Transformation Programme in West 
Sussex continues to work towards an integrated model to be rolled out during 
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2019/20 for those with urgent care needs. Improved Access Hubs, providing 
additional GP and nurse appointments in the evenings and weekends, have been 
rolled out across Coastal West Sussex to ensure there is better access to both 
primary care and urgent care appointments so that people can access the care they 
need in a timely manner closer to home. 

 

Learning disability health checks 
Learning Disability Health Checks are part of the GPTA and this year there has been 
a focus from NHS England to actively encourage people with learning disabilities to 
have an NHS Health Check. The CCG has led media work and a social media 
campaign to locally promote this message, and made information about NHS Health 
Checks widely available in local communities and with key partners. 

 

Equality 

Introduction 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 introduced the first legal duties about health 
inequalities. It included specific duties for health bodies including the Department of 
Health, Public Health England, CCGs, and NHS England, which require the bodies 
to have due regard to reducing health inequalities between the people of England. 

 

The Equality Act 2010 established equality duties for all public sector bodies which 
aim to integrate consideration of the advancement of equality into the day-to-day 
business of all bodies subject to the duty. 

 

In particular, the Equality Act 2010 introduced a new, legal, Public Sector Equality 
Duty (PSED) requiring public bodies to declare their compliance with the duty on an 
annual basis. This means that as a CCG we must show compliance with both the 
general and specific duties of the PSED. 
In the exercise of its functions, for the general duty we must have due regard to the 
need to: 

 
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it, and

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

 

Protected characteristics – in the context of the PSED – are defined as age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race – this includes ethnic 
or national origins, colour or nationality, religion or belief – this includes lack of belief, 
sex (male and female), and sexual orientation. 
For the specific duty we are required to: 

 

 Publish information to demonstrate compliance with the general duty

 Publish data on the make-up of our workforce

 Publish data on those affected by our policies and procedures, and

 Publish one or more equality objectives covering a 4 year period.
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We are committed to embedding equality and diversity values into our policies, 
procedures, employment practice and the commissioning processes that secure 
health and social care for the people of Coastal West Sussex. You can read more 
about how we meet the PSED on our website: www.coastalwestsussexccg.nhs.uk 

 

Equality Impact Assessments 
Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) help demonstrate that an organisation is giving 
due regard to equality when developing and implementing changes to strategy, 
policy, and practice. 

 
The eight Sussex and East Surrey CCGs have reviewed the way in which EIAs are 
completed and managed and made significant improvements to the overall process 
during 2018/19. Further training will be delivered during 2019 to ensure all relevant 
managers are fully knowledgeable and skilled in applying the new processes. 

 

Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) 
The EDS2 is a framework that helps NHS organisations to improve the services they 
commission or provide for their local communities; it also considers health 
inequalities in our locality. EDS2 also provides evidence of better working 
environments, free of discrimination, for those who work in the NHS. 

 

On receiving advice from NHS England the CCGs across Sussex and East Surrey 
have undertaken a combined EDS2 assessment during Quarter 4 of 2018/19 when 
several services were assessed within domain 1 (Better Health Outcomes) and 
domain 2 (Improved Patient Access and Experience). 

 

Investment in inclusion experts 
The leadership team has stated that evidencing best practice inclusion and reducing 
health inequalities are key organisational priorities. To support this, the organisation 
has invested in senior managerial leadership for the inclusion programme and in an 
Equalities and Diversity Manager to ensure that best practice is developed 
throughout the organisation and that our reporting on our performance relating to 
legal obligations and NHS Standards is of the highest quality. 

 

Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
Workforce Race Equality Standard reports have been developed for all of the CCGs 
in 2018/19 across Sussex and East Surrey, including NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG. For 2019/20 we will work with the other Sussex and East Surrey CCGs to 
produce one single report and action plan. 

 

Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES) 
The Sussex and East Surrey CCGs, including NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, 
received a presentation from NHS Employers on the Standard which comes into 
effect on 1 April 2019. Although not statutorily obliged to do so for the period 
2018/19, the eight Sussex and East Surrey CCGs, including NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG have agreed to publish their collective WDES data and develop an 
action plan in response to the findings. 
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Gender Pay 
Although individually CCGs were below the threshold of staff for mandatory 
reporting, five of the eight CCGs across Sussex and East Surrey, including NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG in 2018/19 committed to reviewing and publishing their 
gender pay differential during 2018/19. Staff were invited to workshops held in 
various sites to hear about the gender pay gap and to explore what the CCGs might 
do to understand and address this differential. It is planned that a cross- 
organisational network for women will be established and a more consistent 
approach to flexible and agile working rolled out across the CCGs during 2019/20. 

The Sussex and East Surrey Staff Equality Network 
To support staff across the eight Sussex and East Surrey CCGs, including NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG and to progress the equality work programme, the 
Sussex and East Surrey Staff Equality Network (SEN) has been established and met 
for the first time in January 2019. There has been a series of appointments of 
members of staff, who had expressed an interest to one of the leadership roles 
across key areas – mental health, physical disabilities, race equality, learning 
disabilities, sexual orientation, and religion and belief. We are committed to making 
the SEN fully representative of the whole organisation, and are in the process of 
appointing a Chair and Vice Chair. 

STP Engagement and Equalities Group 
Set up in March 2018 this group looks at the engagement activity across at the 
Sussex and East Surrey STP, in particular in relation to cross organisational work 
programmes. Membership of the group includes lay members across the CCGs in 
the Sussex and East Surrey STP, Governors of the NHS Foundation Trusts, 
Healthwatch, voluntary and community sector members, local authority 
representatives, patient experts, equality and diversity specialist, and patient and 
carer members. 

West Sussex Minorities Health and Social Care Group 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is a member of this countywide group which serves 
as a link into local communities helping people from BAME communities discuss 
core health and social care themes and inform the development of services. The 
membership includes representation from voluntary and community sector 
organisations and all three West Sussex CCGs. During 2018/19 work programmes 
have been identified including health prevention, Learning Disability preventive 
services, Accessible Information, and violence against women and girls. 
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BAME Health and Social Care Needs Assessment in West Sussex 
The CCG has worked with WSCC to better understand the needs of residents using 
health, social care and other services. The focus was on the needs of BAME groups 
within West Sussex. In particular, the aim was to: 

 

 Obtain a detailed understanding of the wellbeing and health and social care 
needs of the BAME population 

 Identify gaps in service provision and the extent to which existing services 
meet the needs of the population 

 Determine the barriers and enablers to accessing services and exploring what 
changes are required in order for those barriers to be overcome, and 

 Identify priorities for action and indicators for monitoring progress towards 
change. 
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Health and wellbeing strategy 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has two seats on the West Sussex Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB) which has been established as a statutory committee of 
West Sussex County Council (WSCC) and is the body responsible for leading on 
improving the co-ordination of commissioning across NHS, social care, and public 
health services. The HWB brings together elected council members, leaders from 
the NHS, social care, and the voluntary sector to work together and support one 
another to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population and to reduce 
health inequalities. A major responsibility is the development of the health and social 
care needs assessment referred to as the JSNA. 

The JSNA identifies the health and wellbeing needs of the people of West Sussex 
and the results are used to inform local commissioning of services to create a more 
effective and responsive local health and care system. 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG engages and consults regularly on both a formal 
and an informal basis with the HWB, its membership, and it’s Chair. In particular we 
consult with the HWB on our strategies and plans and how these contribute to the 
delivery of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for West Sussex. 

The West Sussex Director of Public Health formally presented the draft West Sussex 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy at the Governing Body meeting held in January 2019 
and the final draft West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Strategy at the Governing 
Body meeting held in March 2019. 

Joint commissioning 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG continues to commission services in partnership 
with NHS Crawley CCG, NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG, and WSCC. Joint 
commissioning is delivered and managed through the Joint Commissioning and 
Partnerships Directorate that works across partner organisations and includes: 

 Services for Learning Disabled adults

 Community and Mental Health services for CYP

 Community Equipment Services, and

 The BCF Partnerships report through the Joint Commissioning Strategy
Group to the Health and Wellbeing Board as well as to the three West Sussex
CCGs and WSCC.

Our partnership and joint commissioning arrangements across West Sussex are an 
important part of our journey towards health and social care integration. We have 
many examples of jointly commissioned services delivering integrated care to 
patients and service users and we have the strategic intent to develop further jointly 
commissioned, integrated services. 
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This year we have worked closely together as three CCGs and WSCC to review and 
strengthen the governance structure required to support the high-level joint 
commissioning strategy. New areas for collaboration and integration have been 
identified which, together with the use of the BCF, will support further system-wide 
collaboration and transformation. 

Learning disability 

The services for Learning Disability (adults) are integrated and commissioned 
through a pooled budget between NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, NHS Crawley 
CCG, and WSCC. The pooled budget predominantly funds packages of care for 
individually eligible customers. Increasing numbers of customers and rising costs of 
provision have placed considerable pressure on this service and presented 
challenges for providers to respond to the increasing complexity of need and 
demand. Despite the volatility and vulnerability of the care market, the joint 
commissioning partnership has continued to support services that are integrated at 
the point of delivery for our Learning Disabled customers. 

West Sussex Better Care Fund 

The West Sussex BCF is a partnership across the West Sussex CCGs and WSCC. 
In 2018/19 the pooled budget totalled £78.27m which included funding for 
Maintaining Social Care, Care Act, Carers, and Disabled Facilities Grant. 

The West Sussex BCF programme continued to focus on three core areas of work: 
Crisis Management, Long Term Conditions, and Prevention. These themes align to 
the strategic direction of addressing a frailty plan overall without age boundaries. The 
BCF schemes continued to provide joined-up proactive care via multi-disciplinary 
teams, improve hospital discharge, and also support the specific needs of carers. 
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Sustainable development 

During 2018/19 the eight CCGs in Sussex and East Surrey, including NHS Coastal 

West Sussex CCG have begun to collaborate more deeply. This has enabled a 

greater scale of planning and purchasing, so that the more sustainable systems can 

be used by all. 

There has been a move to rely heavily on teleconferencing, and Skype for Business 

is being rolled out to all areas. This is a piece of software, installed onto laptops 

which has not required the purchase of additional computers for staff. It allows 

meetings to be held from remote locations, so that staff no longer need to travel to 

attend, which is especially important on the larger footprint. It saves the travel time 

as well as reducing the need for fuel and transportation. The uptake of this 

technology will continue next year, when the software will be rolled out in to all areas 

and the cultural changes from remote working will become embedded. 

The uptake of teleconferencing has also enabled a new approach to work to be 

developed with staff. This approach includes greater flexibility in working locations 

and times, to avoid staff needing to travel long distances if work can be done more 

locally or at home. It also allows staff to avoid peak periods, such as rush hours, 

which reduces travel times and pollution. The approach has been successfully used 

in this year and will be rolled out more formally in the year to come. 

This move to new, digital technologies has continued with the Governing Bodies and 

the Committees. These used to be heavily paper-reliant, with large packs of papers 

sent out to Governing Body members on a monthly basis. During the year all CCGs 

have moved to a single digital system for organising and delivering the documents, 

with reports available immediately on line. This saves the cost of printing, the use of 

paper, and the expenditure of posting and transporting packs of documents around 

the patch.  It provides a more sustainable approach to the administration of the 

CCGs and demonstrates the organisational intent to create streamlined, sustainable 

solutions for the organisations. 

By working across the CCGs, we have been able to improve the use of the estate in 

two ways. Firstly, we have disposed of buildings that are no longer fit for healthcare 

purposes so they can be re-used or redeveloped by other sectors. Secondly, we 

have successfully been able to fill vacant space in under-occupied premises and 

better use the utilities that support these buildings. 

Performance Report 

Adam Doyle 

Accountable Officer 

28 May 2019 

1-0
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Corporate Governance Report: 
A year in Governance 

Members’ Report 

The CCG membership is comprised of each of the 47 GP practices within the 
boundaries of NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG. Each practice falls within one of the 
CCGs six localities which are in turn represented by a GP who is a member of the 
Governing Body. 

The practices which make up the membership of NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 
including the locality of which they are a member are shown below: 

Practice name Address 

Adur Locality 6 GP Surgeries or Practices 

The Ball Tree Surgery Western Road North, Sompting 

Harbour View Healthcare The Health Centre, Pond Road, Shoreham by Sea 

The Manor Practice Southwick Street, Southwick 

New Pond Row Surgery 35, South Street, Lancing 

Northbourne Medical Centre Eastern Avenue, Shoreham by Sea 

The Orchard Surgery Penstone Park, Lancing 

Arun Locality 6 GP Surgeries or Practices 

The Coppice and Angmering 
Medical Centre 

The Coppice Surgery, Herne Lane, Rustington and 
Angmering Medical Centre, Station Rd, Angmering 

Fitzalan Medical Group Fitzalan Road, Littlehampton 
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Practice name Address 

 

The Lawns Surgery 
Zachary Merton Hospital, Glenville Road, 
Rustington 

The Park Surgery St Flora’s Road Littlehampton 

Westcourt Medical Centre 12 The Street, Rustington 

Willow Green Surgery Station Road, East Preston 

Cissbury Locality 10 GP Surgeries or Practices 

The Barn Surgery 22 Ferring Street, Ferring 

Broadwater Medical Centre 5-11 Broadwater Boulevard, Worthing 

Cornerways Surgery 145, George V Avenue, Worthing 

The Lime Tree Surgery Lime Tree Avenue, Findon Valley, Worthing 

The Phoenix Surgery 64, Sea Lane, Goring by Sea 

Selden Medical Centre 6, Selden Road, Worthing 

St Lawrence Surgery 79, St Lawrence Avenue, Worthing 

The Strand Medical Group 2-6 The Strand, Goring by Sea 

Victoria Road Surgery 50, Victoria Road, Worthing 

Worthing Medical Group 23, Shelley Road, Worthing 

Chanctonbury Locality 4 GP Surgeries or Practices 

Billingshurst Surgery The Surgery, Roman Way, Billingshurst 

Glebe Surgery Monastery Lane, Storrington 

Henfield Medical Centre Deer Park, Henfield 
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Practice name Address 

Steyning Health Centre Tanyard Lane, Steyning 

Chichester Locality 12 GP Surgeries or Practices 

Cathedral Medical Group Cawley Road, Chichester 

Langley House Surgery 27 West Street, Chichester 

Lavant Road Surgery 8, Lavant Road, Chichester 

Loxwood Medical Practice Farm Close, Loxwood 

Parklands Surgery 4, Parklands Road, Chichester 

Petworth Surgery Grove Street, Petworth 

Pulborough Medical Group Spiro Close, Pulborough 

Riverbank Medical Centre Dodsley Lane, Midhurst 

Selsey Medical Practice Selsey Medical Centre, High Street, Selsey 

Southbourne Surgery 337, Main Road, Southbourne 

Tangmere Medical Centre Malcolm Road, Tangmere, Chichester 

Witterings Medical Centre Cakeham Road, East Wittering 

Regis Locality 9 GP Surgeries or Practices 

The Arundel Surgery Green Lane Close, Arundel 

Avisford Medical Group North End Road, Yapton, Arundel 

Bersted Green Surgery 32 Durlston Drive, Bognor Regis 

Bognor Medical Practice West Street, Bognor Regis 

The Croft Practice Barnham Road, Eastergate, Chichester 

Flansham Park Health 
Centre 

109 Flansham Park, Bognor Regis 

Grove House Surgery 80 Pryors Lane, Bognor Regis 

Maywood Healthcare Centre 225 Hawthorn Road, Bognor Regis 

West Meads Surgery 2-6 The Precinct, West Meads, Bognor Regis
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During the course of the year there have been no practice closures within Coastal 

West Sussex and no new practice has opened. 

Our Governing Body 
The CCG is accountable to every patient and member of our local community in the 
Coastal West Sussex area. 

Each of our GP member practices are responsible for the decisions we make as a 
CCG. They have delegated their authority for these decisions to a number of groups 
who meet regularly. 

Our main formal meeting is the Governing Body which oversees and directs the work 
of NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG; ensuring our activities meet the best standards 
of quality for the local population. The Governing Body has responsibility for ensuring 
that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently, and economically and in accordance with the principles of 
good governance. 

In particular the Governing Body is responsible for overseeing the delivery of the 
CCG’s business and financial plans, for leading and setting the strategy for the CCG, 
and for being accountable for the delivery of its functions as a statutory body. 

The details of the CCG’s governance structures can be found in the NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG Constitution and which can be found on our website at 
https://www.coastalwestsussexccg.nhs.uk/key-documents. 

Details of the CCG Committee structure, membership, and attendance at 
Committees are outlined in the Annual Governance Statement. This includes the 
Audit and Assurance Committee which is a key part of the oversight and assurance 
functions of the CCG. 

The members of the Governing Body at the end of 2018/19 are shown below. 
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Gill Galliano, Acting Lay Chair and Lay Member, Finance and Performance 

Gill Galliano is NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG's Acting 
Lay Chair and has fulfilled this role since July 2018.  Prior 
to being appointed as the CCGs Acting Lay Chair, Gill was 
the Lay Member, Finance and Performance and Chaired 
the Finance and Performance Committee. 

Gill has worked in the NHS for over 30 years until 2012; 
her last 18 years were in very senior NHS Board positions 
including Chief Executive, Finance Director and 
Commissioning/Operations Director. 

Gill sits on two Royal College of GP independent company 
Boards and is a founding Governing Body member of a 
community Interest Company. She also runs her own 
consultancy and coaching business. 

Adam Doyle, Chief Executive 

Adam Doyle is Chief Executive Officer for NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG and for the other seven CCGs in the 
Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership area. Adam is also the Senior Responsible 
Officer for the Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership. 

Adam started his career as a physiotherapist and has held 
a number of senior healthcare roles over the past twelve 
years. 

Before working in Sussex, Adam was the Chief 
Accountable Officer at NHS Merton CCG in London, 
where he worked from its establishment in 2013. Prior to 
this, Adam was the Director of Private Care and 
Community Services at The Royal Marsden NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

John Eagles, Lay Member, Audit and Assurance 

John Eagles joined NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG in 
June 2018 as Lay Member with responsibility for Audit and 
Assurance and is NHS Coastal West Sussex CCGs 
‘Conflicts of Interest Guardian’. 

John brings significant experience from local government 
having spent many years with West Sussex County 
Council and from his time as Chief Finance Officer to the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex. 
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Dr Su McCole, Clinical Chair 

Prior to joining NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG as Clinical 
Chair Designate in March 2018 Su McCole worked as 
Deputy Medical Director for Sussex Community NHS 
Foundation Trust which included a six month secondment 
as the Acting Medical Director. Before this Su had spent 
five years as a Clinical Lead for the CCG. Su is a qualified 
GP and spent several years working as a full time GP 
partner in Portsmouth. She has also worked as a GP in 
our local Emergency Department in Chichester, in 
Portsmouth Prison, and for Hampshire Police as a 
Forensic Medical Examiner and an expert witness. She 
continues to work as a Locum GP across Coastal West 
Sussex. 

Su has been on a period of sick leave between July and 
December 2018. This was followed by a phased return to 
work from January to March 2019 during which Su has 
acted in an observer capacity. 

 

Jayam Dalal, Lay Member, Patient and Public Engagement 

Jayam Dalal is NHS Coastal West Sussex’s Lay Member 
for Patient and Public Engagement. She is also a Public 
Appointments Advisor with the Commissioner for Ethical 
Standards in Scotland, a Lay Member with the First Tier 
Tribunal Property Chamber, on the Panel of Experts for 
religion with the Judicial College, and a Member of the 
Tribunal Procedure Committee. 

Jayam has over 30 years’ experience in consumer 
engagement and has previously worked within the Cabinet 
Office in the Women and Equality Unit, with the Office of 
Deputy Prime Minister as a Marketing Advisor, and also 
with Health Education England. Prior to joining NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG, she worked with the Food 
Standards Agency on the Advisory Committee for Novel 
Foods and Processes and on the FSA's Consumer Panel. 
Jayam has significant experience of working in a 
regulatory and compliance environment and engaging with 
consumers and diverse community groups, and has a 
strong commitment to equality and diversity and its 
practical applications in the working environment. 
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Alison Lewis-Smith, Independent Clinical Member, Registered Nurse 

Alison Lewis-Smith is NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG's 
Independent Clinical Member – Registered Nurse and is 
Chair of the Quality Committee and the CCGs ‘Freedom to 
Speak Up Guardian’. 

Alison is a registered nurse who trained as a nurse at St 
Thomas’ Hospital in London. Alison is passionate about 
patient safety and experience and has enjoyed a varied 
career primarily in integrated community services by 
working clinically in education and by facilitating quality 
improvement through creative and innovative change 
programmes in numerous senior management and 
leadership roles in the NHS. 

Alison has a Doctorate in Clinical Practice from the 
University of Southampton. Alison has recently focused 
her work on service development and redesign, strategy, 
and quality assurance as a Chief Nurse. 

 

Ralph Beard, Independent Clinical Member, Secondary Care Clinician 

Ralph Beard is NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG’s 
Secondary Care Clinician and chairs our Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee. 

Ralph has more than 40 years’ experience in the 
NHS. He has been on the Council of the British 
Association of Urologists, chaired a regional surgical 
training committee, and led a 'Closer to Home' project for 
the Department of Health. 

 

Dr Jo Monjardino, Locality Director for Adur 

Dr Monjardino started her GP career in London after 
training in hospital medicine and psychiatry. She has been 
a GP partner at the Northbourne Medical Centre in 
Shoreham since 2008 and has been training junior doctors 
and GP trainees since 2013. 

She spent five years working weekly sessions in Worthing 
A&E bridging the gap between community and hospital 
care. 

Jo joined NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG in 2018 as 
Locality Director for Adur. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

78 ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19   |   NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group 



Dr Sarah Pledger, Locality Director for Arun 

Dr Pledger qualified from King's College London in 1987, 
and has worked as a GP in the Arun locality since 1992. 
She is a specialist in Reproductive Health (FFSRH), 
having been a Senior Reproductive Healthcare doctor, an 
instructing doctor, and a Faculty Director of Training. She 
has been Clinical Lead for Gynaecology for NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG for 7 years, and also Clinical Lead for 
Urgent care, leading on the stroke programme. 

In 2014 Sarah became a Medical Advisor to a small 
national charity Lipoedema UK, and works to promote 
awareness, understanding and improved management of 
the condition. 

Malcolm Dennett, Interim Lay Member, Finance and Performance 

Malcolm Dennett is Interim Lay Member for Finance and 
Performance having been with us since June 2018. 
Malcolm chairs the Finance and Performance Committee. 

He is an accountant by training with a varied career both 
in the public and private sectors, and has worked as 
a consultant supporting many aspects of change in the 
public sector. Malcolm has worked in the NHS at Director 
level both in the secondary (hospital) sector and in 
commissioning. He brings experience operating as a 
Trustee within the third sector and in other public bodies. 
Malcolm is the Lay Member for Governance at NHS 
Brighton and Hove CCG and represents NHS Brighton 
and Hove CCG on the Brighton and Hove Health and Well 
Being Board. 

Dr Alex Rainbow, Locality Director for Chanctonbury 

Dr Rainbow has been a GP for more than 20 years and 
has been a GP at Steyning Health since 1994. 

He is motivated to represent the best interests of patients 
in the Chanctonbury area and for them to receive the best 
possible care. 
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Dr Edward Ford, Locality Director for Chichester 

Dr Ford finished his training in Darlington in 2010 and 
moved to Chichester to be closer to family. He has worked 
as a partner in Selsey Medical Practice since 2011. 

He has trained medical students and plans to become a 
GP trainer in the next few years. Edward has been an 
active member of the locality since 2011 and is passionate 
about ensuring the tax payer's money is spent wisely to 
deliver the best quality and safest care to our population. 

 

Dr Tej Bansil, Locality Director for Regis 

Dr Bansil is a GP at Avisford Medical Group. 

In December 2013 he completed his Post Graduate 
Diploma with distinction in Diabetes from Cardiff 
University. 

In April 2015 he became partner at Avisford Medical 
Group and from 1 July 2016 Dr Bansil became the Care 
Quality Commission registered manager and is now 
Senior GP Partner of the practice. He was awarded the 
Post Graduate Certificate in Strategic Leadership and 
Multi-professional Education in Healthcare in November 
2017 and has been accredited as a GP trainer. 

 

Dominic Wright, Managing Director 

Dominic Wright has worked in the NHS for 33 years 
since commencing his career as a national management 
trainee. He has worked mainly in acute hospital 
operational roles in London and the South East before 
moving into strategic commissioning roles in Primary Care 
Trusts and London Strategic Health Authority. 

He has been Accountable Officer for three CCGs before 
moving to be the Managing Director of NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG in April 2018. 
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Pippa Ross-Smith, Chief Finance Officer 

Pippa Ross-Smith is the Chief Finance Officer for NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG. She trained as a Chartered 
Accountant with KPMG before working for the Audit 
Commission as a senior member of their finance 
department. Pippa then worked in various senior roles in 
a Mental Health provider in the West Country before 
moving to Sussex. 

Over the last three years she has worked as Chief 
Finance Officer in NHS Brighton and Hove CCG and NHS 
East Surrey CCG before joining NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG in June 2018. 

Allison Cannon, Chief Nurse 

Allison Cannon was appointed to the Chief Nurse post 
for Sussex CCGs from September 2017. She has been a 
nurse for 29 years and has held a number of senior nurse 
leadership roles. 

Allison’s previous roles include Associate Director of 
Quality at Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS 
Trust and Chief Nurse for NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and 
Seaford and NHS Hastings and Rother CCGs. Allison is a 
current Florence Nightingale leadership scholar. 

Dr Hannah Davies, Executive Medical Director 

Dr Davies is the Executive Medical Director for Coastal 
West Sussex CCG. 

Hannah qualified as a doctor in 2002 and subsequently 
completed her GP training in 2006. Since then she has 
worked at a GP practice in Chichester for 10 years, 
including several years as a GP partner. During this time 
she also gained a Masters in Medical Law and Ethics from 
Kings College London. 

In 2015 she took on the role of Named GP for 
Safeguarding across the three CCGs in West Sussex, 
whilst continuing to practice as a GP locum. She was 
appointed as Executive Medical Director for NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG in November 2018. 

NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   I   ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 81 



Anna Raleigh, Director of Public Health 

Anna Raleigh is the Director of Public Health at West 
Sussex County Council and a member of West Sussex 
Health and Wellbeing Board. Anna has been in post since 
January 2018. 

Previously Anna worked as a Consultant in Public Health 
in South West London for nine years, in Richmond and 
Wandsworth Councils Shared Staffing Arrangement, and 
Richmond Council. Anna has also worked for Surrey 
Primary Care Trust (PCT) as a Consultant in Public 
Health, and in senior public health roles in North Surrey 
PCT and West Surrey Health Authority. She is an 
accredited trainer for the National Public Health Training 
Programme and an assessor for the UK Public Health 
Register. Her particular interests include reducing 
inequalities, prevention, and integration of health and 
social care. 

 

Dr Richard Brown, Local Medical Committee Representative 

Dr Brown is our Local Medical Committee (LMC) 
representative as in his role at the LMC he has a particular 
responsibility for supporting GPs working in West Sussex. 

Richard has been a GP for more than 30 years, and still 
works one day a week as a partner in a GP practice in 
South Wiltshire. The rest of the week is spent working for 
Surrey and Sussex LMCs, having been appointed as 
Medical Director in January 2008 and as Deputy Chief 
Executive in 2012. 
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Composition of the Governing Body during 2018/19 

Name Position Contract / Term of Office 

Margaret Ashworth Interim Chief Finance 
Officer 

Left 28 May 2018 

Dr Tej Bansil* Locality Director for 
Regis 

Appointment from 9 April 2018 
onwards 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical 
Member, Secondary 
Care Clinician 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Dr Victoria Beattie** Co-ordinating Clinical 
Lead Role 

Appointment between 15 
August 2018 to 30 November 
2018 

Dr Richard Brown** Local Medical 
Committee 
Representative 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Allison Cannon Chief Nurse Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient 
and Public Engagement 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Dr Hannah Davies** Executive Medical 
Director 

Appointment from 5 November 
2018 onwards 

Malcolm Dennett Interim Lay Member, 
Finance and 
Performance 

Appointment from 10 
September 2018 onwards 

Adam Doyle Chief Executive Officer Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

Appointment from 1 May 2018 
onwards 

Dr Edward Ford* Locality Director for 
Chichester 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Gill Galliano*** Acting Lay Chair Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Dr Robert 
Henderson 

Locality Director for 
Cissbury 

Appointment between 1 May 
2018 to 30 September 2018 
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Name Position Contract / Term of Office 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical 
Member, Registered 
Nurse 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Dr Su McCole**** CCG Clinical Chair Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Chris Moore Lay Member for Audit 
and Assurance 

Left 31 May 2018 

Dr Jo Monjardino Locality Director for 
Adur 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Dr Sarah Pledger Locality Director for 
Arun 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Dr Alex Rainbow Locality Director for 
Chanctonbury 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Anna Raleigh** Public Health 
Representative 

Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

Pippa Ross-Smith Chief Finance Officer Appointment from 1 June 2018 
onwards 

Dominic Wright** Managing Director Appointment continuous 
throughout the period 

*Dr Edward Ford and Dr Tej Bansil were appointed Assistant Clinical Chairs from 1
September 2018 until 28 February 2019.

**Denotes non-voting Governing Body members. 

***Gill Galliano was appointed as Acting Lay Chair from the 17 July 2018 onwards. 
Prior to that she fulfilled the role of Lay Member, Finance and Performance. 

****Dr Su McCole has been on a period of sick leave between July and December 
2018. This was followed by a phased return to work from January to March 2019 and 
in that period Gill Galliano remained Acting Lay Chair. 
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Emergency Planning, Resilience, and Response 
The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) and the NHS Act (NHSA) 2006 (as 
amended) place responsibilities on CCGs in relation to Emergency Planning, 
Resilience, and Response (EPRR) as described below. 

 
The CCA defines CCGs as a Category 2 responder organisation. This means the 
CCG has a legal obligation to support, co-operate, and share information with other 
responding organisations in planning for and responding to emergencies. 
Section 252A of the NHSA 2006 requires that CCGs take appropriate steps to 
prepare for and respond to emergencies. In this regard, I can confirm that the CCG 
has in place suitable plans enabling it to respond to major incidents and 
emergencies as they may arise. These plans are consistent with the NHS England 
Emergency Preparedness Framework (NHS England, 2015) and are regularly 
reviewed and tested. 

 
The NHSA 2006 requires NHS England to establish processes to monitor and seek 
assurance that each CCG is properly prepared for dealing with emergencies. In 
order to ensure that CCGs are meeting their responsibilities under the CCA and the 
NHSA 2006, NHS England has created a framework for EPRR including a robust 
annual assurance process under which NHS organisations are obliged to 
demonstrate their compliance. This process identifies a series of core standards for 
EPRR against which commissioner and provider organisations are assessed. As a 
commissioner of services, CCGs use these core standards to seek assurance from 
service providers and in turn provide assurance to NHS England that the CCG and 
its local health economy are meeting their obligations in relation to EPRR. 

 

Under the last annual assurance process, concluded in October 2018, NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG was assessed as ’Fully’ compliant with the NHS England 
National Core Standards for EPRR. 

 

The CCG’s providers of clinical services, in accordance with CCA, NHSA 2006, and 
the terms of the NHS Standard Contract have their own responsibilities in respect of 
EPRR for which the CCG seeks assurance. The eight CCGs in Sussex and East 
Surrey collectively sought assurance from their provider organisations against the 
national core standards. For the most part the Sussex and East Surrey CCGs were 
assured that the providers were adequately meeting their EPRR responsibilities. 
However, where it was evident that a provider had not met the required standard in 
their EPRR responsibilities, they will continue to work with their local CCG to improve 
their performance against the national core standards. 

 
As the Chief Executive Officer for NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG I have chosen to 
delegate the responsibility for EPRR to an Accountable Emergency Officer (AEO), 
responsible for ensuring that the CCG is compliant with its EPRR obligations. The 
AEO represents the CCG at the Local Health Resilience Forum, taking a strategic 
coordinated view of EPRR activity amongst health organisations in Sussex. 
The Chief Finance Officer has been appointed AEO for the CCG, supported by the 
Lay Member for Audit and Assurance at NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG, and CCG 
staff with responsibilities for EPRR. 
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Register of interests 
The CCG keeps a register of interests on its website. The register for the Governing 
Body and Senior Managers (as defined in the remuneration report) for the year can 
be found on our website here https://www.coastalwestsussexccg.nhs.uk/conflicts-of- 
interest. 

Personal data related incidents 
One personal data related incident was formally reported to the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO) during the course of 2018/19 for the CCG, however this 
was deemed a non-reportable incident by the ICO and recorded as such. 

Statement of disclosure to auditors 
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms: 

 So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their
audit report, and

 The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to 
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements 
for producing an annual Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out 
in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
responsibilities 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Executive Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include 
responsibilities for: 

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the CCG and enable them to
ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction)

 For safeguarding the CCGs assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities)

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently, and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the NHSA 2006 (as
amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality
of services (in accordance with Section14R of the NHSA 2006 (as amended)),
and

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the NHSA 2006 (as amended).

Under the NHSA 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each CCG to 
prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis 
set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis 
and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its income 
and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, and cash flows for the financial 
year. 

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual for the relevant 
financial year taking account of the application guidance contained in the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual for the relevant 
financial year and in particular to: 
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• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual for the relevant financial year have been followed,
taking account of the application guidance contained in the Department of
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual for the relevant financial
year, and clinical commissioning group specific guidance issued by the
National Health Service Commissioning Board, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis,  and

• Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and

understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced

and understandable.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below 
(e.g. directions issued, s30 letter issued by external auditors), I have properly 
discharged the responsibilities set out under the NHSA 2006 (as amended), 
Managing Public Money and in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment  Letter. 

Disclosures: 

• CCG directions issued 20 March 2017

I also confirm that: 

• As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG's auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all
the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the CCG's auditors are aware of that
information.

Adam Doyle 

Accountable Officer 
28 May 2019 



Governance statement 

Introduction and context 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 
1 April 2013 under the NHSA 2006 (as amended). 

The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the NHSA 2006 (as amended). The 
CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for the 
purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to 
arrange for the provision of certain health services to the extent it considers 
necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population. 

As at 1 April 2018, the CCG was subject to legal directions from NHS England, 
(issued under Section 14Z21, of the NHSA 2006 on 20 March 2017). The legal 
directions focused on four areas which are set out below: 

 Produce a credible FRP which is approved by the CCG’s Governing Body and
implement its findings

 Complete a Capability and Capacity Review and implement its findings

 Commission a review of the CCG’s governance arrangements and implement
its recommendations, and

 Executive team and senior appointments.

The full legal directions can be found at 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp- 
content/uploads/sites/12/2014/08/170320-Coastal-West-Sussex-directions.pdf. 

An externally commissioned governance review was completed in October 2018 and 
subsequently approved by the Governing Body. This systematic way in which the 
CCG has addressed the key areas of focus within the legal directions and how it has 
enhanced its governance arrangements in 2018/19, following the externally 
commissioned governance review, will be drawn upon at the relevant points within 
this Governance Statement. This also provides an important context for my 
Governance Statement for 2018/19 and indeed source of assurance. 

The other important context for this Governance Statement has been my 
appointment as Accountable Officer for the CCG from 1 April 2018. 

My appointment was deemed by the CCGs Governing Body and NHS England to be 
a necessary step to give the CCG some immediate stability and to make the 
improvements necessary to address the challenges it faced. Furthermore, my 
appointment was recognition that the CCG needed clear leadership after being 
placed in legal directions by NHS England in March 2017. 
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Over the course of the year, further changes across the commissioning landscape 
have meant that the eight CCGs across Sussex and East Surrey (NHS Brighton and 
Hove CCG, NHS Crawley CCG, NHS East Surrey CCG, NHS High Weald Lewes 
Havens CCG, NHS Horsham and Mid-Sussex CCG, NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and 
Seaford CCG, NHS Hastings and Rother CCG, and NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG) have begun to work more closely together under the umbrella of the Sussex 
and East Surrey CCGs.  This has enabled management and leadership 
arrangements across the eight CCGs to be streamlined and governance good 
practice to be shared under a single unified corporate affairs function. 

 

On 4 January 2019, I was appointed the substantive Chief Executive Officer for the 
eight CCGs that comprise the Sussex and East Surrey CCGs. The appointment was 
fully supported by all the CCG Governing Bodies and endorsed by NHS England. 

 
The appointment on the 4 January 2019 meant I became responsible for all the 
CCGs within the Sussex and East Surrey STP, which is one of the largest health 
commissioning systems in the country working under a single leadership structure. It 
covers 1.8 million people and has enabled greater collaborative working with 
providers and partners. 

 

During the period I have been the Accountable Officer for NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG, I have held the same position across the other CCGs in Sussex and East 
Surrey. In this period, I have been especially mindful of the need to ensure that the 
individual statutory responsibilities of each CCG are not in any way undermined by 
my wider responsibilities. The governance structure of NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG has been fully utilised and adhered to at all times to ensure decision making is 
taken in the best interest of the CCG. Conflicts of interest where they have arisen 
have been declared and managed in the appropriate way. 

 

We now have the opportunity to take this further in 2019/20 and specifically to look at 
how we can work more effectively and efficiently as commissioners across the 
system and take the commissioning system forward in the context of the 
requirements set out in the NHS Long Term Plan (NHS England, 2019) thereby 
ensuring our patients and populations receive care in a more joined-up and improved 
way. 

 

Again, I will draw upon these developments at the relevant points within this 
Governance Statement. 

 

Building on 2017/18 and having now completed a full financial year with the CCG, I 
have, with the support of the Governing Body, continued to develop the governance 
processes and commissioning functions of the CCGs for which I am responsible. I 
have not only effectively discharged my duties but have moved the CCG forward and 
addressed the key aspects of the legal directions. 
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Scope of responsibility 

As Chief Executive Officer I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCGs policies, aims, and 
objectives whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing 
Public Money (Her Majesty’s Treasury, 23 January 2017). I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out under the NHSA 2006 (as amended) and in my CCG 
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this 
Governance Statement. 

 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the CCG has made 
appropriate arrangements to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently, and 
economically and that the CCG complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. The main features of the governance of NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG are described in detail below, including the governance 
structures within the CCG and relationship between the CCG and its membership. 

 

CCG Membership 
The CCG is a membership organisation for the 47 GP practices within Coastal West 
Sussex. Each practice within Coastal West Sussex falls within one of six localities 
(Adur, Arun, Chanctonbury, Chichester, Cissbury, and Regis) and each locality 
meets on a regular basis which enables the representatives of each GP practice to 
discuss the direction of the CCG, its plans for commissioning services, and seek 
assurance that commissioned services are performing effectively. 

 

Each locality is represented by a 
GP who is also a member of the 
Governing Body. As a clinically-led 
organisation it is important for us to 
have clinical leadership which 
represents the views of our 
membership at the most senior 
level. 

 
Under the scheme of delegation, 
contained within the Constitution, 
the CCG’s membership has 
reserved to it a number of key 
decisions of the CCG. A copy of the scheme of reservation and delegation may be 
found on the CCG’s website at 
https://www.coastalwestsussexccg.nhs.uk/key-documents. 
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From 1 April 2016 the CCG became responsible for the commissioning of GP 
services. This means that we are responsible for buying, monitoring, and checking 
the services available at GP practices. This move followed a ballot of our 
member GP practices in December 2015 after CCGs across the country were asked 
to consider new proposals that would give CCGs more involvement in the planning, 
buying, and monitoring of GP services. 

The Governing Body 
The Governing Body meets formally and in public every other month. It is 
responsible for developing the CCG’s strategy, ensuring quality, safety and 
performance of commissioned services, exerting financial control, ensuring value for 
money, and effectively managing risk. The Governing Body must provide assurance 
to the membership, to NHS England, and to the people of Coastal West Sussex that 
it is effectively managing the organisation and meeting the NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG’s objectives. 

During 2018/19 NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG commissioned an independent 
governance review which was undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and 
which reported in October 2018. The governance review made a series of 
recommendations designed to enhance the overall governance of the CCG and 
which was approved by the Governing Body in November 2018. This included an 
action plan designed to address all the key recommendations of the review. 

The CCG has subsequently progressed the action plan in a systematic manner. 
Visibility around addressing the recommendations of the governance review has 
been undertaken by the Local Management Team, with oversight and assurance by 
the Audit and Assurance Committee. Progress has subsequently been reported to 
the Governing Body and externally reported to NHS England. This level of focus has 
been critical to the progress that has been made and has given me as Chief 
Executive Officer a significant degree of assurance. 

The governance review has resulted in a number of positive changes to how the 
Governing Body functions enabling me to take strong assurance from the 
arrangements put in place during the course of 2018/19. The most notable changes 
have been more focused and structured agendas for Governing Body meeting, 
accompanied by a clear set of supporting papers, and Governing Body meetings that 
mirror governance best practice with a clear part one meeting conducted in public 
and a limited number of relevant and appropriate items discussed in part two and 
conducted in private. Collectively these changes have contributed to greater scrutiny, 
challenge, and assurance as well as ensuring visibility of key issues at the 
Governing Body. 

A particular feature of our Governing Body meetings in 2018/19 has been that they 
are video recorded and with these recordings subsequently placed on the CCG 
website making the Governing Body meetings more accessible for our communities 
to observe our discussions and deliberations. 

92 ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19   |   NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group 



We have also during 2018/19 held meetings with members of the public across 
Coastal West Sussex as part of the ‘Big Health and Care Conversation’ and these 
events have provided members of the public with the opportunity to engage actively 
with the Governing Body on some of the key health issues facing Coastal West 
Sussex. 

Collectively these changes provide me 
with strong assurance that in 2018/19 
the CCG has created a culture of 
greater openness and transparency with 
the communities we serve. 

The Governing Body uses a number of 
committees to oversee the work of the 
CCG. 

Following the externally commissioned 
governance review these too have been 
streamlined during 2018/19; better 
reflecting governance best practice and 

enabling me to take strong assurance that the CCG’s governance architecture is 
robust and appropriate. 

The most notable changes were the closer alignment and integration of patient 
engagement into the work of the Quality Committee and the subsequent abolition of 
the Public Engagement Committee and a review and strengthening of the focus of 
the Audit and Assurance Committee, Finance and Performance Committee, and the 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee. 

A key aspect of the changes in 2018/19 has been a clear linkage between the 
Committees and a robust escalation route to the Governing Body. These changes 
collectively provide me with strong assurance that, in 2018/19, those functions 
delegated to these committees have been effectively discharged. The CCG’s 
committees are described later in this section in more detail. 

Furthermore, a number of additional ‘design’ principles around the CCG committee 
structure have provided further assurance during 2018/19: 

 The membership of both the Quality Committee and the Finance and
Performance Committee include senior directors. This has ensured that the
discussions have largely remained strategic and not strayed too far into
operational matters

 The membership of the Quality Committee includes members of the Finance
and Performance Committee and membership of the Finance and
Performance Committee includes the Chair of the Quality Committee. This
has ensured a strong relationship between these two key assurance
committees

 The Committee Chairs’ reports to the Governing Body provide a clear
reporting and escalation route than is possible by simply presenting minutes
from a committee into the Governing Body
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 Bi-monthly seminar sessions have focused on developing the Governing
Body, as well as covering key strategic issues, and

 Deep dive sessions have been a common feature of the work programme of
the Finance and Performance Committee during 2018/19 and have featured
at the Quality Committee and Audit and Assurance Committee too.

The requirements for membership of CCG Governing Bodies are set out in the 
National Health Service (Clinical Commissioning Group) Regulation 2012. These 
regulations specify the minimum number and qualifications required for membership 
of the Governing Body. 

As a clinical organisation it is necessary for there to be strong clinical representation 
on the Governing Body. NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has included within its 
Constitution that the majority of the members of the Governing Body must be 
clinicians and we have throughout 2018/19 ensured that is the case. 

The full membership of the Governing Body is described in the Members’ Report 
along with the details of the Governing Body Committees attended by each member 
set out from page 117. 

In accordance with the scheme of delegation contained within the CCG’s 
Constitution a number of decisions are reserved to the CCG’s Governing Body. A 
copy of the scheme of reservation and delegation can be found at the following link 
https://www.coastalwestsussexccg.nhs.uk/key-documents. 

The Governing Body meets informally every other month for development sessions 
to undertake collectively enhancement activities designed to strengthen the 
knowledge and skills of the Governing Body members. We also discuss matters that 
arise during the course of the CCG’s business and discuss emerging strategy and 
share thoughts, concerns, and ideas between the members of the Governing Body. 

Following the externally commissioned governance review these development 
sessions have been refocused and in 2018/19 they have contained a strong 
developmental focus. 

In 2018/19 the Governing Body development sessions have focused on a number of 
key areas such as better understanding team effectiveness alongside clarity of the 
roles and responsibilities of Governing Body members, safeguarding and risks 
management. These sessions have also offered the opportunity to discuss the key 
strategic issues facing the CCG. 

There are also regular one-to-one meetings between the CCG Chair and each of the 
Governing Body members. They provide an opportunity to discuss the programmes 
of work that fall with the remit of each of the Governing Body members, progress 
against their objectives, and areas for development. Additionally the CCG Chair 
meets with the Lay and Independent Governing Body Members on a regular basis to 
update on key issues within each CCG committee, areas of cross working across 
committees, and to discuss any areas of concern. 
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Overall these arrangements provide me with assurance that in 2018/19 the CCG has 
taken seriously the task of developing the Governing Body collectively and 
individually. 

 

CCG committee structure 

The Governing Body is supported by a robust committee structure which now 
reflects the outputs from the externally commissioned governance review which 
reported its key findings in October 2018 and which identified a number of 
improvements to be made in respect of the CCG’s governance architecture. 

 

The following diagram illustrates the CCG’s governance structure. 
 

CCG Governance Structure 
 

Within what is a more streamlined structure, more consistent with governance best 
practice, each committee has a set of terms of reference describing its membership, 
the scope of its authority, and a detailed work programme. These terms of reference 
are reviewed annually and amended in respect of the evolving needs of the CCG. 
As part of the review of each committee we maintain a record of attendance of the 
committees’ membership. This record of attendance may be found from page 117 of 
this Governance Statement. 

 

The full Terms of Reference for each Committee are published on the CCG’s 
website at the following link https://www.coastalwestsussexccg.nhs.uk/our- 
governing-body.  A brief description of each Committee is set out below: 
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Audit and Assurance Committee 
The Audit and Assurance Committee provides the Governing Body with assurance 
that the CCG’s systems of internal control are working effectively and the CCG is 
acting in compliance with law and best practice. In addition to the normal functions 
of an audit committee the Audit and Assurance Committee also has an enhanced 
responsibility to provide assurance in respect of the CCG’s management and 
oversight of risk. 

 
The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member for Audit and Assurance who has the 
necessary qualifications, expertise, and experience such as to enable him to express 
informed views about financial management and audit matters. The Lay Member for 
Audit and Assurance does not chair any other committee in order that he remains 
fully independent - and this arrangement is consistent with good governance 
practice. 

 

Finance and Performance Committee 
The Finance and Performance Committee meets monthly and was specifically 
created to provide scrutiny to the CCG’s delivery of key financial and performance 
targets as identified in our strategic and operational plans. In addition to its oversight 
of the CCG’s annual financial and operational plans the Committee seeks to provide 
year round assurance in respect of financial and performance issues including 
performance against QIPP targets. 

 

The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member for Finance and Performance and its 
membership consists of the organisation’s most senior staff with responsibilities for 
performance and financial matters. 

 
The Finance and Performance Committee has extensively focused on the CCG 
financial position and the delivery of QIPP in 2018/19 as well as looking at our QIPP 
plans for 2019/20. This has provided the Governing Body with a greater degree of 
assurance in these two key areas. 

 

A critical aspect of the work of the Finance and Performance Committee during 
2018/19 has been ‘deep dive’ sessions into key performance areas, such as cancer 
and stroke, and which have afforded the opportunity for extensive scrutiny, challenge 
and assurance. 

 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
When a CCG agrees to take on the responsibility for co-commissioning primary care 
it is necessary to put in place a committee constructed in accordance with NHS 
England guidance to manage the potential conflicts of interest which may arise as 
the CCG commissions services provided by its own members. 

 
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee meets bi-monthly and has overseen 
the strategic development of transformational change within primary care and the 
strategic commissioning of primary care in Coastal West Sussex since the CCG 
became responsible for co-commissioning of primary care on 1 April 2016. 
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The Committee is chaired by the Independent Clinical Member – Secondary Care 
Clinician and its membership consists of a number of Governing Body members 
including the Chief Finance Officer. The full membership of the Committee is 
consistent with NHS England guidance which can be found at 
https://www.coastalwestsussexccg.nhs.uk/our-governing-body. 

 

Quality Committee 
The Quality Committee meets bi-monthly and is responsible for providing the 
Governing Body with assurance that there are effective quality arrangements in 
place and that patient safety is being monitored effectively. The Committee is 
additionally responsible for ensuring that the CCG engages with patients and the 
public in the commissioning of our services. 

 
The Committee supports the Governing Body in ensuring that commissioning 
decisions are based on evidence of clinical effectiveness and influenced by patient 
experience, feedback, and need. In so doing the Committee promotes patient safety 
and a positive patient experience in line with the principles of the NHS Constitution, 
the CCG’s values, and the requirements of the CQC. 

 

The Committee has provided extensive focus on the quality and safety of 
commissioned services including primary care as well as on serious incidents, 
complaints, safeguarding, and patient and public engagement. 

 

The Committee is chaired by the Independent Clinical Member – Registered Nurse 
and its membership consists of the organisation’s most senior staff focused on 
patient quality and safety. 

 

Remuneration Committee 
All CCGs are required to have a Remuneration Committee to decide on matters 
relating to the remuneration policy within the CCG and considering nominations for 
the appointment of new members of the Governing Body. The Committee makes 
recommendations on the remuneration, benefits, and terms of service of employees 
of the CCG to the Governing Body for formal approval. 

 

Additionally the Committee oversees the appraisal process of the Governing Body 
members. The Committee is chaired by the CCG’s Clinical Chairman and its 
membership consists of the Independent and Lay Members on the Governing Body. 

 

Supporting meetings 
In addition to the committees of the Governing Body it has been necessary to 
establish a number of supporting meetings to conduct the transactional work of each 
Committee. Some of these supporting meetings have only been required for a short 
period of time in order to complete specific pieces of work; others are ongoing 
meetings with transactional oversight of specific elements of the CCG’s work or are 
discharging specific functions on the behalf of a Committee. 
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UK Corporate Governance Code 

NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 
However we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing 
upon best practice available including those aspects of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG and best practice. 

 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 and up until the date of signing this 
statement we have complied with the provisions of the Code as would be expected 
of a CCG. NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG seeks to comply with the following 
principles of the UK Corporate Code: 

 

Leadership 
The CCG has an effective Governing Body which has a collective responsibility for 
the CCG’s long term success. Although the Governing Body is not a board as 
described in the Code it is established in a similar way and carries out many of the 
same functions. 

 

The CCG Governing Body clearly divides its responsibilities between its executive, 
lay, and independent clinical members. No single member of the Governing Body 
has unfettered powers of decision making and all members are encouraged to 
constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy. 

 

NHS England’s evaluation of the quality of the CCG’s leadership can be found on the 
My NHS website at https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search . The 
latest published evaluation (from summer 2018) is ‘requires improvement’. As 
outlined in this annual report the CCG has taken a series of actions to strengthen the 
governance arrangements and leadership of the CCG during 2018/19. 

 

The externally commissioned governance review has also further contributed to the 
development of a unitary Governing Body which understands clearly its roles and 
responsibilities and, in spite of the changes we have had in the composition of the 
Governing Body in 2018/19, the Governing Body has remained extremely cohesive. 

 

Effectiveness 
The Governing Body ensures that within its own membership and within the 
membership of its committees there is an appropriate balance of skills, experience, 
independence, and knowledge of the CCG and its activities to enable them to 
discharge their respective duties and responsibilities effectively. 

 

The Remuneration Committee ensures that there is a rigorous and transparent 
procedure for the appointment of new members to the Governing Body and ensures 
that they are able to allocate sufficient time to the CCG to discharge their 
responsibilities effectively. 
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The Governing Body regularly assesses its own performance, seeking the views of 
stakeholders across the local health economy and within the CCG. 

 

The quality of data received by the Governing Body is reviewed regularly and 
suitable information is provided to members to ensure that they are able to discharge 
their obligations effectively. 

 
I am also assured that the presentation in particular of performance, quality, and 
contracting data to the Governing Body and to the Finance and Performance 
Committee has been reviewed on an ongoing basis during the course of 2018/19 to 
make this not only clearer but also including a greater degree of benchmarking data 
and trend analysis. 

 

Accountability 
The Governing Body has throughout 2018/19 been presented with a fair, balanced, 
and understandable assessment of the CCG’s position and performance. The 
Governing Body is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the principal 
risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. The Governing Body 
maintains sound risk management and internal control systems. 

 

The Governing Body, via the Audit and Assurance Committee, has established 
formal and transparent arrangements for considering how corporate reporting, risk 
management, and internal control principles are applied and for maintaining an 
appropriate relationship with the CCG’s internal and external auditors. 

 

Relations with member practices 
Whilst the CCG does not have shareholders the organisation is accountable to the 
public and its stakeholders. The CCG involves patients, the public, and stakeholders 
at every level of the organisation from statutory lay members on the Governing Body 
to patient representatives on committees and groups. We have also led on a highly 
effective programme of public engagement through our ‘Big Health and Care 
Conversation’ during 2018/19 and this has been covered in more detail earlier in the 
Annual Report. 

 

The CCG, via the Locality Directors, has had throughout 2018/19 an ongoing 
dialogue with member practices based on the mutual understanding of objectives. 
The Governing Body as a whole has the responsibility for ensuring that a satisfactory 
dialogue with member practices takes place. The CCG also uses a variety of 
methods to engage and communicate with its member practices most notably 
through regular locality meetings to which all member practices are encouraged to 
attend. The CCG also held towards the end of March 2019 a membership 
engagement event to which all CCG member practices were invited. The event 
provided an opportunity to share with member practices what has been achieved by 
the CCG in 2018/19 and to highlight some of the key areas of work in 2019/20. 
Further activities are planned for 2019/20. 
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Discharge of statutory functions 

In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review the CCG has reviewed all of 
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the NHSA 2006 (as amended) and 
other associated legislation and regulations. As a result I can confirm that the CCG is 
clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director 
throughout 2018/19. During 2018/19 directorates subsequently had in place the 
structures that provided the necessary capacity and capability to undertake all of the 
CCG’s statutory duties. 

Risk management arrangements and 
effectiveness 

The CCG recognises that risk management is an integral part of good management 
practice and to be most effective it must be embedded within the organisation’s 
culture. The overall structure and content of the CCG’s risk management 
arrangements replicate best practice principles and provides me with assurance as 
Chief Executive Officer that the CCG’s overall risk management arrangements are 
robust and fit for purpose. 

The CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Policy, processes for managing risk, and 
presentation of risk were redesigned during the course of 2018/19 to ensure 
consistency with governance best practice. The purpose of the policy is to define the 
strategy and policy that the CCG uses to ensure rigorous risk management 
processes, and provide the tools to assist staff to ensure, as far as is reasonably 
practicable, that all risks are identified and controlled appropriately. It also sets out 
the process for risk management for the CCG, including how each risk is identified, 
assessed, recorded, and managed. 

Closer working between all eight commissioners across Central Sussex and East 
Surrey affords the opportunity to review further and strengthen our risk management 
arrangements drawing on best practice and I hope to see further progress on this in 
2019/20. Consequently in March 2019 the CCG approved a new Risk Management 
Strategy and Policy, applicable to all eight commissioners across Central Sussex 
and East Surrey including NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG. 

Risks are identified from a variety of internal and external sources such as staff 
resource issues, workforce recruitment problems, incompatibility of IT systems, lack 
of assurance on areas of quality and performance data, or information from staff and 
or patients. 
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The consequences of some risks, or the action needed to mitigate them, can be 
such that it is necessary to escalate the risk to a higher management level. During 
2018/19 the CCG had a Corporate Risk Register and Board Assurance Framework 
(BAF) both of which were aligned to the CCG’s strategic objectives: 

 

 Recover and stabilise the CCG’s position 

 Be the best in the country at caring for older people with chronic diseases, 
multiple conditions and frailty 

 Demonstrate outstanding capacity to manage demand 

 Integrate care, and 

 Develop the Coastal West Sussex health system. 
 

The intention is for this to be superseded at the start of 2019/20 by an integrated risk 
register, assurance framework, and set of strategic goals across all eight Sussex and 
East Surrey CCGs. 

 

The BAF provides the Governing Body with assurance through an overview of the 
key risks identified under each strategic objective, the actions in place to mitigate the 
risks, and the trend in current risk rating over time. Following the externally- 
commissioned governance review to which I referred at the start of the Governance 
Statement the CCGs BAF was redesigned for 2018/19 to ensure that its structure 
replicates best practice. 

 

Capacity to handle risk 

As the Chief Executive Officer I have the overall responsibility for ensuring there is 
an effective risk management system in place. The Director of Corporate Affairs for 
the Sussex and East Surrey CCGs has delegated responsibility for managing the 
development and implementation of risk systems and for reporting to the Governing 
Body, Audit and Assurance Committee, Quality Committee, Finance and 
Performance Committee and the Primary Care Commissioning Committee. The 
Managing Director for NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is in turn responsible for 
ensuring that systems and structures are in place for the effective management of 
financial risk and organisational controls. 

 

The CCG’s Clinical Leads each have an identified portfolio of clinical responsibilities. 
They oversee the management of risks to programme delivery, working with the 
executive team and heads of department, all of whom are accountable for the 
management of risks related to their areas of responsibility. Staff are supported to 
manage risk as appropriate to their level of authority and duties and the CCG 
policies and procedures are available on the CCG’s website. There is a programme 
of mandatory training for staff that includes equality and diversity, fire safety, 
information governance, conflicts of interest, health and safety, manual handling, 
safeguarding children and adults, and Prevent (safeguarding people and 
communities from the threat of terrorism). 
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In early 2017 a single online risk management system was adopted by NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG. Technical training on the use of the system and training in risk 
management was delivered to those staff involved in recording and managing risks. 
Further risk management training and support is available to all staff and can be 
conducted at a team level on request. 

 

The Governing Body’s oversight of risk is underpinned by a number of systems of 
control. The committee structure of the CCG allows for risk to be addressed at 
several key levels all linking up to the Governing Body. Most importantly this shows 
that the Audit and Assurance Committee is primarily responsible for overseeing the 
management and reporting of risk throughout the organisation via its key role in 
overseeing the BAF and Corporate Risk Register and the systems and structures 
within the CCG for regularly reviewing and overseeing these two key risk 
management tools. 

 
The Finance and Performance Committee considers the finance and performance 
related risks on a monthly basis whilst the Quality Committee considers the quality 
and safety focused risks and the Primary Care Commissioning Committee reviews 
the primary care risks on a bi-monthly basis. This ensures that the BAF and 
Corporate Risk Register are being regularly reviewed and scrutinised. These roles 
will be discussed in further detail below. 

 

The Corporate Risk Register records the high level risks (those scoring 12 and 
above) which may affect the achievement of objectives and the actions required to 
counter them. The Corporate Risk Register is reported at each Governing Body 
meeting, ahead of which it receives scrutiny and oversight at the appropriate 
committees of the Governing Body and is scrutinised in full by the CCG’s Local 
Management Team meeting on a monthly basis. 

 

All risks are reviewed by risk owners and Heads of Department on a monthly basis. 
This formal review is led by the Corporate Governance Team which meets with each 
risk owner to review changes in the scores, controls, and assurances and progress 
against actions agreed since the previous review. Following each monthly review all 
risks on the risk register are then considered by the Local Management Team, as 
part of a ‘deep dive’ session into risks. 

 

During 2018/19 the CCG ran a training session attended by senior managers 
including Deputy Directors within the CCG who are responsible for managing risks. 
The session covered strategy and policy and how the CCG’s Corporate Risk 
Register works including training on how to use the National Patient Safety Agency 
Model Risk Matrix. The session also focused on risk appetite and what constitutes 
controls and assurance. 

 

Reported incidents and complaints feed into the risk management process. A 
separate strategy covers the incident reporting and investigation process. This 
includes guidance on risk assessing each incident and deciding whether its severity 
requires the risk management process to be applied. Complaints are similarly 
assessed and this process also applied as deemed appropriate (supported by 
guidance). 
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Key controls and assurances 

Having identified principal risks the CCG must ensure that it has key controls 
(mitigating actions) in place to manage these. Controls should make a risk less likely 
to happen and they may take many forms. 

 
Controls are documented and their design subject to scrutiny by independent 
reviewers which can include internal and external auditors and other specialists 
where necessary. 

 

The Governing Body relies on a number of methods to provide assurance on these 
controls as it cannot assure itself of all actions directly. The process for gaining 
assurance of the effectiveness of the key controls is fundamentally about bringing all 
of the relevant evidence together and arriving at informed conclusions. 
The most objective assurances are derived from independent reviewers which 
include internal and external auditors and these are supplemented by independent 
sources such as NHS England and the NHS Counter Fraud Authority and from semi- 
independent sources such as performance management and self-assessment 
reports. 

 

Risk assessment 

The CCG recognises that it is impossible to eliminate all risk and that the aim of risk 
management is to mitigate risks using control measures and action plans. All risks 
are assessed on the basis of two elements; severity and likelihood. Each element is 
given a score between one and five and the multiplication of these scores generates 
a risk score. Risks with a score of 12 or above are managed on the Corporate Risk 
Register whilst lower scoring risks are managed at a team level within the CCG. 

 

Risks are assessed on an ongoing basis and changes in risk score may see new 
risks being escalated to the Corporate Risk Register or referred back to teams if 
mitigating actions effectively reduce the risk score. 

 

Each risk has been assigned an assessor and an owner. The assessor has 
operational oversight of the risk whilst the owner is the senior manager of the risk 
area. Where a risk is reported on the Corporate Risk Register its owner will usually 
be an executive member of the Governing Body. The risk owner is accountable to 
the Governing Body for the management of the risks assigned to them. 

 

The CCG has determined a risk appetite (below) which sets the level at which the 
CCG is prepared to tolerate the risk, although the risk appetite is not necessarily 
static and may change depending on the circumstances: 
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“NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is committed to the active management of 
risk, recognising that risks need to be considered in terms of both 
opportunities and threats. The CCG will not accept risks that impact on safe 
care. The CCG will take a cautious approach to risks that impact upon other 
aspects of quality, finance and regulatory compliance. The CCG has a 
greater appetite to pursue innovation and collaboration, including potential 
reputational risk, taking measured opportunity where progress against 
strategic objectives is anticipated.” 

 
At year end, the corporate risk register contained the following risks with a current 
score of 15 and above. 

 

Risks with a score of 15 and above as at 31 March 2019 
 

Strategic Objective 1: Recover and stabilise the CCG’s position 

Reference Risk Description Initial 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Current 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

226 If the recurrent level of QiPP is not delivered 
in 2018/19, including the recurrent QiPP 
assumed within the WSHFT AIC, then the 
FRP plan is put at risk, leading to financial 
and reputational consequences including a 
continuation of legal directions and also 
returning the local health economy to 
unsustainable financial position. 

4x4=16 4x4=16 

227 If the current RTT performance does not 
improve in line with the agreed 
improvement trajectory the waiting list will 
continue to grow and patient outcomes may 
be impacted and the CCG will remain in 
breach of Constitutional Standards. 

4x5=20 4x4=16 

27 If systems are not kept protected with the 
latest anti-virus, and if software 
vulnerabilities are not patched promptly 
there is a risk of CCG websites being 
hijacked, CCG systems rendered unusable 
or confidential data stolen. Staff may fall 
victim to social engineering attacks in email 
that circumvent protections. This could 
result in reputational damage and the 
potential for large ICO fines. 

4x4=16 4x4=16 

Total level of risk against the objective 52 48 
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Strategic Objective 2: Be the best in the country at caring for older people with 
chronic diseases, multiple conditions and frailty 

Ref Risk Description Initial 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Current 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

231 If the quality of care provided by a specialist 
nursing home does not improve, this could 
lead to continued risks to patient safety and 
the closure of all or some of their services 
across Sussex. 

5x5=20 5x3=15 

285 If provision of stroke services continues to 
not meet the required quality standards (as 
per published service specifications and 
NHS England national stroke plan) and 
CWS patients are not able to access to 
recommended pathway services then 
patients could receive poor outcomes which 
could put patients at risk. 

4x4=16 4x4=16 

219 If WSHFT does not improve compliance 
with cancer metrics then the CCG will not 
meet National targets.  The worst 
performing specialty is urology and breast 
cancer. Colorectal referrals continue to see 
an increasing trend. 

3x3=9 3x5=15 

Total level of risk against the objective 45 46 
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Strategic Objective 3: Demonstrate outstanding capability to manage demand 

Reference Risk Description Initial 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Current 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

12 If the demand on a reduced and already 
fragile system is increased due to 
recruitment and retention issues, rising 
patient numbers, greater expectations, 
capping or closure of lists at surrounding 
practices or closure of practices this may 
lead to inadequate access to primary care. 
Patients may have difficulty accessing care 
or may turn to secondary care, which could 
result in poor patient experience and 
inappropriate use of emergency and urgent 
care services. This could also result in 
primary care being unable to fully support 
the wider integration agenda. 

5x4=20 5x3=15 

161 If the CCG does not reduce the number of 
patients in Transforming Care beds then the 
CCG will fail its reduction target. This could 
impact on the quality of care provided to 
patients and result in reputational damage 
to the CCG. 

4x4=16 4x4=16 

11 If recruitment and retention issues across 
health and social care continue and 
demand increases over winter then this 
could result in failure to effectively deliver 
key services and maintain patient flow. 
There is likely to be reduced capacity this 
winter due to the requirement to remain 
within £3.2m envelope for ORC. 

5x4=20 4x4=16 

Total current level of risk against the objective 46 47 
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Strategic Objective 4: Integrate Care 

Reference Risk Description Initial 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Current 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

No risks with a score of 15 and above as at 
31 March 2019. 

Strategic Objective 5: Develop the Coastal West Sussex health system 

Reference Risk Description Initial 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Current 
Score 

(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

No risks with a score of 15 and above as at 
31 March 2019. 

Other sources of assurance 

Internal Control Framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims, and objectives. It is designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively, and 
economically. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a 
reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

The CCG’s internal control framework is constructed around the CCG’s risk and 
assurance framework and the CCG’s committee structure. The committees of the 
CCG have oversight of and seek assurance in respect of specific elements of the 
CCG’s responsibilities. During the course of the year the CCG has strengthened its 
management arrangements which have oversight of the ongoing operational 
performance and governance work of the organisation and ensure that information 
which is progressed to the CCG’s committee meetings is of a suitable standard for 
those committees to obtain the requisite level of assurance. 

Risk at a project level are currently managed by project leads with support from the 
Programme Management Office (PMO). At a project level we have individual project 
risk registers and these are subsequently embedded within the project 
documentation which is held centrally. The role of the PMO is to provide assurance 
and governance throughout this process and to inform project leads on the potential 
impact on other projects as part of project interdependencies. 
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Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task NHS 
England has published a template audit framework. 

 
Our new Lay Member for Audit and Assurance who took up his post in May 2018 is 
also the CCG’s Conflict of Interest Guardian. 

 

Staff awareness of conflicts of interest and gifts and hospitality has been raised 
through 2018/19 via the stand-up staff briefings and the regular staff newsletter and, 
in February 2019, the CCG’s Locality Directors and Clinical Leads underwent a 
bespoke training session on conflicts of interests designed to ensure they are fully 
aware of their responsibilities in this key area. 

 

During the course of 2018/19 the CCG has not identified any breaches of its policy 
on conflicts of interest. 

 

Finally the CCG’s internal auditors, TIAA, carried out an audit of conflicts of interest 
management on behalf of the CCG during 2018/19 as part of its internal audit 
programme. The audit provided ‘reasonable assurance’. This was subsequently 
reported to the Audit and Assurance Committee in March 2019. For the most part the 
CCG was in full compliance with the guidance with some further work to be 
undertaken in a small number of areas which have subsequently been the focus of 
further targeted work. 

 

Data quality 
The CCG’s commissioning role and its business plan for 2018/19 has been 
supported by analysis from Public Health colleagues at WSCC via the Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy and the Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) via its annual 
contract model. The annual contract model is built on Secondary User Service (SUS) 
and Service Level Agreement Monitoring data. 

 

The CCG continues to work with its principal providers to reconcile SUS data to their 
contract monitoring. The CCG has included a Data Quality Improvement Plan within 
the contract with WSHFT to improve data quality in a number of areas and we will 
continue to seek further improvements in data quality over the coming year, building 
on the progress made in 2018/19. 

 
The data received by the Governing Body and the committees of the CCG are 
continuously reviewed and the contents of reports are refreshed regularly to ensure 
that suitable information is available to the Governing Body and CCG’s committees. 

 

Information Governance (IG) 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees in particular 
personal identifiable information. 
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The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security and 
Protection (DSP) Toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 
the CCG, to other organisations, and to individuals that personal information is dealt 
with legally, securely, efficiently, and effectively. 

The CCG has completed the DSP Toolkit for 2018/19. Using the toolkit the CCG is 
able to demonstrate compliance with the ten data security standards, set out by 
Dame Fiona Caldicott’s independent review, and assess against Department of 
Health and Social Care IG policies and standards. The CCG is performing at the 
required level and achieved ‘Standards Met’ for the 2018/19 Toolkit. 

The Governing Body and I place high importance on ensuring there are robust 
information governance systems and processes in place to help protect patient and 
corporate information. The CCG has established an information governance 
management framework and has developed information governance processes and 
procedures in line with the requirements of the DSP. We have ensured all staff 
undertake annual information governance training and have implemented a staff 
information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information 
governance roles and responsibilities. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and the investigation of serious 
incidents. We have developed information risk assessment and management 
procedures and a programme to embed fully an information risk culture throughout 
the organisation. 

During 2018/19 the CGG has received no Serious Incident Requiring Investigation 
reports; however we continue to monitor both root and cause of low level Information 
Governance breaches to inform training needs and potential operational review. 

Business critical models 
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance 
of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the 2013 
Macpherson Review of Quality Assurance of Government Models. 

All business critical models have been identified and information about quality 
assurance processes for those models has been provided to the appropriate teams 
within the Department of Health. 

Third party assurances 
In 2018/19 the CCG commissioned support services from the following CSUs: 

 South Central and West (SCW CSU) provide Human Resources, Financial,
Business Intelligence, and

 North East London (NEL CSU) provides Information Technology services.

The CCG also employs its own analysts who review the data and reports provided 
by the CSU and may comment on their accuracy. The contract with the CSU is 
monitored by senior managers within the CCG and any issues are reported to the 
Local Management Team. 
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The CCG obtains assurance regarding CSU-provided services through Service 
Auditor Reporting. Service Auditor Reporting is undertaken by an independent 
auditor (Deloitte) to review the key business process controls of a service 
organisation and to give an opinion on whether control activities are designed and 
operating effectively for control objectives to be achieved. The CSUs provide the 
CCG with letters outlining the scope and findings of the audits and these, together 
with CCG management controls for monitoring the performance of the CSU, provide 
coverage for a significant portion of the year in relation to CSU activities. 

 

Control issues 

Since the beginning of this financial year the CCG has been implementing the 
recommendations of the externally commissioned governance review which was 
completed in October 2018. This work has significantly improved the CCG’s 
governance processes and increased the level of assurance and control for 
members of the Governing Body in relation to the CCG’s functions. 

 

Beyond the work carried out in relation to the CCG’s governance no other control 
issues have been identified which are likely to be prejudicial to the CCG’s ability to 
meet its objectives, to increase the risk that the CCG will be susceptible to fraud, to 
have a material impact on the accounts, or to put at risk the security of data integrity. 

 

Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of resources 

Through the use of the Integrated Single Financial Environment monthly finance 
reports are produced which are consistent in terms of information extracted from the 
ledgers and reported to budget holders and the Governing Body. The annual budget 
has been set to ensure the delivery of the financial framework that underpins the 
annual Business Plan and variations from this plan are closely monitored. 

 

Each month there is a triangulation of financial ledger information, contract 
monitoring information, reports on the QIPP programme achievement, and quality 
reports which generates an Integrated Performance Report which also includes an 
accompanying Contracting Report. This report is scrutinised at the Local 
Management Team meeting in the first instance and then extensively at the Finance 
and Performance Committee with quality aspects considered at the Quality 
Committee. It is a single report intended to give assurance to the Governing Body of 
the ongoing performance of the CCG throughout the year. 

 

This assures the Governing Body of the CCG’s performance that the CCG financial 
plan will be delivered and sets out what intervention has been made to address any 
shortfall in the QIPP savings and any other financial pressures in the overall 
forecast outturn. 
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As a result of feedback from the Finance and Performance Committee the content 
and format of the Integrated Performance Report has been extensively reviewed, 
revised, and strengthened during the course of 2018/19. 

 

The delivery of savings from the QIPP programme is always a key component of the 
assurance given to the Finance and Performance Committee and from there to the 
Governing Body. 

 
As part of their work the internal auditors have reviewed and reported upon the 
financial reports presented to the Governing Body. This review assists the Audit and 
Assurance Committee to be assured that reporting is accurate. 

 

Delegation of functions 

The CCG has not made any significant arrangements to delegate its functions either 
internally or externally. The CCG has a Scheme of Reservation and Delegation 
within its Standing Financial Instructions. 

 

The operational Scheme of Reservation and Delegation was reviewed and approved 
by the Audit and Assurance Committee in November 2018 in order to standardise 
the authorisation limits across the Central Sussex and East Surrey CCGs in line with 
the shared management arrangements. 

 

Counter fraud arrangements 

The CCG takes its responsibilities towards fraud, bribery and corruption very 
seriously and has in place thorough systems and practices to ensure that the 
organisation does not become a victim of fraud. We have appointed a Local Counter 
Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who works with the CCG to ensure that our policies are 
appropriate and up-to-date with the necessary legislation and the LCFS provides the 
CCG staff with annual counter fraud training. 

 

The LCFS is a regular attendee of the CCG’s Audit and Assurance Committee where 
they report to the Committee on progress made against active fraud investigations 
where the CCG is a potential victim. 

 

The LCFS’s report to the Audit and Assurance Committee also includes the CCG’s 
progress against national standards and the compliance of the CCG’s providers 
against their counter fraud reporting requirements under the standard NHS contract. 

 

The LCFS undertakes proactive work to detect abuse or fraud as well as investigates 
suspicions of fraud. There is a full set of policies and procedures in place and 
contact information has been provided via posters on staff notice boards, local 
intranet, and fraud newsletters. During 2018/19 the activities of the fraud service 
included: 

 

 Thematic reviews into Purchasing Cards and Personal Health Budgets 

 Fraud Awareness presentations to all staff and members 

 Registration concerns at GP surgeries 
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 Supporting the CCG to complete the Self-Review Tool to evidence how the
CCG approaches and tackles fraud. This is required annually by NHS
England and the NHS Counter Fraud Authority

 Monitoring the National Fraud Initiative for the CCG

 Issuing a Staff Fraud Survey annually which enables the LCFS to focus on
areas where awareness is low, and

 Issuing national and local ‘Fraud Alerts’ to the CCG and GP Practices.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, 
the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance 
and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 

“My overall opinion is that Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a 
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, 
some weakness in the design and / or inconsistent application of controls, put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk.” 

During 2018/19, internal audit issued the following audit reports: 

Internal Audit Reports 2018/19 

Area of Audit 
Level of Assurance 
Given 

Locally Commissioned Services Activity Substantial 

Quality – Care Home & Domiciliary N/A 

Serious Incidents Reasonable 

Primary Care Capacity Reasonable 

Joint Working Arrangements 

QIPP Delivery Reasonable 

Conflicts of Interest Reasonable 

Prescribing & Medicines Management 

Performance Management (Draft) Reasonable 

Assurance Framework & Risk Management Reasonable 
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Area of Audit 
Level of Assurance 
Given 

Critical Financial Assurance – Financial Accounting, 
Non-Pay Expenditure & Payroll 

 

Reasonable 

Cyber Security – Maturity Assessment (Draft) N/A 

Data Security & Protection Toolkit (Part 1) N/A 

Data Security & Protection Toolkit (Part 2) Substantial 

 

The outcomes of the internal audit assurance assessments undertaken in 2018/19 
demonstrates a significant commitment to the internal audit process. The CCG has 
throughout 2018/19 used internal audit to investigate areas where we felt the CCG 
would benefit from improved processes and accordingly some areas of limited 
assurance have been identified and the audit findings have been used to enhance 
our systems, structures, and processes where required. Subsequent progress 
against individual audit report findings are reported and monitored at the 
management team level and also by the Audit and Assurance Committee. 

 

Importantly the outcomes of the internal audit assurance assessments undertaken in 
2018/19 demonstrate an improvement on the position in 2017/18. This gives me 
further confidence that the governance arrangements across NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG have become stronger and more embedded during the course of the 
past year. 

 

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk 
management and internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, executive managers, and clinical leads within the CCG 
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. 

 

My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their 
annual audit letter and other reports and the work of our external consultants 
appointed to review the governance of the CCG. 

 

Our BAF provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage 
risks to the CCG achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed. 

 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by: 
 

 The Governing Body 

 The Audit and Assurance Committee, and 

 The CCG’s Internal Auditors, TIAA. 
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Adam Doyle 

Accountable 

28 May 2019 

They collectively provide me with assurance on the strength of the internal control 

processes in place within the CCG during 2018/19. 

Following what was a challenging year for the CCG I have overseen the 

implementation of the recommendations from our external governance reviiew which 

reported its findings in October 2018 and which were accepted by the Gov1erning 

Body .  The CCG's subsequent action plan was approved by the Governing1 Body in 

November 2018 and has been progressed during the course of the year. At its March 

2019 meeting the Audit and Assurance Committee received a detailed pro! ress  

report confirming implementation of the majority of the review's findings and clear 

plans and timelines to address the remaining recommendations and accompanying 

actions. 

Conclusion 

I have, with the support of the Governing Body, overseen a number of actions over 

the course of 2018/19 designed to improve key aspects of the CCG's governance 

and increase the level of internal control within the organisation. These changes 

provide me as the Chief Executive Officer and the CCG Governing Body with 

assurance on the internal control processes in place within the CCG and that they 

are rooted in a strong underpinning governance framework. 

Officer 
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Attendance at committees 2018/19 

Governing Body 
 

 
Name 

 
Position 

Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Margaret Ashworth Interim Chief Financial Officer 1/1 

Dr Tej Bansil Locality Director for Regis 6/6 

Mr Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member, 
Secondary Care Clinician 

5/6 

Dr Victoria Beattie Coordinating Clinical Lead Role 1/1 

Dr Richard Brown Local Medical Committee 
Representative 

4/6 

Allison Cannon Chief Nurse 3/3 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

4/6 

Dr Hannah Davies Executive Medical Director 3/3 

Malcolm Dennett Interim Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance 

3/3 

Adam Doyle Chief Executive Officer 5/6 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

5/6 

Dr Edward Ford Locality Director for Chichester 4/6 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair 5/5 

Gill Galliano Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance 

0/1 

Dr Rob Henderson Locality Director for Cissbury 3/3 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member, 
Registered Nurse 

6/6 

Dr Su McCole Clinical Chair 3/3 
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Name 

 
Position 

Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Chris Moore Lay Member for Audit and 
Assurance 

1/1 

Dr Jo Monjardino Locality Director for Adur 4/6 

Dr Sarah Pledger Locality Director for Arun 6/6 

Dr Alex Rainbow Locality Director for 
Chanctonbury 

6/6 

Anna Raleigh Director of Public Health 4/6 

Pippa Ross Smith Chief Finance Officer 4/5 

Dominic Wright Managing Director 6/6 

 

Audit and Assurance Committee Attendance 2018/19 
 

 
Name 

 
Position 

Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance (Chair) 

4/4 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member, 
Secondary Care Clinician 

4/4 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

4/4 

Malcolm Dennett Interim Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance 

2/2 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair 1/1 

Gill Galliano Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance 

3/3 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member, 
Registered Nurse 

3/4 

Chris Moore Lay Member for Audit and 
Assurance 

1/1 
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Finance and Performance Committee 
 

 
Name 

 
Position 

Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Margaret Ashworth Interim Chief Finance Officer 1/1 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member, 
Secondary Care Clinician 

7/9 

Dr Tej Bansil Locality Director for Regis 4/9 

Alex Rainbow Locality Director for 
Chanctonbury 

5/9 

Malcolm Dennett Interim Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance (Acting Chair) 

7/8 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

8/9 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair 2/2 

Gill Galliano Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance 

7/7 

Jeremy Horgan Deputy Chief Finance Officer 8/9 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member, 
Registered Nurse 

7/9 

Pippa Ross-Smith Chief Finance Officer 8/8 
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Quality Committee 

Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member, 
Secondary Care Clinician 

7/7 

Kate Bailey Consultant, Public Health Team, 
WSCC 

0/7 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

5/7 

Amy Dissanayake Quality Clinical Lead 1/1 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair 2/2 

Gill Galliano Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance 

5/5 

Carol Harris Head of Quality 5/7 

Tim Hodgetts Deputy Director of Quality and 
Patient 

5/7 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member, 
Registered Nurse (Chair) 

7/7 

Dr Jeremy Mayhew GP Clinical Lead Quality 3/5 

Dr Jo Monjardino Locality Director for Adur 2/3 

Dr Sarah Pledger Locality Director for Arun 2/3 

Frances Russell Chair, Healthwatch 4/5 
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 

 
Name 

 
Position 

Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Margaret Ashworth Interim Chief Financial Officer 0/1 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member, 
Secondary Care Clinician (Chair) 

6/6 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

3/6 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and 
Assurance 

4/5 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member, 
Registered Nurse 

5/6 

Chris Moore Lay Member for Audit and 
Assurance 

1/1 

Pippa Ross-Smith Chief Finance Officer 4/5 
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Remuneration Committee 

Name Position 
Attended / 

Eligible to attend 

Ralph Beard Independent Clinical Member, 
Secondary Care Clinician 

6/6 

Jayam Dalal Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement 

4/6 

John Eagles Lay Member, Audit and Assurance 6/6 

Gill Galliano Acting Lay Chair (Chair) 5/5 

Gill Galliano Lay Member, Finance and 
Performance 

1/1 

Alison Lewis-Smith Independent Clinical Member, 
Registered Nurse 

4/6 

Dr Su McCole Clinical Chair 2/2 

The above includes attendance at a Remuneration Committees in Common meeting 
held jointly with NHS Brighton and Hove CCG, NHS Crawley CCG, NHS East Surrey 
CCG, NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG, NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG, 
NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG and NHS Hastings and Rother CCG 
on the 28 February 2019. 
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Remuneration and Staff Report 

Remuneration Report 

Remuneration Policy 
The remuneration report discloses all relevant information with respect to senior 
managers in NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG.  Senior managers are defined as: 

“Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the CCG. This means those who influence the 
decisions of the CCG as a whole rather than the decision of individual directorates or 
departments”. 

The Accountable Officer has confirmed that the definition of senior manager in 
respect to NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG encompasses both members and regular 
attendees of Governing Body meetings.  This definition, for the purposes of this 
report, has been taken to include both employee and officer voting members of the 
Governing Body which includes six Locality Directors who represent the CCG’s 
constituent GP practices. Each Locality Director is reimbursed 2 sessions (2 x 
3.75hrs) a week this allows for the locality directors’ attendance at Governing Body 
meetings and associated work, and compensates the practice for time spent 
undertaking work for the CCG. 

Where a senior manager and member of the Governing Body works across more 
than one CCG the appropriate proportion of remuneration is reported and their total 
remuneration across both CCGs is shown separately in order to ensure full 
disclosure. 

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s 
Constitution, Standing Orders and Scheme of Delegation. The Committee is an 
executive committee of the Governing Body but has no executive powers other than 
those specifically delegated in its terms of reference. 

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining the remuneration 
including fees, allowances and pension contributions for senior employees and, from 
the Membership via the Constitution, to determine the remuneration including 
allowances for members of the Governing Body who are not employees. The CCG 
Constitution reflects statute and requires the Remuneration Committee to make 
recommendations to the Governing Body with regard to determining the 
remuneration, fees and allowances for CCG employees and other persons providing 
services to it. 

Only members of the Governing Body may be members of the Remuneration 
Committee. The Committee is chaired by the CCG’s Clinical Chairman and its 
membership consists of the Independent and Lay Members on the Governing Body, 
namely the Lay Member for Finance and Performance, the Lay Member Audit and 
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Assurance, the Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement, the Independent 
Clinical Member – Registered Nurse and the Independent Clinical Member – 
Secondary Care Clinician. 

The Chief Executive Officer and other clinical or senior officers may attend the 
Committee meetings as directed by members of the Committee, but do not have 
voting rights. 

The Committee is quorate if there is a minimum of three members; the Chair, a Lay 
Member and an Independent Clinical Member present. In the Chair’s absence, a 
Lay Member will chair the meeting. A decision put to a vote at the meeting is 
determined by a majority of the votes of members present. In the case of an equal 
vote, the Chair of the Committee has a second and casting vote. 

The Committee has met no less than twice a year, as provided in its terms of 
reference. The details of Remuneration Committee membership and attendance is 
shown in the annual governance statement. 

The CCG contracts with a CSU under a service level agreement to deliver HR 
services. This includes provision of specialist HR advice to its Remuneration 
Committee. The Committee therefore has access to and takes advice from a named 
HR Lead, employed by the CCG’s HR provider South, Central and West 
CSU. Specialist advice covered employment law, NHS terms and conditions, the 
interpretation of NHS England remuneration guidance for CCGs, and the provision of 
benchmarking information relating to local and regional CCG Governing Bodies. 

The information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to external audit, 
includes: 

 The table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative
notes on pages 124 to 130

 The table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes
on pages 132 to 134

 The narrative disclosure of pay multiples on page 135, and

 Employee staff numbers outlined in note 4 to the Accounts and on page 18.

The work of the Remuneration Committee and decisions made 
The Committee has worked to its agreed annual work plan over the past year and 
has reached decisions on the following: 

 Agreed payment of a complexity allowance to the interim AO across the eight
CCGs

 Agreed to paying an equal share across the eight Sussex and East Surrey
CCGs of a non-consolidated complexity allowance for the Director of
Corporate Affairs and Director of Corporate Programmes

 Agreed to Sussex and East Surrey CCGs Chief Executive Officer’s salary
(pending approval from NHS England), and

 Agreed to VSM terms and conditions.
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In reaching decisions, the Committee was provided with relevant benchmarking and 
up to date guidance from its specialist HR provider to ensure all decisions are robust. 

Remuneration of very senior managers 
In setting levels of remuneration, the Committee takes into account national and 
local pay guidance from the NHS, locally prevailing employment conditions and the 
levels of responsibility associated with the post. In addition the Committee has 
access to and takes specialist HR advice from South Central West CSU. 

The pay and conditions for senior managers are determined by taking into account 
relevant national pay frameworks and other guidance as appropriate, to ensure that 
remuneration is reasonable having regard to their individual contributions while 
having proper regard to the CCG’s circumstances and performance. 

Where interim senior managers of the CCG have been paid more than £150,000k as 
of (1 January 2018) per annum, this has been in consultation with NHS England with 
business cases agreed by the Remuneration Committee before being submitted for 
NHS England review and approval. 

In determining the emoluments for Governing Body members, the Remuneration 
Committee considers the rates for previous and current NHS organisations as well 
as the best practice terms of appointment provided by NHS England. 

The current remuneration policy does not specify performance related rewards or 
targets and amendments to remuneration are considered and determined annually 
by the Committee. 

The performance of the senior executive team is monitored through an annual 
appraisal process based on organisational and individual objectives. 

Members of the Governing Body are either elected by the membership, selected by 
the Governing Body, or employed by the CCG. The method of appointment for each 
role is described within the CCG’s Constitution. 

Non-executive members of the Governing Body are appointed for a term of three 
years with potential for reappointment. This is to ensure that their independence is 
maintained and that the membership can be reviewed at regular periods. 

Notice periods for senior managers are generally set at such a period as to allow 
adequate opportunity to identify a replacement. The CCG considers that three 
months is generally an acceptable notice period for senior managers although 
certain key posts, including those on the Governing Body, have notice periods of six 
months. 
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 

Salary Disclosure Table (1 of 2) 

Name and Title 

2018/19 

Total 
Salary & 

Fees 

(bands 
of 

£5000) 

(a) 

CCG 
share off 
Salary 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

(b) 

Expense 
payment 

s 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 
£100** 

(c) 

Perform 
ance pay 

and 
bonuses 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

(d) 

Long 
term 

performa 
nce pay 

and 
bonuses 
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

(e) 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(f) 

TOTAL 

(a to e) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

£000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Margaret Ashworth, 
Interim Chief Finance 
Officer (to 31/0518) 
(see note 2) 

50-55 50-55 50-55

Dr Tej Bansil, Locality 
Director, Regis 

30-35 30-35
242.5- 

245 
275-280

Ralph Beard, 
Independent Clinical 
Member, Secondary 
Care Clinician 

15-20 15-20 15-20

Dr Victoria Beattie, 
Co-ordinating Clinical 
Lead Role (from 
15/08/18 to 30/11/18) 
(see note 4) 

75-80 75-80 12.5-15 90-95

Dr Richard Brown, 
Local Medical 
Committee 
Representative (see 
note 1) 

0-5 0-5 0-5

Allison Cannon, Chief 
Nurse (see note 3) 

100-105 25-30 0-5 17.5-20 45-50

Jayam Dalal, Lay 
Member, Patient and 
Public Engagement 

10-15 10-15 10-15
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Name and Title 

2018/19 

Total 
Salary & 

Fees 

(bands 
of 

£5000) 

(a) 

CCG 
share off 
Salary 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

(b) 

Expense 
payment 

s 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 
£100** 

(c) 

Perform 
ance pay 

and 
bonuses 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

(d) 

Long 
term 

performa 
nce pay 

and 
bonuses 
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

(e) 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(f) 

TOTAL 

(a to e) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

£000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Hannah Davies, 
Executive Medical 
Director (from 
05/11/18) (see notes 
4 and 5) 

190-195 190-195 17.5-20 210-215 

Malcolm Dennett, 
Interim Lay Member, 
Finance and 
Performance (from 
10/09/18) (see note 
3) 

20-25 5-10 5-10

Adam Doyle, Chief 
Executive Officer 
(see note 3) 

160-165 20-25 5-7.5 30-35

John Eagles, Lay 
Member, Audit and 
Assurance (from 
01/05/18) 

10-15 10-15 10-15

Dr Edward Ford, 
Locality Director, 
Chichester 

30-35 30-35
112.5- 

115 
145-150

Gill Galliano, Lay 
Member, Finance 
and Performance 

30-35 30-35 30-35

Dr Robert 
Henderson, Locality 
Director, Cissbury 
(from 01/05/18 to 
30/09/18) 

10-15 10-15
127.5- 

130 
135-140
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Name and Title 

2018/19 

Total 
Salary & 

Fees 

(bands 
of 

£5000) 

(a) 

CCG 
share off 
Salary 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

(b) 

Expense 
payment 

s 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 
£100** 

(c) 

Perform 
ance pay 

and 
bonuses 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

(d) 

Long 
term 

performa 
nce pay 

and 
bonuses 
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

(e) 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(f) 

TOTAL 

(a to e) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

£000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Alison Lewis-Smith, 
Independent Clinical 
Member, Registered 
Nurse 

10-15 10-15 10-15

Dr Su McCole, CCG 
Clinical Chair 

90-95 90-95 90-95

Chris Moore, Lay 
Member for Audit and 
Assurance (to 
30/05/18) 

0-5 0-5 0-5

Dr Jo Monjardino, 
Locality Director for 
Adur 

25-30 25-30 0-5 25-30

Dr Sarah Pledger, 
Locality Director, 
Arun (see note 4) 

70-75 70-75
330- 
332.5 

405-410

Dr Alex Rainbow, 
Locality Director, 
Chanctonbury 

15-20 15-20 15-20

Anna Raleigh, Public 
Health 
Representative, West 
Sussex County 
Council  (see note 1) 

0-5 0-5 0-5

Pippa Ross-Smith, 
Chief Finance Officer 
(from 01/06/18) 

95-100 95-100 100-150 110-115
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Name and Title 

2018/19 

Total 
Salary & 

Fees 

(bands 
of 

£5000) 

(a) 

CCG 
share off 
Salary 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

(b) 

Expense 
payment 

s 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 
£100** 

(c) 

Perform 
ance pay 

and 
bonuses 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

(d) 

Long 
term 

performa 
nce pay 

and 
bonuses 
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

(e) 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(f) 

TOTAL 

(a to e) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

£000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dominic Wright, 
Managing Director 
(see note 3) 

125-130 125-130 125-130

Sarah Valentine, 
Strategic Director of 
Contracting and 
Performance (see 
note 3) 

110-115 25-30 0 25-30

Glyn Dodd, Director 
of Corporate 
Programmes (from 
1/11/18) (see note 3) 

105-110 0-5 2.5-5 5-10

Terry Willows, 
Director of Corporate 
Affairs (from 1/11/18) 
(see note 3) 

105-110 0-5 0 0-5

Note 1 - Anna Raleigh and Dr Richard Brown are not remunerated by the CCG in 
relation to their roles on the Governing Body 
Note 2 - The amount shown for Margaret Ashworth is the amount paid to an agency 
for provision of staff, not the salary received. The figure includes non-recoverable 
VAT and agency fees. 
Note 3 - Dominic Wright, Adam Doyle, Alison Cannon, Glyn Dodd, Terry Willows, 
Sarah Valentine and Malcolm Dennett are all employed by other CCGs and figures 
shown are % recharge to Coastal West Sussex CCG. 
Note 4 - The figures shown for Sarah Pledger, Hannah Davies and Victoria Beattie 
all include amounts for secondary clinical roles 
Note 5 - The figure for Hannah Davies includes pay arrears dating back to June 
2016 for her clinical role 
Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100. 

NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 127 



Name and Title 

2017/18 

(a) 

Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(b) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

(c) 

Performan 
ce pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(d) 

Long term 
performan 
ce pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(e) 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(f) 

TOTAL 

(a to e) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Katie Armstrong – 
Clinical Chief Officer 
(0.8 WTE) 

115-120 35-37.5 150-155

Marie Dodd - Chief 
Operating Officer 

110-115 0 110-115

Glynn Dodd - Chief 
of Development and 
Transformation 
(01/04/17 to 
19/12/17) 

70-75 7.5-10 80-85

Neil Cook - Interim 
Chief Finance Officer 
(01/04/17 to 
23/05/17)** 

35-40 35-40

Margaret Ashworth - 
Interim  Chief 
Finance Officer (from 
11/0517)** 

295-300 295-300

Ralph McCormack - 
Executive Lead for 
Stabilisation & 
Transition**** 

275-280 275-280

Dr Yvonne Grant - 
Locality Director 

25-30 25-27.5 50-55

Dr Ian Pidgeon - 
Locality Director 
(01/04/17 to 
31/07/17) 

5-10 5-10
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Name and Title 

2017/18 

(a) 

Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(b) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

(c) 

Performan 
ce pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(d) 

Long term 
performan 
ce pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(e) 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(f) 

TOTAL 

(a to e) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Joanna 
Monjardino – 
Locality Director 
(from 01/02/18) 

0-5 0-5

Dr Edward Ford – 
Locality Director 
(from 01/02/18)***** 

0-5 0-5

Dr Sarah Pledger – 
Locality Director 
(from 23/03/18)***** 

45-50 45-50

Dr Alex Rainbow– 
Locality Director 

10-15 10-15

Dr Louise 
Baverstock– Locality 
Director 

25-30 107.5-110 135-140

Dr Sandeep Mtharu - 
Locality Director 
(01/04/17 to 
03/10/17) 

10-15 10-15

Karen Sallis - 
WSPMA 
Representative 
(01/04/17 
19/07/17)*** 

0-5 0-5

Dr Ralph Beard – 
Independent 
Member - Secondary 
Care Clinician 

15-20 15-20

Dr Richard Brown – 
LMC representative* 

0-5 0-5
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Name and Title 

2017/18 

(a) 

Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(b) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

(c) 

Performan 
ce pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(d) 

Long term 
performan 
ce pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(e) 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(f) 

TOTAL 

(a to e) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Alison Lewis-Smith - 
Lay Member 

10-15 10-15

Gillian Galliano - Lay 
Member (from 
09/10/17) 

5-10 5-10

Jayam Dalal - Lay 
Member 

10-15 10-15

Chris Moore –Lay 
Member 

10-15 10-15

Jenny Kay - 
Registered Nurse 
(01/04/17 to 
31/10/17) 

5-10 5-10

Kieran Stigant – 
Chair 

20-25 20-25

Dr Su Stone - 
Clinical Chair 
Designate (started 
19/02/18) 

5-10 5-10

Dr Kate Bailey - 
Public Health 
Representative 
WSCC * 

0-5 0-5

Anna Raleigh - 
Public Health 
Representative 
WSCC (started 
23/01/18)* 

0-5 0-5
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*Anna Raleigh, Dr Kate Bailey and Dr Richard Brown are not remunerated by the
CCG in relation to their roles on the Governing Body.

**The services of Margaret Ashworth and Neil Cook were provided through an
agency and the disclosed costs include irrecoverable value added tax. 

***Karen Sallis was remunerated under a practice secondment agreement as she is 
an employee of Bersted Green Surgery. 

****As Executive Lead for Stabilisation and Transition, Ralph McCormack has been a 
regular attendee but not a member of the Governing Body. 

*****Dr Edward Ford and Dr Sarah Pledger were not remunerated by the CCG within 
the 2017/18 financial year for their Locality Director roles 

Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on 
the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and 
Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the 
NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 
payable to that scheme for the accounting period. 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do 
not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a 
formal actuarial valuation, the Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments 
in intervening years”. 

An outline of these follows: 

a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary
(currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in
conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019 is based on
valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the
methodology prescribed in International Accounting Standards 19, relevant FReM
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been
used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. 
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 
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b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the
benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and
employers.

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was 
completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer 
contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care 
have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution 
rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date. 

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative 
to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from 
the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part 
of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 

Pension Disclosure Table (2 of 2) 

Name and Title 

(a) 

Real 
increas 
e in 
pension 
at 
pension 
age 

(bands 
of 
£2,500) 

(b) 

Real 
increas 
e in 
pension 
lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 

(bands 
of 
£2,500) 

(c) 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at 
pension 
age at 
31 
March 
2019 

(bands 
of 
£5,000) 

(d) 

Lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 
related 
to 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2019 

(bands 
of 
£5,000 

(e) 

Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value at 
1 April 
2019 

(f) 

Real 
Increas 
e in 
Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value 

(g) 

Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 
March 
2019 

(h) 

Employ 
ers 
Contrib 
ution to 
partners 
hip 
pension 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Tej Bansil, 
Locality Director, 
Regis 

10-12.5 30-32.5 10-15 30-35 0 187 192 0 

Dr Victoria 
Beattie, Co- 
ordinating 
Clinical Lead 
Role 

0-2.5 0 10-15 20-25 160 25 202 0 

Allison Cannon, 
Chief Nurse 

0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 20-25 136 31 175 0 
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Name and Title 

(a) 

Real 
increas 
e in 
pension 
at 
pension 
age 

(bands 
of 
£2,500) 

(b) 

Real 
increas 
e in 
pension 
lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 

(bands 
of 
£2,500) 

(c) 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at 
pension 
age at 
31 
March 
2019 

(bands 
of 
£5,000) 

(d) 

Lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 
related 
to 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2019 

(bands 
of 
£5,000 

(e) 

Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value at 
1 April 
2019 

(f) 

Real 
Increas 
e in 
Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value 

(g) 

Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 
March 
2019 

(h) 

Employ 
ers 
Contrib 
ution to 
partners 
hip 
pension 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Hannah 
Davies, 
Executive 
Medical Director 

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 15-20 107 14 152 0 

Adam Doyle, 
Chief Executive 
Officer 

0-2.5 0 0-5 0 12 5 21 0 

Dr Edward Ford, 
Locality Director, 
Chichester 

5-7.5 12.5-15 5-10 20-25 39 80 125 0 

Dr Robert 
Henderson, 
Locality Director, 
Cissbury 

5-7.5 15-17.5 5-10 15-20 0 88 89 0 

Dr Jo 
Monjardino, 
Locality Director, 
Adur 

0 0 10-15 30-35 197 1 207 0 

Dr Sarah 
Pledger, Locality 
Director, Arun 

15-17.5 40-42.5 15-20 40-45 0 307 318 0 

Sarah Valentine, 
Strategic 
Director of 
Contracts and 
Performance 

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 40-45 269 26 307 0 
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Name and Title 

(a) 

Real 
increas 
e in 
pension 
at 
pension 
age 

(bands 
of 
£2,500) 

(b) 

Real 
increas 
e in 
pension 
lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 

(bands 
of 
£2,500) 

(c) 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at 
pension 
age at 
31 
March 
2019 

(bands 
of 
£5,000) 

(d) 

Lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 
related 
to 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2019 

(bands 
of 
£5,000 

(e) 

Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value at 
1 April 
2019 

(f) 

Real 
Increas 
e in 
Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value 

(g) 

Cash 
Equival 
ent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 
March 
2019 

(h) 

Employ 
ers 
Contrib 
ution to 
partners 
hip 
pension 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Glyn Dodd, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Programmes 

0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 0-5 26 6 33 0 

Cash equivalent transfer values 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 
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Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include 
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement). 

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office 
There were no compensation payments made during the year for early retirement or 
loss of office. 

Payments to past members 
There were no payments made to past members. 

Pay multiples 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation's workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in Coastal West 
Sussex CCG in the financial year 2018/19 was £355-£360k (2017/18: £430- 
£435k). This was 8.91 times (2017/18: 12.16) the median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £40-£45k (2017/18: £35-£40k). 

The reduction in pay multiples is chiefly as a result of the highest paid 
Director/Member being filled by an interim member of staff in 2017/18, but a 
substantive member of staff in 2018/19 at a lower cost. The increase in banding of 
the median remuneration of the workforce is as a result of Agenda for Change 
uplifts. 

In 2018/19, 0 (2017/18 0) employees received remuneration in excess of the 
highest-paid director/Member. Remuneration ranged from £15k to £360k (2017/18: 
£10k to £432k). 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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Staff Report 

Number of senior managers 

Band/Spot salary Numbers (Headcount) 

VSM 3 

Staff numbers and costs 

Headcount Cost £ Composition 

Pay Band 
Perm 

Employed 

Other 
(Fixed 
Term & 
Lays) 

Perm 
Employed 

Other Male Female 

Band 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Band 3 23 2 253,638 3,533 3 22 

Band 4 11 1 156,948 1,594 3 9 

Band 5 28 1 616,942 8,902 2 27 

Band 6 49 3 939,505 15,401 4 48 

Band 7 28 1 1,135,815 24,971 8 21 

Band 8A 25 12 1,231,277 370,703 6 31 

Band 8B 13 1 740,599 75,699 5 9 

Band 8C 11 1 985,464 34,584 5 7 

Band 8D 7 0 548,545 0 5 2 

Band 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Executive Board 
Members/ GPs/ Lay 
Members/ Spot Pay 
Rates/ Agency/ 
Inward 
secondments* 

12 28 1,674,108 1,886,226 19 21 

Total 207 50 8,282,840 2,421,613 60 197 

* includes all clinical leads
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Staff composition 
 

Governing Body Total 

Male 9 

Female 10 

Grand total 19 

 

 

Total CCG staff Total 

Male 60 

Female 197 

Grand total 257 

 

Sickness absence data 
Information on staff absence can be found in the employees benefits note in the 
Financial Statements. 

 
In 2018/19 the CCG recorded a sickness absence rate of 4.14% (FTE). NHS Coastal 
West Sussex CCG has recently changed its sickness reporting arrangements and 
continues to actively manage sickness absence. 

 

Staff policies 
The CCG has a suite of employment policies which it keeps regularly under review. 
Alongside other Sussex CCGs, NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is a member of a 
joint committee where the CCGs and the Staff Side representatives can keep the 
agreed policies under review to ensure that they remain up to date. 

 

We are proud to be accredited under the “Two Ticks” scheme. Our recruitment and 
selection policy states that where a person applies for a role with the CCG, who 
meets the essential criteria and notifies us that they have a disability, we will always 
offer them an interview. We will of course be happy to make any reasonable 
adjustment to enable the applicant to attend an interview. 

 

In relation to staff members with disabilities, we will make all reasonable adjustments 
to facilitate them in their role with us. If necessary we will liaise with external 
professionals, such as “Access to Work” and our occupational health provider, who 
will assess the employee and make recommendations as to what adjustments can 
be made to assist them in the workplace. 

 
 
 
 

 

NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 137 



It is the CCG’s policy to develop a personal development plan for each member of 
staff which is kept under review as part of the staff appraisal process. Our policy on 
equal opportunities is clear that we will treat staff with disabilities no less favourably if 
they have a disability. It is our intention to at all times comply with the Public Sector 
Equality Duty and meet our wider obligations under the Equality Act 2010. 

 

Staff equality network 
A staff equality network has been formed during the reporting period. This network 
covers all of the CCGs within Sussex and East Surrey. The network has strong 
leadership support and commitment, and is beginning to achieve progress. 

 

 

 
We are proud to note that on 30 January 2019 the Sussex and East Surrey 

Commissioners (DCS012299) was certified as ‘disability confident committed’ 

employer. 

As a Disability Confident Committed Employer we have committed to: 
 

 Ensure our recruitment process is inclusive and accessible

 Communicating and promoting vacancies

 Offering an interview to disabled people

 Anticipating and providing reasonable adjustments as required

 Supporting any existing employee who acquires a disability or long term

 Health condition, enabling them to stay in work, and

 At least one activity that will make a difference for disabled people
 

To find out more about Disability Confident you can visit www.gov.uk/disability- 
confident. 

 

Facility time 
The CCG is a relevant public sector employer as defined by the Trade Union (Facility 
Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 and has one full time employee to 
report, who spent 1% to 50% of their working hours on facility time. 

 

Expenditure on consultancy 
The total cost of external consultancy fees for 2018/19 was £396,456. 
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Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day 
and that last longer than six months: 
 

Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019 5 

Of which, the number that have existed: 

for less than one year at the time of reporting 3 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 1 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 1 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 

 
In 2018/19 the establishment control process required approval at weekly 
management meeting for all changes to the CCGs establishment; including 
recruitment of interims. 

 

The CCG does review off payroll arrangements to check for IR35 implications and in 
all cases these engagements have been deemed to be outside of the scope of IR35. 
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New off-payroll engagements 
Where the reformed public sector rules apply, entities must complete Table 2 for all 
new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer 
than 6 months: 
 

Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six 
months in duration, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 

 

18 

Of which: 

Number assessed as caught by IR35 0 

Number assessed as not caught by IR35 18 

  

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) 
and are on the departmental payroll 

 

1 

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / 
assurance purposes during the year 

 

0 

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status 
following the consistency review 

 

0 

 

Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2018 and 31 March 2019. 

 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or 
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the 
financial year (1) 

 
1 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been 
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should 
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements (2). 

 
 

23 

 
Note 
Margaret Ashworth fulfilled the statutory Chief Financial Officer role between 1 April 
2018 and 31 May 2018 as the CCG was unable to appoint a substantive post holder. 
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments 

Table 1: Exit Packages 

Exit 
package 
cost band 
(inc. any 
special 
payment 
element 

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Cost of 
other 

departure
s agreed 

Total 
number 
of exit 

packages 

Total cost 
of exit 

packages 

Number of 
departures 

where 
special 

payments 
have been 

made 

Cost of 
special 

payment 
element 
included 

in exit 
packages 

Whole 
numbers only 

£s 
Whole 

numbers 
only 

£s 
Whole 

numbers 
only 

£s 
Whole 

numbers 
only 

£s 

Less than 
£10,000 

0 0 

£10,000 - 
£25,000 

1 18,283 1 18,283 

£25,001 - 
£50,000 

1 36,889 1 36,889 

£50,001 - 
£100,000 

2 148,151 2 148,151 

£100,001 
- 
£150,000 

£150,001 
–£200,000 

>£200,000 

TOTALS 203,323 203,323 0 0 

Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the 
provisions of NHS Pension Scheme. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in 
the year of departure. Where the NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has agreed early 
retirements, the additional costs are met by the NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG and 
not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS 
Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table. 
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Table 2: Analysis of Other Departures 

Agreements 
Total Value of 
agreements 

Number £000 

Voluntary redundancies 
including early retirement 
contractual costs 

3 103 

Mutually agreed 
resignations (MARS) 
contractual costs 

0 0 

Early retirements in the 
efficiency of the service 
contractual costs 

0 0 

Contractual payments in 
lieu of notice* 

4 100 

Exit payments following 
Employment Tribunals or 
court orders 

0 0 

Non-contractual payments 
requiring HMT approval** 

0 0 

TOTAL 0 203 

As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will 
be counted separately in this Note, the total number above will not necessarily match 
the total numbers in Table A which will be the number of individuals. 

* Any non-contractual payments in lieu of notice are disclosed under “non-contracted
payments requiring HMT approval” below.

** Includes any non-contractual severance payment made following judicial 
mediation, and X (list amounts) relating to non-contractual payments in lieu of notice. 

No non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value 
was more than 12 months’ of their annual salary. 

The Remuneration Report includes disclosure of exit packages payable to 
individuals named in that Report. 
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Parliamentary accountability and 
audit report 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary 

Accountability and Audit Report but has opted to include disclosures on remote 

contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges in this 

Accountability Report at notes 1.1 to 1.4 below. An audit certificate and report is also 

included in this Annual Report at Appendix A. 

The CCG does not have any remote contingent liabilities in  2018/19 

The CCG did not have any losses and special payments in  2018/19 

The CCG publishes a register of gifts and hospitality on the internet on a quarterly 

basis, and 

The CCG did not have any fees and charges to disclose in  2018/19. 

Accountability Report 

Adam Doyle 

Accountable Officer 

28 May 2019 
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Finance Report 

Managing a challenging financial agenda 

Overall summary of the financial position 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG delivered a £6k surplus after CSF in 2018/19. The 
key results are: 

 The CCG delivered a £6k surplus against a break-even position inclusive of

CSF against a Revenue Resource Limit of £806.8m

 Cash was managed within the resource limits available, and

 The CCG, as a result of its many joint working arrangements, stayed within its
running cost target of £10.9m, restricting costs to £10.8m.

Finance report 
In 2018/19 the CCG was required to set its financial plan in accordance with the 
planning requirements laid down by NHS England. This plan included 0.5% 
contingency, and a challenging savings target requiring a QIPP efficiency saving as 
well as identifying other savings on discretionary expenditure with an overall savings 
target of 4%. 

The CCG was able to deliver the 2018/19 plan as a result of: 

 Achieving £32.3m QIPP against a plan of £34.6m, and

 Utilising 0.5% contingency.

Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 
The NHS as a whole has to improve efficiency to offset the rising cost of healthcare 
from new technologies, population growth, inflation, and other pressures. A national 
programme is now well established to release savings by improving quality, driving 
innovation in healthcare, improving productivity, and preventing ill-health. 

The CCG plan for 2018/19 included a savings target of £34.6m (4% of allocation). 
This is significantly above the CCG national average for delivery over the last three 
years. The actual delivery of savings was £32.3m (93% of plan). 

Running costs 
Each CCG is set a limit on how much it can spend on its administrative and 
management costs. We were able to manage our business within the £10.9m limit 
with a running cost spend of £10.8m. The CCG manages its running cost allowance 
as efficiently as possible through close working with other Sussex and East Surrey 
CCGs. 
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Looking ahead 
The financial prospects for 2019/20 and subsequent years remain challenging, with 
significant savings targets to be met and rising demand for services coupled with an 
ageing population with increasingly complex health needs. 

 
The CCG will be under its funding target, sometimes known as the ‘fair shares’ 
target, compared with other local CCGs by 2019/20. The CCG’s funding allocation,  
in terms of distance from target, will be under target by -0.58% at the end of 2019/20. 

 

The CCG has received an additional programme allocation of £42.6m in 2019/20. 
The CCG has to fund tariff uplift (net 2.7%), growth in activity, and Operating Plan 
investments required to deliver the national guidance around mental health, 
community and primary care services, as well as other cost pressures. 

 

The CCG has produced a financial plan for 2019/20 in line with the guidance 
produced by NHS England and deliver the statutory financial duty of break-even in 
2019/20 by planning delivery of the £240k surplus control total in year. The CCG is 
developing saving plans to meet this control total and will provide an updated FRP to 
NHS England by 30 June 2019. 
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Glossary 
 
 

 

3VA Council for Voluntary Services 

AAF Alliance Assurance Framework 

ACCA Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 

ADHD Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 

AEO Accountable Emergency Officer 

AfC Agenda for Change 

AFC Armed Forces Community 

AHC Annual Health Check 

ATB Alliance Turnaround Board 

BME Black and Minority Ethnic 

BSI Blood Stream Infections 

BSUH Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

CCA Civil Contingencies Act 2004 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CEC Clinically Effective Commissioning 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CEPN Community Education Provider Networks 

CETR Care, Education and Treatment Review 

CETV Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 

CDI Clostridium Difficile Infection 

COI Conflict of Interest 

CPA Care Programme Approach 

CQC Care Quality Commission 
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CSF Commissioner Sustainability Fund 

CSU Commissioning Support Unit 

CTR Care Treatment Review 

CYP Children and Young People 

DPIAs Data Privacy Impact Assessments 

DQIP Data Quality Improvement Plan 

DToC Delayed Transfers of Care 

EBI Evidence Based Interventions 

E. Coli Escherichia coli 

ED Emergency Departments 

EHIA Equality and Health Inequalities Impact Assessment 

EMU East Sussex Better Together 

EPRR Emergency Planning, Resilience, and Response 

ESBT East Sussex Better Together 

ESCIS East Sussex Community Information Service 

ESHT East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 

EU European Union 

EXPaCC East Sussex Parent Carer Council 

FFT Friends and Family Test 

FReM Government Financial Reporting Manual 

FRP Financial Recovery Plan 

GDPR General Data Protection Regulations 

HEE Health Education England 

HFMA Healthcare Financial Management Association 

HIUS High Intensity User Service 

HOSC Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
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HPG Health Policy Group 

HSCC Health and Social Care Connect 

IAF Improvement and Assessment Framework 

ICDC Integrated Community Diabetes Care 

ICS Integrated Care Systems 

IGSG Information Governance Steering Group 

JMT Joint Management Team 

KSS Kent, Surrey and Sussex 

LD Learning Disability 

LeDeR Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) 

LMC Local Medical Committee 

LMS Local Maternity System 

MARS Mutually agreed resignations 

MRSA Meticillin or Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus 

MDT Multidisciplinary Team 

MLU Midwife Led Unit 

MSK Musculoskeletal Service 

MTW Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 

NHSA NHS Act 2006 as amended 

OpEx/OPEX Operational Executive 

PSED Public Sector Equality Duty 

PPG Patient Participation Groups 

PSC Patient Safety Collaborative 

QIPP Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 

QOF Quality and Outcomes Framework 

RAG Red Amber Green 
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SARs Subject Access Requests 

SCAS South Central Ambulance Service 

SCRs Summary Care Records 

 

SECAmb 
South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust 

SEND Special Education Needs and Disability 

SHMI Summary Hospital Mortality Indicator 

SIP Strategic Investment Plan 

SLAM Service Level Agreement 

SPFT Sussex Partnership Foundation Trust 

SRO Senior Responsible Officer 

SSNAP Stroke Sentinel National Audit Programme 

 

STOMP 
Stopping Overmedication of People with a Learning 
Disability 

SUS Secondary User Service 

STP Sustainability and Transformation Partnership 

TCP Transforming Care Partnership 

UTCs Urgent Treatment Centres 

WTE Whole Time Equivalent 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
150 ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19   |   NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group 



Appendix A: 
Independent Auditor’s Report 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY 
OF NHS COASTAL  WEST SUSSEX CLINICAL COMMISSIONING  GROUP 

 
Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical 

Commissioning Group (the CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2019 under the Local Audit   

and Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Statement of 

Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of 

Changes in Taxpayers' Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 21.   

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 

and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, 

and as interpreted and adapted by the 2018/19 HM Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual   

(the 2018/19 FReM) as contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group 

Accounting Manual 2018/19 and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning 

Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service    

in England (the Accounts Direction). 

 
In our opinion, the financial  statements: 

 
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Coastal West Sussex   

Clinical Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2019 and of its net operating costs for 

the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 

2012 and the Accounts Directions issued  thereunder. 

 
Basis for opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 

(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report 

below. We are independent of the clinical commissioning group in accordance with the 

ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 

including the FRC's Ethical Standard and the Comptroller and Auditor General's  AGN01, 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide   

a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 

(UK) require us to report to you  where: 

 
• the Accountable Officer's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation  

of the financial statements is not appropriate;  or 

• the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified 

material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Clinical Commissioning 

Group's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of  

at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for 

issue. 



Other information 

 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on 
pages 3 to 146, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The 

Accountable Officer is responsible for the other  information. 

 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information  and, except to  

the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon. 

 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 

be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 

financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 

work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other 

information, we are required to report that fact. 

 

We have nothing to report in this  regard. 

 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

 
In our opinion the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited has been properly 

prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the Accounts 

Directions  issued thereunder. 

 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

 
We are required to report to you if: 

• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued 

by the NHS Commissioning Board; or 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an 

officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or 

would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has 

begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion , would be 

unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 

March 2019. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 



Responsibilities of the Accountable  Officer 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibilities set out on 

page 87, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible 

for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing 

the Clinical Commissioning Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the Accountable Officer either intends to cease operations, or have no 

realistic alternative but to do  so. 

As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable Officer is responsible for 

the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's 

resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are 

satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives  are to obtain reasonable  assurance about whether the financial statements  

as a whole are free from material misstatement,  whether due to fraud or error, and to issue  

an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually  or in the aggregate,  they could reasonably  

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these   

financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 

on the Financial Reporting Council's website at 

https:/lwww.frc.org,.Y.k/   ud1torsresponslbilltle .  This description forms part of our auditor's 
report. 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in the use of resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance  with the Code of Audit Practice, having   

regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor  

General in November 2017, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements  to ensure it  

took properly informed decisions  and deployed resources  to achieve planned and  

sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General 

determined  this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit   

Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 

March 2019. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 

assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on    

whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure 

economy,  efficiency and effectiveness  in its use of resources. 



We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be 
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper 

arrangements are in place. 

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 

operating effectively. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Regularity opinion 

We are responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in 

accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor 

General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Code of Audit 

Practice"). 

We are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 

expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the 

purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 

which  govern them. 

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial 

statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 

transactions  conform to the authorities  which govern them. 

Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Coastal West Sussex 

Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Coastal West 

Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 and for no other purpose Our audit work has been undertaken so 

that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are 

required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Helen Thompson (Key Audit  Partner) 

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP (Local  Auditor) 

Southampton 

28 May 2019 



[The following foot note should be added to the audit report when it is published or distributed 

electronically: 

The maintenance and integrity of the NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group web 

site is the responsibility of the members; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve 

consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes 

that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the web site. 

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.] 



Appendix B: 
Financial statements 2018/19 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the Year Ended 31 March 2019 

2018-19 2017-18 

Note £'000 £'000 

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (2,111) (2,961) 

Other operating income 2 (1) -  

Total operating income (2,112) (2,961) 

Staff costs 4 10,734 10,170 

Purchase of goods and services 5 797,648 784,896 

Provision expense 5 337 293 

Other Operating Expenditure 5 190 93  

Total operating expenditure 808,909 795,452 

Net Operating Expenditure 806,797 792,491 

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended March 2019 806,797 792,491  

Surplus / Deficit for Year 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 

Total Admin Programme 

£000 £000 £000 

The CCG's performance for the year ended 31 March 2019 is as 

follows: 

Total Net Operating Cost for the Financial Year 806,797 10,842 795,955 

Adjusted for prior period adjustments in respect of errors - - - 

Revenue Allocation 806,803 10,876 795,927 

(Under)/Overspend Against Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) (6) (34) 28 
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2019 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018 

Note £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets: 

Property, plant and equipment 8 ....2; 13 

Total non-current assets 213 

Current assets: 

Trade and other receivables 9 8,208 12,756 

Cash and cash equivalents 10 79 251 

Total current assets 8,287 13,007 

Total assets 8,500 13,007 

Current llabllltles 

Trade and other payables 11 (55,370) (60,834) 

Provisions 12 (468) (395) 

Total current llabilltles (55,838) (61,229) 

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Uabllltles (47,338) (48,222) 

Total  non-currentliabilities 

Assets less Liabilities (47,338) (48,222) 

Financed by Taxpayers' Equity 

General fund (47,338) (48,222) 

Total taxpayers' equity: (47,338) (48,222) 

The notes on pages 7 to 38 form part of this statement 

The financial statements on pages 3 to 38 were approved (will be) by the Aucflt and Assurance Committee on 

delegated authority  from the Governing  Body on 2s1  
1 

May 2019 and were (will be) signed on  its behalf   by:

Adam Doyle 

Accountable  Officer 
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31 March 2019  

 
General 

fund 

 £'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19  

Balance at 01 April 2018 (48,222) 

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies - 

Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances - 

Impact of applying IFRS 15 to Opening Balances   -  

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018 (48,222) 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 
 

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (806,797) 

Net funding*   807,681  

Balance at 31 March 2019   (47,338)  

* The net funding represents the cash drawdown received from NHS England. 
 

 
General 

fund 

 £'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18  

Balance at 01 April 2017 (37,536) 

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018 (37,536) 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18 
 

Net operating costs for the financial year (792,491) 

Net funding   781,805  

Balance at 31 March 2018   (48,222)  

 
The notes on pages 7 to 38 form part of this statement 
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2019     

  
2018-19 

 
2017-18 

 Note £'000  £'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (806,797)  (792,491) 

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 4,548  419 

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 (5,609)  9,747 

Provisions utilised 12 (265)  (286) 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12   337     293  

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (807,786)  (782,318) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
    

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment  (67)  - 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities  (67)  - 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing 
 

(807,853) 
 

(782,318) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
    

Grant in Aid Funding Received  807,681  781,805 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities  807,681  781,805 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10   (172)     (513)  

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 
 

  251  
 

  764  

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of 
the Financial Year 

  

  79  
  

  251  

 

The notes on pages 7 to 38 form part of this statement 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1 Accounting Policies 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, 
the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 
issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting 
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to 
clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory 
Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is 
judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of 
giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are 
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts. 

1.1 Going Concern 

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis 
. 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. 

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be 
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going 
concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are 
prepared on the going concern basis. 

The following is clear evidence that the Clinical Commissioning Group meets the requirements as set out in the  
DHSC Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health: 

· The Clinical Commissioning Group was established on the 1st April 2013 as a separate statutory Body;
· The Clinical Commissioning Group has an agreed constitution which it is operating to for the governance of its

activities;
· The Clinical Commissioning Group has a notified allocation from NHS England to 2019-20 and an indicative

allocation to 2022-23;
· The Clinical Commissioning Group has a notified control total from NHS England in 2019-20;
· The Clinical Commissioning Group has an agreed plan for 2019-20 and NHS England have agreed to provide

cash funding as required;

1.2 Accounting Convention 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

1.3 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group 

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does 
not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger 
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the 
period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public 
sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs. 
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in 
line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries. 
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1.4 Pooled Budgets 

Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled 
budget agreement. 

If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises: 

· The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
· The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
· The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
· The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above,
the clinical commissioning group recognises:

· The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature
of the assets);

· The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
· The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with West Sussex County Council 
Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG and Crawley CCG in accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the 
arrangement, funds are pooled for; Working Age Adults Mental Health, Older Age Mental Health, Children and 
Young People and Community Equipment (hosted by Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG); Learning Difficulties and 
Telecare (Hosted by West Sussex County Council), and Better Care Funds and notes to the accounts provide details 
of the income and expenditure. 

The pool is hosted by West Sussex County Council. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the 
assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance 
with the pooled budget agreement. 

1.5 Operating Segments 

1.6 

Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management 
information used within the clinical commissioning group. 

Revenue 

The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard, applying the 
Standard retrospectively recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application. 

In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are 
as follows; 

• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding
performance obligations part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,

• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the
practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly
with value of the performance completed to date.

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7 (a) of the Standard that requires the
clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial
application.
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 Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by 
transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to 
that performance obligation. 

 Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that 
income is deferred. 

 
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. 

 
 
 
 

1.7 

The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s 
apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. 
Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and corresponding non-cash 
training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded. 

 

Joint Arrangements 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.8 

Joint ventures are material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other 
parties so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for 
using the equity method. 

Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less 
costs to sell’. 

 
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with one or more other 
parties but which are not performed through a separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records its share of 
the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows. 

 

The pooled budget arrangements that the clinical commissioning group has entered into under Section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 have been treated as joint operations. 

 

Employee Benefits 

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are 
recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet 
taken. 

 The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period. 

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

 Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are 
unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning 
group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting 
period. 

 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. 
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning 
group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

 The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year. 

1.9 Other Expenses 

 
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. 
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1.10 Grants Payable 

 
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific 
period, the clinical commissioning group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other 
grants are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

1.11 Property, Plant & Equipment 

1.11.1 Recognition 

 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

 · It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 

 
· It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical 
commissioning group; 

 
· It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

 
· The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 

 
· The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 

 · Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than 

£250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or, 

 · Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of 
their individual or collective cost. 

 
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, 
the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

1.11.2 Measurement 

 
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring 
or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. 

 Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in 
existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value 
where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date 

 IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use 
are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as 
this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use. 

 
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses impairment for the 
same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or 
service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a 
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear 
consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve 
are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not currently hold any assets that are subject to revaluation. 

1.11.3 Subsequent Expenditure 

 
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is 
capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is 
capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 
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1.11.4 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments 

 
Depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the 
consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the 
period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the 
asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. 
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on 
a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. 

 At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its 
property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is 
indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has 
been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually. 

 A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an 
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, 
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to 
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there 
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve. 

1.12 Leases 

 Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

1.12.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee 

 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair 
value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease 
obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. 

 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 

 
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

 Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed 
as to whether they are operating or finance leases. 

1.13 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 
24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

 
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management. 

1.14 Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows: 
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Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of positive 0.29% (2017-18: 
positive 0.10%) in real terms. All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the 
expected timing of cash flows from the Statement of Financial Position date: 

• A nominal short-term rate of 0.76% (2017-18: negative 2.42% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position date.

• A nominal medium-term rate of 1.14% (2017-18: negative 1.85% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.

• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.

• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.

All 2018-19 percentages are expressed in nominal terms with 2017-18 being the last financial year that HM Treasury 
provided real general provision discount rates. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan 
for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by 
starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a 
restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts 
that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity. 

1.15 Non-clinical Risk Pooling 

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to 
the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership 
contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and 
when they become due. 

1.16 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment 
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A 
contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical 
commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present 
value. 

1.17 Financial Assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument 
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred. 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

· Financial assets at amortised cost;

· Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
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 · Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 

 
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set 
out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

1.17.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost 

 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by 
collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This 
includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. These financial assets are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. 

117.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and through profit and loss. 

 
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and interest. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss 
includes derivatives and financial assets acquired to sell in the short term.are those that are not otherwise measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term 

1.17.3 Impairment 

 
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and 
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1). 

 
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against 
other government departments, their executive agencies, and the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer 
Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The clinical commissioning group therefore does 
not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally DHSC provides 
a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical 
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 

 For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the 
reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is 
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss. 

 
1.18 

 
Financial Liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the 
goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, 
that is, the liability has been paid or has expired. Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic 
cost 

1.19 Value Added Tax 

 
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 
expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or 
input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
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1.20 Losses & Special Payments 

 Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. 

 Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, 
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group 
not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 

1.21 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and 
underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 
1.21.1 

 
Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies 

 
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process 
of applying the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 

Accounting for Accruals 
 

Various methods are used for calculating different types of accruals. They include: 
 

• Trend analysis 
 

• Expert judgement of Finance Managers 
 

• Supplier statements 
 

• Formulaic approach based upon historic cost information 
 

Provisions 
 

A provision is recognised when the CCG has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle an obligation. In addition to widely used 
estimation techniques, judgement is required when determining the probable outflow of economic benefits. Any 
estimates have been made in line with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 

Provision for Impairment of Receivables 
 

Management will use their judgement to decide when to write-off revenue or to provide against the probability of not 
being able to collect a debt. 

 

Classification of Equipment and Property Leases between Finance and Operating 
 

Judgements have been made regarding identification of leases and whether risks and rewards of ownership pass to 
the lessee under lease arrangements. These judgements have been made in accordance with accounting standards 
IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. 
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1.21.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
The following are the assumptions about the future and the other major sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have a 
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. 

 
Current Assets 

Included in the receivables balance are a number of prepayments and accrued income. These may inevitably require 
an element of estimation. Where estimates have been applied, the CCG has adhered to guidance stipulated in the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19. 

Payables 

Trade payables include a number of NHS and non-NHS accruals which will require an element of judgement. Where 
applicable, the CCG adheres to guidance set out in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting 
Manual 2018-19 and relevant financial standards. 

Prescribing Accrual 

Prescribing information is sent to the CCG monthly in arrears by the relevant prescribing authorities. This is always at 
least two months behind the current month. Each month, the CCG has to estimate the year to date expenditure – 
including at the year-end – based on the last set of available data. At the year end, the CCG will be estimating 
prescribing expenditure based on 11 months data, but with information about profiling and extrapolated trends. 

Non-Contract Activity 

Non-Contract Activity is traditionally ‘behind’ in being relayed, by the nature of the activity. The CCG has made an 
estimate of the likely uninvoiced value of the NCAs and accrued for them. 

Clinical Work in Progress 

This relates to clinical work being carried out by the providers which is in progress at year-end. The CCG, through 
discussion with providers, has made a judgement to whether the work in progress should be included in the accounts, 
based upon materiality. The work in progress is calculated based upon cost of treatment, the number of patients being 
treated, and the proportion of days in progress against average length of treatment. 

Contract Monitoring 

Several of the CCG’s contracts with provider Trusts are relatively straightforward as “block” payments are agreed at 
the start of the year. However, contracts with acute providers can be complex and information in relation to performance 
on the contracts may not be fully available when the accounts are being prepared. Negotiations take place with the 
provider Trusts at year-end and payments / accruals for any over-performance are agreed. NHS agreements are 
binding once made reducing the risk of bad debts / spurious accruals. 

The process is facilitated by an NHS Agreement of Balances (AoB) process at year end whereby respective debit/credit 
balances between NHS bodies are reconciled on a national level. 
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1.22 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

 The Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 does not require the following IFRS 
Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM 
adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2020-21, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 
still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 

 ● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, but not yet 
adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted. 

 
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, 
but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted. 

 ● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. 

 

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2018-19, were they 
applied in that year. 
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2 Other Operating Revenue    

  2018- 
19 

 2017- 

18 

  Total  Total 

  £'000  £'000 

 
Income from sale of goods and services (contracts) 

   

 Prescription fees and charges 303  415 

 Other Contract income     1,808       2,546  

 Total Income from sale of goods and services     2,111       2,961  

 
Other operating income 

   

 Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS   1     -  

 Total Other operating income   1     -  

 Total Operating Income     2,112       2,961  
 
 
 
 

 
3. Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts) 

 Prescription fees 
and charges 

Other Contract 
income 

 £'000   £'000 

 Source of Revenue    

 NHS  - 1,702 

 Non NHS    303      106  

 Total    303      1,808  

 
Prescription fees 

and charges 
Other Contract 

income 

 £'000   £'000 

 Timing of Revenue    

 Point in time 303 1,808 

 Over time     -      -  

 Total    303      1,808  

 
3.1 

    

Transaction price to remaining contract performance obligations 

There is no contract revenue expected to be recognised in the future periods related to contract performance 
obligations not yet completed at the reporting date 
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers 

 
4.1 Employee benefits 2018/19 Total 2018-19 

 
Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Employee Benefits    

Salaries and wages 7,226 1,336 8,562 

Social security costs 915 - 915 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 

 
1,123 

 
- 

 
1,123 

Other pension costs 1 - 1 

Apprenticeship Levy 30 - 30 

Termination benefits    103  -  103  

Gross employee benefits expenditure    9,398  1,336  10,734  

 
Employee benefits 2017-18 

 
Total 

  
2017-18 

 
Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Employee Benefits    

Salaries and wages 6,730 1,487 8,217 

Social security costs 856 - 856 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 

 
1,070 

 
- 

 
1,070 

Other pension costs - - - 

Apprenticeship Levy    27  -  27  

Gross employee benefits expenditure    8,683  1,487  10,170  

 
 

4.2 Average number of people employed 
 
 

2018-19  2017-18   

Permanently 
employed 

 
Other 

 
Total 

Permanently 
employed 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 Number Number Number Number Number Number 

Total 206.80 9.11 215.92 191.23 45.39 236.62 
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4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year 

 
2018-19 2018-19 2017-18  2017-18 

 Other agreed 
departures 

 
Total 

Other agreed 
departures 

 

Total 

Number £ Number £ Number £  Number £ 

Less than £10,000 - - - - - -  - - 

£10,001 to £25,000 1 18,283 1 18,283 - -  - - 

£25,001 to £50,000 1 36,889 1 36,889 - -  - - 

£50,001 to 
£100,000    

 

2  
 

148,151  
 

  2  
 

148,151  
 

  -  
 

-  
  

  -  
 

-  

Total    4  203,323    4  203,323  - -  - - 
 

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures 
 

2018-19 2017-18 

 Other agreed 
departures 

Other agreed 
departures 

 Number £ Number £ 

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual 
costs 

 

3 
 

103,119 
 

- 
 

- 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice    4  100,204  -  -  

Total    7  203,323  -  -  

 
 

4.4 Pension costs 

 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the 
benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other 

bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be 
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 

Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the 
clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for 
the accounting period. 

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year. 

 

 
4.5 Accounting valuation 
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting 
period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as 
providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. 

 
The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018,is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated 
to 31 March 2018 with summary global member and accounting data. 

 

In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the 
discount rates prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is 
contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. 
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. 
Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 
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4.6 Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes 
taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and 
employers. 

 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 
31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State 
for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and 
employer representatives as deemed appropriate. 

 

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction 
assumptions are published by HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final 
valuation report can be signed off by the scheme actuary.  This will set the employer contribution rate payable from 
April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the 
Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by 
more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or 
contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders. 

 
For 2018-19, employers’ contributions of £1,123k were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2017-18: £1,070k) were 
payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer 
contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. 
The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2012. 

These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1. 

 
5. Operating expenses    

 2018-19  2017-18 

 Total  Total 

 £'000  £'000 

Purchase of goods and services 
   

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 4,048  2,112 

Services from foundation trusts 490,562  470,559 

Services from other NHS trusts 30,682  28,688 

Services from Other WGA bodies 1  - 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 88,794  94,451 

Prescribing costs 86,765  90,195 

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 74,323  73,083 

Supplies and services – clinical -  22 

Supplies and services – general 15,899  18,883 

Consultancy services 23  71 

Establishment 2,083  2,016 

Transport 1  3 

Premises 2,582  2,537 

Audit fees - external 91  81 

Other non-statutory audit expenditure    

· Other services 10  - 

· Internal audit fees 59  - 

Other professional fees 1,258  23 

Legal fees 7  1,586 

Education, training and conferences   460     586  

Total Purchase of goods and services   797,648     784,896  

Total Depreciation and impairment charges   -     -  
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5. Operating expenses (Cont’d) 
 

Provisions 

Provision expense 

Provisions   337   293  

Total Provision expense   337   293  

 
Other Operating Expenditure 

Chair and Non-Executive Members   190   93  

Total Other Operating Expenditure   190   93  

 
  

Total operating expenditure   798,175   785,282  

 

A change in mapping as directed by NHS England has resulted in expenditure which was included within legal 
fees in 2017-18 being classified as other professional fees in 2018-19. 

 

Internal audit fees are disclosed separately in 2018-19, but are included within legal fees in 2017-18. 

Limitation of Auditors liability of the year ended 31 March 2019 is £2m. 

6. Better Payment Practice Code 

Measure of compliance 

 
 

 
2018-19 

 
 

 
2018-19 

 
 

 
2017-18 

 
 

 
2017-18 

 Number £'000 Number £'000 

Non-NHS Payables     

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 54,983 203,548 54,836 202,483 

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 54,791 201,172 54,513 199,271 

Percentage Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.65% 98.83% 99.41% 98.41% 

NHS Payables 
    

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 3,417 562,040 3,570 533,737 

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 3,381 561,544 3,538 533,270 

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 98.95% 99.91% 99.10% 99.91% 

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 
days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. The Target is to achieve 95% The CCG has achieved all 
measures in 2018/19. 

 

 
6.1 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) 
Act 1998 

    

 

Interest and compensation in relation to claims and debt recovery under this legislation for 2018-19 is Nil (2017-18: 

Nil). 
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7. Operating Leases     

7.1 As lessee 
 

The operating lease relates to the rental of office buildings and void space from NHS Property Services based 
on the CCGs actuals for lease costs. 

7.2 Payments recognised as an Expense 
    

Payments recognised as an expense 2018-19 
 

2017-18 2017-18 

 Buildings Total Buildings Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Minimum lease payments   1,841  1,841    1,715  1,715  

Total   1,841  1,841    1,715  1,715  

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnership's Limited and NHS Property Services Limited fall within the 
definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently this note does not 
include future minimum lease payments for the arrangements. 

 

 
8. Property, plant and equipment    

 
2018-19 

Information 
technology 

  
Total 

 £'000  £'000 

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018 -  - 

Additions purchased   213  
 

  213  

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019   213     213  

Depreciation 01 April 2018 - 
 

- 

Depreciation at 31 March 2019   -     -  

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019   213     213  

Purchased   213  
 

  213  

Total at 31 March 2019   213     213  

Asset financing: 
   

Owned 213 
 

213 

Total at 31 March 2019   213     213  

 
8.1 Economic lives 

   

 Minimum 
Life 

  (years)  

 

   

 

Maximum 
Life (Years)  

Information technology   5     5  
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9. Trade and other 
receivables 

 

Current 
 

Current 
  

 2018-19 2017-18   

 £'000 £'000   

NHS receivables: Revenue 1,063 2,572 
  

NHS prepayments 2,013 1,442   

NHS accrued income 3,234 5,072   
Non-NHS and Other WGA 
receivables: Revenue 

 

580 

 

3,412 
  

Non-NHS and Other WGA 
prepayments 

 

94 

 

39 
  

Non-NHS and Other WGA 
accrued income 

 

3,005 

 

173 
  

Expected credit loss 
allowance-receivables 

 

(1,838) 

 

- 
  

VAT 39 20   
Other receivables and 
accruals 

 

  18  

 

  26  
 

Total Trade & other 
receivables 

 

  8,208  
 

  12,756  
 

Total current and non- 
current 

 

  8,208  
 

  12,756  
 

 
 
 

9.1. Receivables past their 
due date but not impaired 

    

 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18 

 DHSC 
Group 
Bodies 

Non DHSC 
Group 
Bodies 

DHSC 
Group 
Bodies 

Non 
DHSC 
Group 
Bodies 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

By up to three months 154 54 849 2,021 

By three to six months 11 65 414 22 

By more than six months   2    316    653    353  

Total   167    435    1.916    2,396  
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9.2. Impact of Application 
of IFRS 9 on financial 
assets at 1 April 2018 

There have been no changes in classification or carrying amount due to the application of IFRS 9. 

 
 
 
 

 
9.3  Movement in loss allowances due to application of IFRS 9 

 

There have been no movements in loss allowances due to the application of IFRS 9. 
 
 

 
10. Cash and cash equivalents    

 
2018-19 

 
2017-18 

 £'000  £'000 

Balance at 01 April 2018 251  764 

Net change in year   (172)     (513)  

Balance at 31 March 2019   79     251  

Made up of: 
   

Cash with the Government Banking Service 79  251 

Cash in hand -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 79  251 

Total bank overdrafts -  - 

Balance at 31 March 2019   79     251  

Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not included above - 
 

- 
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 Current  Current 

11 Trade and other payables 2018-19  2017-18 

 £'000  £'000 

NHS payables: Revenue 7,998 
 

13,263 

NHS accruals 9,676  3,768 

NHS deferred income 6  - 

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: 
Revenue 

 

3,937 
  

5,769 
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: 
Capital 

 

146 
  

- 

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 31,694  35,715 
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred 
income 

 

700 
  

810 

Social security costs 153  124 

Tax 137  107 

Other payables and accruals   923     1,279  

Total Trade & Other Payables 55,370  60,834 

Total current and non-current   55,370     60,834  

 
 

 
11.1 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial 
liabilities at 1 April 2018 

  

There have been no changes in classification or carrying amount due to the application of IFRS 9. 
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12  Provisions     

Current   Current  
2018-19   2017-18  

£'000   £'000  
Legal claims 118   74 

Continuing care 349   321 

Total 467   395 

Total current and non-current    467      395  

 

Legal 
Claims 

  

C 
 

ontinuing 
Care 

 

Total 

£'000   £'000 £'000 

Balance at 01 April 2018 74 
 

321 395 

Arising during the year 44 
 

293 337 

Utilised during the year -  (265) (265) 

Balance at 31 March 2019 118  349 467 

Expected timing of cash 
flows: 

    

Within one year 118  349 467 

Between one and five years -  - - 

After five years    -     -    -  

Balance at 31 March 2019    118     349    467  

 
The CCG, in association with NHS Horsham and Mid-Sussex CCG and Crawley CCG, has entered into a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for the provision of Continuing Health Care. The agreement is 
accounted for under net accounting rules. 

Each CCG reflects in their own accounts the CHC provisions in respect of the MoU. 

Continuing care provisions relate to retrospective claims identified for periods after 1st April 2013. 

Legal claims are calculated from the number of claims currently lodged with the NHS Resolution and the 
probabilities provided by them. 

 

13. Contingencies 

 
The seven Sussex CCGs are jointly taking legal steps to enforce the terms of a parent company guarantee submitted 

as part of the non-emergency patient services contract which was terminated with effect from 31st March 2017. These 

steps are likely to result in issuing legal proceedings against the parent company (SinoCare Group Ltd) which is 

domiciled in Hong Kong and which provided the guarantee. Appropriate legal advice and support has been obtained 

and the claim is being managed on behalf of the CCGs by a legal firm. 

 

The position remains that due to the inherent uncertainties regarding the claim, it is not possible to give an accurate 

quantification of the precise financial consequences of the legal steps initiated but it is considered that these will not 

have a material impact on the future reported position of the CCG. 
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14 Financial instruments   

14.1 Financial risk management 
 

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. 

Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree 
of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or 
changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The 
clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities 
are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical 
commissioning group in undertaking its activities. 

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within 
the clinical commissioning group’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 
activity is subject to review by the clinical commissioning group’s internal auditors. 

14.1.1 Credit risk 

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group’s revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the clinical 
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are 
in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note. 

14.1.2 Liquidity risk 

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits agreed with NHS 
England, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. 

The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, from NHS England, as the need arises, 
unrelated to its performance against resource limits. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to 
significant liquidity risks. 

 

14.2 Financial assets 

  

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost 

 

 
Total 

2018-19  2018-19 

£'000  £'000 

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 3,042 3,042 

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 4,005 4,005 

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 836 836 

Other financial assets 18 18 

Cash and cash equivalents    79    79  

Total at 31 March 2019    7,980    7,980  
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14.3 Financial liabilities   

Financial Liabilities 
measured at 

amortised cost 

 

 
Total 

2018-19  2018-19 

£'000  £'000 

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 2,107 2,107 

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 27,971 27,971 

Trade and other payables with external bodies 23,376 25,148 

Other financial liabilities 923 923 

Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations    -    -  

Total at 31 March 2019    54,377    56,149  

 

 

15 Operating segments 

 

The clinical commissioning group and consolidated group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of 
healthcare services. 
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16 Pooled Budgets - interests in joint operations and 
arrangements 

The CCG in line with the requirements in IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in other entities, has disclosed the 
details of its joint arrangements. 

 

16.1 Interests in joint operations  
Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY 

 
Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY 

2018-19 2017-18 

 

Name of arrangement Parties to the arrangement Description of principal activities Assets Liabilities Income Expenditure Assets Liabilities Income Expenditure 

 
 
 
 

 
West Sussex Better Care 

Fund 

 
 
 

West Sussex County Council, 

Coastal West Sussex CCG, 

Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG, 

Crawley CCG 

 

The principle of the BCF is a 

transition toward a healthier society 

supported by a more proactive care 

approach. The BCF utilises the 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 
 
 

- - 33,221 33,221 - - 32,601 32,601 

 
 
 

Learning Disabilities 

 
 

 
Mental Health Working Age 

Pool 

 
 

Mental Health Older Adults 

Pool 

 
 

 
CYP - CAMHS & Community 

 
 

 
Community Equipment 

Services 

 
 

 
Telecare 

West Sussex County Council, West 

Sussex CCGs: Coastal West 

Sussex, Horsham & Mid-Sussex, 

Crawley 

West Sussex County Council, West 

Sussex CCGs: Coastal West 

Sussex, Horsham & Mid-Sussex, 

Crawley 

West Sussex County Council, West 

Sussex CCGs: Coastal West 

Sussex, Horsham & Mid-Sussex, 

Crawley 

West Sussex County Council, West 

Sussex CCGs: Coastal West 

Sussex, Horsham & Mid-Sussex, 

Crawley 

West Sussex County Council, West 

Sussex CCGs: Coastal West 

Sussex, Horsham & Mid-Sussex, 

Crawley 

West Sussex County Council, West 

Sussex CCGs: Coastal West 

Sussex, Horsham & Mid-Sussex, 

Crawley 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Provision of Health & Social Care 620 620 40,677 41,040 219 219 39,360 39,579 

 
 
 
 

Provision of Health & Social Care 1,661 1,661 15,813 16,138 128 128 14,841 14,914 

 
 
 
 

Provision of Health & Social Care - - 14,113 13,997 - - 12,190 12,135 

 
 
 
 

Provision of Health & Social Care - - 2,564 2,564 - - 2,508 2,508 

Provision of Health & Social Care - - 105 105 - - 105 105 

section 75 agreement for Health and 

Social Care to use funding jointly. It  

is a mandated NHS England 

venture. 

 

 
Provision of Health & Social Care 

 
167 

 
167 

 
11,493 

 
11,611 

 
570 

 
570 

 
10,509 

 
10,938 

 



29 



NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG- Annual Accounts 2018-19 
 

 
16 Pooled Budgets (cont.)          

 
16.2 Interests in joint operations 

         

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG has entered into two Section 75's with Pooled 
Budget Arrangements in 2018-19. 

Joint Commissioning Unit 
         

NHS Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a pooled budget with West Sussex County 
Council, NHS Crawley Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 
Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the following services: 
Working Age Adults Mental Health, Older Age Mental Health and Children and Young People (hosted by Horsham 
and Mid Sussex CCG); Learning Difficulties and Telecare (Hosted by West Sussex County Council). 

The accounting treatment in 2018-19 for the Joint Commissioning Unit pooled budget; as in previous years, is for 
Net values in all CCG Financial statements. The whole pool activity between the West Sussex County Council and 
the CCGs is proportioned (according to weighted Capitation income) out to West Sussex County Council and the 
CCGs to give net accounting in each of the Contributors accounts. Within the arrangement, there is a risk sharing 
agreement between the CCGs, whereby underspends and overspends are shared according to the CCG 
contributions. 

Section 75 for the Commissioning of Services 
and Pooled Funding of Various Services 

• Mental Health hosted by Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG on behalf of the Section 75 agreement 

Mental Health Working Age Pooled Memorandum Account 
for the period 01/04/18 to 31/03/19 

Funding Cash 
 

Staff 
 

Other 
 

Grant Total 
 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000  

NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG 

 
40,447 

  
230 

     
40,677 

 

Total Funding (a) 40,447  230  0  0 40,677 (a) 

Expenditure Cash 
 

Staff 
 

Other 
 

Grant Total 
 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000  

West Sussex County Council 6,590 
      

6,590 
 

NHS 31,214  157     31,371  

Non-NHS 3,079       3,079  

Total Expenditure (b) 40,883  157  0  0 41,040 (b) 

Net (over) spend (a) - (b) 
       

    (363)  
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Mental Health Older Age Pooled Memorandum Account for 
the period 01/04/18 to 31/03/19 

Funding Cash 
 

Staff 
 

Total 
 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  

NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG 

 
15,700 

  
113 

  
15,813 

 

Total Funding (a) 15,700  113  15,813 (a) 

Expenditure Cash 
 

Staff 
 

Total 
 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  

NHS 12,873 
 

77 
 

12,950 
 

Non-NHS 3,188  -  3,188  

Total Expenditure (b) 16,060  77  16,138 (b) 

Net (over) spend (a) - (b) 
    

  (325)  
 

 
 
 
 

Children and Young People Aligned Budget 
Memorandum Account for the period 01/04/18 
to 31/03/19 

Funding Cash 
 

Staff 
 

Total 
 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  

NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG 

 
13,982 

  
131 

  
14,113 

 

Total Funding (a) 13,982  131  14,113 (a) 

Expenditure Cash 
 

Staff 
 

Total 
 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  

Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health 

 
5,264 

  
- 

  
5,264 

 

Children’s Community 
Services 

 

8,603 
  

- 
  

8,603 
 

Non-NHS -  130  130  

Total Expenditure (b) 13,867  130  13,997 (b) 

Net under spend (a) - (b) 
    

  116  
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Section 75 for the Commissioning of 
Services and Pooled Funding of Various 
Services 

 
• Hosted by West Sussex County Council on behalf of the Section 75 
agreement 

 
Telecare Memorandum 
Account for the period 

 

01/04/18 to 31/03/19     

Funding Cash 
 

Staff Total 
 

 £’000  £’000 £’000  

NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG 

 
105 

  
- 105 

 

Total Funding (a) 105  - 105 (a) 

Expenditure 
    

Mobile Response 
Installation and Monitoring 
equipment 

 

 
105 

 
- 

 

105 

 

Assistive Technology 
Training, IT and 
Administration 

  - 
 

- 

 

Total Expenditure (b) 105  - 105 (b) 

Net under/(over) spend (a) 
- (b) 

   
  0  

 

 

 
Learning Disabilities Memorandum Account for the period 
01/04/18 to 31/03/19 

 
Funding Cash  Staff Total  
 £’000  £’000 £’000 

NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG 

 
11,493 

  
11,493 

Total Funding (a) 11,493  - 11,493 (a) 

Independent Sector 11,611 
 

11,611 
 

Community Support   -  

Supported Living 
Other Commissioned 
Services 

  - 
 

- 

 

WSCC in-house services   -  

 11,611  - 11,611 (b) 

Net (over) spend (a) - (b) 
  

  (118)  
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Community Equipment 
Services for the period 
01/04/18 to 31/03/19 

Funding Cash Staff Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

NHS Coastal West Sussex 
CCG 2,564 - 2,564

Total Funding (a) 2,564 - 2,564 (a) 

Expenditure Cash Staff Total

£000 £000 £000

NHS 2,564 2,564 

Total Expenditure (b) 2,564 - 2,564 (b) 

Net (over) spend (a) - (b) 0 
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Better Care Fund 

In 2018-19 the CCG continued a Pooled arrangement under a section 75 of the NHS Act agreement with West 

Sussex County Council for the Better Care Fund.  West Sussex County Council is the host of this arrangement. 

The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising 

from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement. The accounting 

treatment in 2018-19 for the Better Care Fund pooled budget; as in previous years, is for net values in all CCG 

Financial statements. 

The principle of the BCF is a transition toward a healthier society supported by a more proactive care approach. The 
BCF utilises the section 75 agreement for Health and Social Care to use funding jointly. It is a mandated NHS 
England venture. 

The aim is to streamline care services for the population of West Sussex that are supported by the CCG's (NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG, NHS Crawley CCG and NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG) and West Sussex 
County Council. 

The financial schedules are noted below. 

Committed Maximum Total 2018-19 

Funding Contingency Funding Spend 

Grant Funding £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Disabled Facilities Grant 7,690 7,690 7,690 

iBCF 14,430  14,430 14,430 

22,120  22,120 22,120 

Revenue Funding 

NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 9,652 3,831 13,483 13,483 

NHS Crawley CCG 5,422 2,152 7,574 7,574 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 23,780  9,441 33,221 33,221 

Total Revenue 38,854  15,424 54,278 54,278 

WSCC additional contribution 1,878 1,878 1,869 

Total Better Care Fund Budget 62,852  15,424 78,276 78,267 

Underspend 9 

For 2018-19, the pool underspent by £9k. The total expenditure was £78.3m of 
the £78.3m committed funds. 

The Contingency was agreed by all parties to be set as the risk share; in recognition of the trend in Non Elective 
Admissions. The Contingency was applied to the Urgent Care activity in excess of planned expenditure. 

For 2018-19 the committed funding for BCF has increased to £62.9m, and schemes are in place for the delivery of 
this funding in 2018-19. 
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W Sussex 
CCGs 

 CWS 
Funding 

Share 

 CWS 
Spend 
Share 

BCF Schemes £'000  £'000  £'000 

Disabled Facilities Grant 7,690  -  - 

Maintaining (Protecting) Social Care Services 16,822  10,434  10,434 

Meeting Adult Social Care needs 2,800  -  - 

Reducing pressures on the NHS – hospital discharges 6,230  -  - 

Supporting that the local social care provider network 5,400  -  - 

Proactive Care / Communities of Practice 11,046  6,383  6,383 

Falls 270  165  165 

Programme Support Care Homes 65  -  - 

Programme Support BCF 180  110  110 

Reablement 4,097  2,508  2,508 

Dementia 100  61  61 

Wolfson (Docobo) 0  -  - 

Integrated Hospital Discharge 600  600  600 

Care Act Initiatives 2,056  1,275  1,275 

Carers Advice, Information and Support 3,224  835  835 

Carers Health Team 281  175  175 

Carers Support in Hospitals 229  142  142 

Social Care Reablement 428  266  266 

Telecare 306  190  184 

Community Equipment 663  411  411 

Firefly 36  22  22 

Managing delayed transfers of care initiatives   330     204     204  

Total Funds   62,852     23,780     23,774  

 

Contingency Fund 
 

15,424 
  

9,441 
  

9,441 

Total Better Care Fund Budget   78,276     33,221     33,215  

Underspend    6  

This reflects the information provided by WSCC after the reporting date, the difference relates to a £6k 
underspend on telecare. 

Details of Better Care Fund can be found at https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation- 
fund/bcf-plan/ 
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17. Related party transactions      
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to disclose all transactions in the year with any parties that are related to 
or connected with members of the Governing Body or members of key management staff. The following members of the 
Governing Body have declared an interest in the following organisations; these organisation are therefore regarded as 
related parties, and the details of the Clinical Commissioning Group's transactions with these organisations are as 
follows: 

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows: 

 
Payments 
to Related 

Party 

 
 
Receipts from 
Related Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party 

Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party 

£'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Malcolm Dennett - Interim Lay Member Finance and 
Performance - Brighton and Hove CCG 

 
67 

  
156 

 
13 

 
43 

Allison Cannon - Chief Nurse - CareUnbound Ltd (HERE) 27  - 6 - 

Malcolm Dennett - Interim Lay Member Finance and 
Performance - Independent Lives (Disability) 

 
43 

  
- 

 
28 

 
- 

Dr Tej Bansil - Locality Director - IPC Ltd 4,092 - 910 - 

Dr Edward Ford - Locality Director - IPC Ltd 4,092 - 910 - 

Dr Jo Monjardino - Locality Director - IPC Ltd 4,092 - 910 - 

Dr Sarah Pledger - Locality Director - IPC Ltd 4,092 - 910 - 

Dr Alex Rainbow - Locality Director - IPC Ltd 4,092 - 910 - 

Dr Robert Henderson - Locality Director - South East Coast 
Ambulance NHSFT 

 
25,139 

 
- 

 
74 

 
- 

Dr Alex Rainbow - Locality Director - Sussex Community NHSFT 75,321 64 1,527 - 

Alison Lewis-Smith - Independent Clinical Member - Virgin Care 59  - 59 - 

Dr Tej Bansil - Locality Director - Avisford Medical Group 3,482 - 109 - 

Dr Sarah Pledger - Locality Director - Fitzalan Medical Group 5,177 - 116 - 

Dr Jo Monjardino - Locality Director - Northbourne Medical 
Centre 

 
3,065 

 
- 

 
76 

 
- 

Dr Katie Armstrong - Clinical Accountable Officer - Pulborough 
Medical Group 

 
4,105 

 
- 

 
110 

 
- 

Dr Alex Rainbow - Locality Director - Steyning Health Centre 3,622 - 158 - 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG is a membership organisation made up of the GP Practices within Coastal West 
Sussex. GPs and Practice Managers from these practices are involved in the commissioning activities of the CCG. 
Practices have GP partners and Practice Managers sitting on the Governing Body and on the Clinical Commissioning 
Executive as well as acting as Clinical Leads, Locality Directors and attending locality meetings and other CCG 
commissioning meetings. 

 

The total expenditure of CWS CCG with its constituent GP practice membership is in excess of £5 million. The majority 
of this expenditure will be for Locally Commissioned Services, Local Incentive Schemes and Prescribing. The 
transactions relating to the GP Partners and Practice Managers who sit on the Governing Body and on the Clinical 
Commissioning Executive are included above. 
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The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a 
significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. 
The NHS organisations listed below are those where transactions over the year 2018-19 have exceeded £500k: 

NHS England 

NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 

NHS NEL CSU 

Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust 

Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust 

Surrey & Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 

Non Contracted Activity (NCA) Accruals and unassigned part-completed 
episodes with NHS Trusts 

Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust 

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust 

Royal Surrey County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

St George's University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust 

Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

Queen Victoria Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

NHS Property Services 

NHS South, Central and West CSU 

NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 

In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government 
departments and other central and local government bodies. Transactions with other Government Departments over the 
year 2018-19 which have exceeded £500k: 

West Sussex County Council 

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 

 
 

18. Events after the end of the reporting period 

 
There were no events after the end of the reporting period. 

 
19. Losses and Special Payments 

 
There were no losses or special payments. 
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20. Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows: 

NHS Act 

Section 

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18 

Target Performance Target Performance 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Expenditure not to exceed income* 223H (1) 808,912 808,907 773,624 795,452 

Capital resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 

223I (2) 213 213 - - 

Revenue resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 

223I (3) 806,803 806,797 770,663 792,491 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does 

not exceed the amount specified in Directions 

223J (1) - - - - 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) 

does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 

223J (2) - - - - 

Revenue administration resource use does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 

223J (3) 10,876 10,842 10,797 10,336 

The CCG has achieved all of its set performance duties for 2018-19 

Note: For the purposes of 223H (1); expenditure is defined as the total of Operating Expenses in the financial 

year and income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource 

and all other amounts accounted as received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from 

other sources, and included here on a gross basis). 

*The difference between the two figures is the CCG’s surplus of £6k [2017-18: £21,828k deficit] for the period

as reported on the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on page 3.

The total resource allocation for the year for NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG including both the Running Cost 
Allocation  and  the  Programme  Allocation  is  £806,803k.  The  CCGs  total  net  expenditure  for  the  year is 
£806,797k. Therefore, the CCG in 2018-19 closed with a surplus of £6k. 

21. Effect of application of IFRS 15 on current year closing balances

There is no impact of the application of IFRS 15 on the current year closing balances as shown in; the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of 
Cash Flow, and, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers equity (General Fund). 
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